# INTEGRAL UNIVERSITY, LUCKNOW DIRECTORATE OF DISTANCE EDUCATION

BBA-105 Paper Code: PA/B

### PRINCIPLES OF ACCOUNTING



### **CONTENTS**

UNIT-01	INTRODUCTION TO ACCOUNTING
UNIT-02	ACCOUNTING CONCEPTS AND CONVENTION:
UNIT-03	RECORDING OF TRANSACTIONS VOUCHER
UNIT-04	SYSTEM, ACCOUNTING PROCESS, JOURNAL LEDGER POSTING AND TRIAL BALANCE
UNIT-05	SUBSIDIARY BOOKS OF ACCOUNTS
UNIT-06	PREPARATION OF PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
UNIT-07	AND BALANCE SHEET RECTIFICATION OF ERRORS
UNIT-08	ACCOUNTING OF NEGOTIABLE INSTRUMENTS
UNIT-09	RECONCILIATION OF BANK ACCOUNTS
UNIT-10	SINGLE ENTRY SYSTEM
UNIT-11	INVENTORY VALUATION METHODS
UNIT-12	ACCOUNTING FOR DEPRECIATION
UNIT-13	ACCOUNTING FOR NON-PROFIT MAKING ORGANISATION
	BIBLIOGRAPHY

Notes

# UNIT-1 INTRODUCTION TO ACCOUNTING

### **CONTENTS**

- Introduction
- Development of accounting discipline
- ❖ An accountant s job profile: functions of accounting
- Utility of accounting
- Types of accounting
- ❖ Distinction between financial and management accounting
- Review Questions
- Further Readings

### INTRODUCTION

Accounting is a system meant for measuring business activities, processing of information into reports and making the findings available to decision-makers. The documents, which communicate these findings about the performance of an organisation in monetary terms, are called financial statements.

Usually, accounting is understood as the Language of Business. However, a business may have a lot of aspects which may not be of financial nature. As such, a better way to understand accounting could be to call it The Language of Financial Decisions. The better the understanding of the language, the better is the management of financial aspects of living. Many aspects of our lives are based on accounting, personal financial planning, investments, income-tax, loans, etc. We have different roles to perform in life-the role of a student, of a family head, of a manager, of an investor, etc. The knowledge of accounting is an added advantage in performing different roles. However, we shall limit our scope of discussion to a business organisation and the various financial aspects of such an organisation.

When we focus our thoughts on a business organisation, many questions (is our business profitable, should a new product line be introduced, are the sales sufficient, etc.) strike our mind. To answer questions of such nature, we need to have information generated through the accounting process. The people who take policy decisions and frame business plans use such information.

All business organisations work in an ever-changing dynamic environment. Any new programme of the organisation or of its competitor will affect the business. Accounting serves as an effective tool for measuring the financial pulse rate of the company. It is a

Notes

continuous cycle of measurement of results and reporting of results to decision-makers.

Just like arithmetic is a procedural element of mathematics, book keeping is the procedural element of accounting. Figure 1 shows how an accounting system operates in business and how the flow of information occurs.

### DEVELOPMENT OF ACCOUNTING DISCIPLINE

The history of accounting can be traced back to ancient times. According to some beliefs, the very art of writing originated in order to record accounting information. Though this may seem to be an exaggeration, but there is no denying the fact that accounting has a long history. Accounting records can be traced back to the ancient civilizations of China, Babylonia, Greece and Egypt. Accounting was used to keep records regarding the cost of labour and materials used in building great structures like the Pyramids.

During 1400s, accounting grew further because the needs for information of merchants in the Venis City of Italy increased. The first known description of double entry book keeping was first published in 1994 by Lucas Pacioli. He was a mathematician and a friend of Leonardo Ileda Vinci. The onset of the industrial revolution necessitated the development of more sophisticated accounting system, rather than pricing the goods based on guesses about the costs. The increase in competition and mass production of goods led to the rise of accounting as a formal branch of study.

With the passage of time, the corporate world grew. In the nineteenth century, companies came up in many areas of infrastructure like the railways, steel, communication, etc. It led to a rapid growth in accounting. As the complexities of business grew, ownership and management of business was divorced. As such, managers had to come up with well-defined, structured systems of accounting to report the performance of the business to its owners. Government also has had a lot to do with more accounting developments. The Income Tax brought about the concept of income. Government takes a host of other decisions, relating to education, health, economic planning, for which it needs accurate and reliable information. As such, the government demands stringent accountability in the corporate sector, which forces the accounting process to be as objective and formal as possible.

## AN ACCOUNTANTS JOB PROFILE: FUNCTIONS OF ACCOUNTING

A man who is involved in the process of book keeping and accounting is called an accountant. With the coming up accounting as a specialised field of knowledge, an accountant has a special place in the structure of an organisation, because he performs certain vital functions. The

Introduction to Accounting

Notes

following paragraphs examine the functions of accounting and what role does an accountant play in discharging these functions.

An accountant is a person who does the basic job of maintaining accounts as he is the man who is engaged in book keeping. Since the managers would always want to know the financial performance of the business. An accountant prepares profit and loss account which reports the profits/losses of the business during the accounting period, Balance Sheet, which is a statement of assets and liabilities of the business at a point of time, is also proposed by all accountants. Since both statements are called financial statements, the person who prepares them is called a financial accountant.

Accounting information serves many purposes. A part from revealing the level of performance, it throws light on the causes of weakness and deviation from plans (in any). In this way an accountant becomes an important functionary who plays a vital role in the process of management control, which is a process of diagnosing and solving a problem. Seen from this point of view, an accountant can be referred to as a management accountant.

Tax planning is an important area as far as the fiscal management of a company is concerned. An accountant has a suggestive but very specific job to do in this regard by indicating ways to minimise the tax liability through his knowledge of concessions and incentives available under the existing taxation framework of the country.

An accountant can influence a company even by not being an employee. He can act as a man who verifies and certifies the authenticity of accounts of a company by auditing the accounts. It is a strictly professional job and is done by persons who are formally trained and qualified for the purpose. They have an educational status and a prescribed code of conduct like the Chartered Accountants in India and Certified Public Accountants in USA.

Information management is another area which keeps an accountant busy. He is the one who classifies the financial information into information for internal use (management accounting function); and information or external use (financial accounting function). Irrespective of The size and degree of automation of a business, information management is a key area and many organisations are known to have perished because they failed to recognise this as an important function of an accountant because information system is imperative for effective cost control, to forecast cash needs and to plan for future growth of the organisation.

### UTILITY OF ACCOUNTING

The preceding section has just brought out the importance of information. Effective decisions require accurate, reliable and timely

Notes

information. The need for quantity and quality of information varies with the importance of the decision that has to be taken on the basis of that information. The following paragraphs throw light on the various users of accounting information and what do they do with that information. Individuals may use accounting information to manage their routine affairs like operating and managing their bank accounts, to evaluate the worth whileness of a job in an organization, to invest money, to rent a house, etc.

Business Managers have to set goals, evaluate progress and initiate corrective action in case of unfavourable deviation from the planned course of action. Accounting information is required for many such decisions purchasing equipment, maintenance of inventory, borrowing and lending, etc.

Investors and creditors are keen to evaluate the profitability and solvency of a company before they decide to provide money to the organisation. Therefore, they are interested to obtain financial information about the company in which they are contemplating an investment. Financial statements are the principal source of information to them which are published in annual reports of a company and various financial dailies and periodicals.

Government and Regulatory agencies are charged with the responsibility of guiding the socio-economic system of a country in such a way that it promotes common good. For example, the Securities and Exchange Board of India (SEBI) makes it mandatory for a company to disclose certain financial information to the investing public. The government s task of managing the industrial economy becomes simplify if the accounting information such as profits, costs, taxes, etc. is presented in a uniform manner without any manipulation or window-dressing.

Central and State governments levy various taxes. The taxation authorities, therefore, need to know the income of a company to calculate the amount of tax that the company would have to pay. The information generated by accounting helps them in such computations and also to detect any attempts of tax evasion.

Employees and trade unions use the accounting information to settle various issues related to wages, bonus, profit sharing, etc. Consumers and general public are also interested in knowing the amount of income earned by various business houses. Accounting information helps in finding whether or not a company is over charging or exploiting the customers, whether or not companies are showing improved business performance, whether or not the country is emerging from the economic recession, etc. All such aspects draw heavily on accounting information and are closely related to our standard of living.

### **Types of Accounting**

Introduction to Accounting

Notes

The financial literature classifies accounting into two broad categories, viz, Financial Accounting and Management Accounting. Financial accounting is primarily concerned with the preparation of financial statements whereas management accounting covers areas such s interpretation of financial statements, cost accounting, etc. Both these types of accounting are examined in the following paragraphs.

### Financial accounting

As mentioned earlier, financial accounting deals with the preparation of financial statements for the basic purpose of providing information to various interested groups like creditors, banks, shareholders, financial institutions, government, consumers, etc. Financial statements, i.e. the income statement and the balance sheet indicate the way in which the activities of the business have been conducted during a given period of time. Financial accounting is charged with the primary responsibility of external reporting. The users of information generated by financial accounting, like bankers, financial institutions, regulatory authorities, government, investors, etc. want the accounting information to be consistent so as to facilitate comparison. Therefore, financial accounting is based on certain concepts and conventions which include separate business entity, going concern concept, money measurement concept, cost concept, dual aspect concept, accounting period concept, matching concept, realization concept and conventions of conservatism, disclosure, consistency, etc. All such concepts and conventions would be dealt with detail in subsequent lessons.

The significance of financial accounting lies in the fact that it aids the management in directing and controlling the activities of the firm and to frame relevant managerial policies related to areas like production, sales, financing, etc. However, it suffers from certain drawbacks which are discussed in the following paragraphs.

- The information provided by financial accounting is consolidated in nature. It does not indicate a break-up for different departments, processes, products and jobs. As such, it becomes difficult to evaluate the performance of different sub-units of the organisation.
- Financial accounting does not help in knowing the cost behaviour as it does not distinguish between fixed and variable costs.
- The information provided by financial accounting is historical in nature and as such the predictability of such information is limited.

The management of a company has to solve certain ticklish questions like expansion of business, making or buying a component, adding or deleting a product line, deciding on alternative methods of production, etc. The financial accounting information is of little help in answering these questions.

Notes

The limitations of financial accounting, however, should not lead one to believe that it is of no use. It is the basic foundation on which other branches and tools of accounting analysis are based. It is the source of information, which can be further analysed and interpreted according to the tailor-made requirements of decision-makers.

### **Management accounting**

Management accounting is tailor-made accounting. It facilitates the management by providing accounting information in such a way so that it is conducive for policy making and running the day-to-day operations of the business. Its basic purpose is to communicate the facts according to the specific needs of decision-makers by presenting the information in a systematic and meaningful manner. Management accounting, therefore, specifically helps in planning and control. It helps in setting standards and in case of variances between planned and actual performances, it helps in deciding the corrective action.

An important characteristic of management accounting is that it is forward looking. Its basic focus is one future activity to be performed and not what has already happened in the past. Since management accounting caters to the specific decision needs, it does not rest upon any well-defined and set principles. The reports generated by a management accountant can be of any duration short or long, depending on purpose. Further, the reports can be prepared for the organisation as a whole as well as its segments.

### **Cost accounting**

One important variant of management accounting is the cost analysis. Cost accounting makes elaborate cost records regarding various products, operations and functions. It is the process of determining and accumulating the cost of a particular product or activity. Any product, function, job or process for which costs are determined and accumulated, are called cost centres. The basic purpose of cost accounting is to provide a detailed break- up of cost of different departments, processes, jobs, products, sales territories, etc., so that effective cost control can be exercised.

Cost accounting also helps in making revenue decisions such as those related to pricing, product-mix, profit-volume decisions, expansion of business, replacement decisions, etc. The objectives of cost accounting, therefore, can be summarized in the form of three important statements, viz, to determine costs, to facilitate planning and control of business activities and to supply information for short- and long-term decision. Cost accounting has certain distinct advantages over financial accounting. Some of them have been discussed succeedingly. The cost accounting system provides data about profitable and non-profitable products and activities, thus prompting corrective measures. It is easier

Introduction to Accounting

Notes

to segregate and analyse individual cost items and to minimize losses and wastages arising from the manufacturing process. Production methods can be varied so as to minimize costs and increase profits. Cost accounting helps in making realistic pricing decisions in times of low demand, competitive conditions, technology changes, etc.

Various alternative courses of action can be properly evaluated with the help of data generated by cost accounting. It would not be an exaggeration if it is said that a cost accounting system ensures maximum utilization of physical and human resources. It checks frauds and manipulations and directs the employer and employees towards achieving the organisational goal.

# **Distinction Between Financial and Management Accounting**

Basis of distinction		Financial accounting	Management accounting
1.	Primary user	Outside parties and manager of the business	Business managers
2.	Decision criterion	Accounts are based on generally accepted accounting principles	Comparison of costs and benefits of proposed action
3.	B eha vio ural im plications	Concern about adequacy of disclosure. Behavioural implications are secondary behaviour	Concern about how reports will affect employee
4. 5.	Time focus Reports	Past orientation Summary reports regarding the whole entity	Future orientation  Detailed reports on the parts of the entity

Financial and management accounting can be distinguished on a variety of basis like, users of information, criterion for decision making, behavioural implications, time frame, type of reports.

Accounting can be understood as the language of financial decisions. It is an ongoing process of performance measurement and reporting the results to decision-makers. The discipline of accounting can be traced back to very early times of human civilization. With the advancement of industry, modern day accounting has become formalized and structured. A person who maintains accounts is known as the accountant. He is engaged in multifarious activities like preparing financial statements, facilitating the control process, tax planning, auditing and information management. The information generated by accountant is used by various groups like, individuals, managers, investors, creditors, government, regulatory agencies, taxation authorities,

government, regulatory agencies, taxation authorities, employees, trade unions, consumers and general public. Depending upon purpose and method, accounting can be of broadly two types' financial

Notes

accounting and management accounting. Financial accounting is primarily concerned with the preparation of financial statements mainly for outsiders. It is based on certain well-defined concepts and conventions and helps in framing broad financial policies. However, it suffers from certain limitations which are taken care of by the other branch of accounting, viz.; management accounting. Management accounting is meant to help in decision-making by analyzing and interpreting the information generated by financial accounting. As such, management accounting is futuristic and decision-oriented. The methods of management accounting are not very exact as they have to be varied according to the requirements of the decision. Cost accounting is an important aspect of management accounting. It emphasizes on cost determination, aiding the planning and control process and supplying information for short- and long-run decisions. The basic differences between financial and management accounting arises due to differences in users of information, differences in time frame and type of reports generated. The criterion for decision making and the behavioural implications of both types of accounting are also different.

**Accrual:** Recognition of revenues and costs as they are earned or incurred. It includes recognition of transaction relating to assets and liabilities as they occur irrespective of the actual receipts or payment.

**Cost:** The amount of expenditure incurred on or attributable to a specified article, product or activity.

**Expenses:** A cot relating to the operations of an accounting period.

**Revenue:** Total amount received from sales of goods/services.

**Income:** Excess of revenue over expenses.

**Loss:** Excess of expenses over revenue.

Capital: Generally refers to the amount invested in an enterprise by its owner.

**Fund:** An account usually of the nature of a reserve or provision which is represented by specifically Ear Market Assets.

**Gain:** A monetary benefit, profit or advantage resulting from a transaction or group of transactions.

**Investment:** Expenditure on assets held to earn interest, income, profit or other benefits.

**Liability:** The financial obligation of an enterprise other than owners funds.

**Net Profit**: The excess of revenue over expenses during a particular accounting period.

### **REVIEW QUESTIONS**

Introduction to Accounting

Notes

- 1. Define accounting. What purpose is served by accounting?
- 2. Discuss the role and activities of an accountant.
- 3. What are the various interested parties which use accounting information? How is such information used?
- 4. Explain the different types of accounting.
- 5. Differentiate Financial Accounting and Management Accounting in detail.

### **FURTHET READINGS**

- 1. Principles of Accounting-Belverd E. Needles, Marian Powers, Susan V. Crosson 2013 Preview More editions
- 2. Principles of Accounting-P. Hosein
- 3. Principles of Accounting-Gaylord N. Smith
- 4. Principles of Accounting-Donatila Agtarap-San Juan
- 5. Principles of Accounting-Harry Anson Finney

Notes

# UNIT-2 ACCOUNTING CONCEPTS AND CONVENTION

### **CONTENTS**

- **❖** Introduction
- Meaning and Features of accounting Principles
- \* Kinds of Accounting Principles
- **❖** Accounting Concepts
- **❖** Accounting Conventions
- **Summary**
- Review Questions
- Further Readings

### INTRODUCTION

Accounting is often called the language of business because the purpose of accounting is to communicate or report the results of business operations and its various aspects to various users of accounting information. In fact, today, accounting statements or reports are needed by various groups such as shareholders, creditors, potential investors, columnist of financial newspapers, proprietors and others. In view of the utility of accounting reports to various interested parties, it becomes imperative to make this language capable of commonly understood by all. Accounting could become an intelligible and commonly understood language if it is based on generally accepted accounting principles. Hence, you must be familiar with the accounting principles behind financial statements to understand and use them properly.

## MEANING AND FEATURES OF ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

For searching the goals of the accounting profession and for expanding knowledge in this field, a logical and useful set of principles and procedures are to be developed. We know that while driving our vehicles, follow a standard traffic rules. Without adhering traffic rules, there would be much chaos on the road. Similarly, some principles apply to accounting. Thus, the accounting profession cannot reach its goals in the absence of set rules to guide the efforts of accountants and auditors. The rules and principles of accounting are commonly referred to as the conceptual framework of accounting. Accounting principles have been defined by the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants as The body of doctrines commonly associated with the theory and procedure of accounting serving as an explanation of current practices and as a guide for the selection of conventions or procedures where alternatives exists. Rules governing the formation of accounting axioms and the principles

derived from them have arisen from common experience, historical precedent statements by individuals and professional bodies and regulations of Governmental agencies.

Accounting Concepts

And Convention

Notes

According to Hendriksen (1997), Accounting theory may be defined as logical reasoning in the form of a set of broad principles that

- (i) provide a general frame of reference by which accounting practice can be evaluated, and
- (ii) (ii)guide the development of new practices

And procedures. Theory may also be used to explain existing practices to obtain a better understanding of them. But the most important goal of accounting theory should be to provide a coherent set of logical principles that form the general frame of reference for the evaluation and development of sound accounting practices.

The American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) has advocated the use of the word Principle in the sense in which it means rule of action. It discusses the generally accepted accounting principles as follows:

Financial statements are the product of a process in which a large volume of data about aspects of the economic activities of an enterprise are accumulated, analysed and reported. This process should be carried out in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. These principles represent the most current consensus about how accounting information should be recorded, what information should be disclosed, how it should be disclosed, and which financial statement should be prepared. Thus, generally accepted principles and standards provide a common financial language to enable informed users to read and interpret financial statements.

Generally accepted accounting principles encompass the conventions, rules and procedures necessary to define accepted accounting practice at a particular time..... generally accepted accounting principles include not only broad guidelines of general application, but also detailed practices and procedures (Source: AICPA Statement of the Accounting Principles Board No. 4, Basic Concepts and Accounting Principles underlying Financial Statements of Business Enterprises, October, 1970, pp 54-55) According to Dictionary of Accounting prepared by Prof. P.N. Abroal, Accounting standards refer to accounting rules and procedures which are relating to measurement, valuation and disclosure prepared by such bodies as the Accounting Standards Committee (ASC) of a particular country. Thus, we may define Accounting Principles as those rules of action or conduct which are adopted by the accountants universally while recording accounting transactions. Accounting principles are man-made. They are accepted because they are believed to be useful. The general acceptance of an accounting principle usually

Notes

depends on how well it meets the following three basic norms: (a) Usefulness; (b) Objectiveness; and (c) Feasibility.

A principle is useful to the extent that it results in meaningful or relevant information to those who need to know about a certain business. In other words, an accounting rule, which does not increase the utility of the records to its readers, is not accepted as an accounting principle. A principle is objective to the extent that the information is not influenced by the personal bias or Judgement of those who furnished it. Accounting principle is said to be objective when it is solidly supported by facts. Objectivity means reliability which also means that the accuracy of the information reported can be verified. Accounting principles should be such as are practicable. A principle is feasible when it can be implemented without undue difficulty or cost. Although these three features are generally found in accounting principles, an optimum balance of three is struck in some cases for adopting a particular rule as an accounting principle. For example, the principle of making the provision for doubtful debts is found on feasibility and usefulness though it is less objective. This is because of the fact that such provisions are not supported by any outside evidence.

### KINDS OF ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

In dealing with the framework of accounting theory, we are confronted with a serious problem arising from differences in terminology. A number of words and terms have been used by different authors to express and explain the same idea or notion. The various terms used for describing the basic ideas are: concepts, postulates, propositions, assumptions, underlying principles, fundamentals, doctrines, rules, axioms, etc. Each of these terms is capable of precise definition. But, the accounting profession has served to give them lose and overlapping meanings. One author may describe the same idea or notion as a concept and another as a convention and still another as postulate. For example, the separate business entity idea has been described by one author as a concept and by another as a convention. It is better for us not to waste our time to discuss the precise meaning of generic terms as the wide diversity in these terms can only serve to confuse the learner.

We do feel, however, that some of these terms/ideas have a better claim to be called concepts while the rest should be called conventions. The term Concept is used to connote the accounting postulates, i.e., necessary assumptions and ideas which are fundamental to accounting practice. In other words, fundamental accounting concepts are broad general assumptions which underline the periodic financial statements of business enterprises. The reason why some of these terms should be called concepts is that they are basic assumptions and have a direct

bearing on the quality of financial accounting information. The term convention is used to signify customs or tradition as a guide to the preparation of accounting statements. The following are the important accounting concepts and conventions:

Accounting Concepts

And Convention

Notes

The more important accounting concepts are briefly described as follows:

### **Separate Business Entity Concept**

In accounting we make a distinction between business and the owner. All the books of accounts records day to day financial transactions from the view point of the business rather than from that of the owner. The proprietor is considered as a creditor to the extent of the capital brought in business by him. For instance, when a person invests Rs. 10 lakh into a business, it will be treated that the business has borrowed that much money from the owner and it will be shown as a liability in the books of accounts of business. Similarly, if the owner of a shop were to take cash from the cash box for meeting certain personal expenditure, the accounts would show that cash had been reduced even though it does not make any difference to the owner himself. Thus, in recording a transaction the important question is how does it affects the business? For example, if the owner puts cash into the business, he has a claim against the business for capital brought in. In so-far as a limited company is concerned, this distinction can be easily maintained because a company has a legal entity like a natural person it can engage itself in economic activities of buying, selling, producing, lending, borrowing and consuming of goods and services. However, it is difficult to show this distinction in the case of sole proprietorship and partnership. Nevertheless, accounting still maintains separation of business and owner. It may be noted that it is only for accounting purpose that partnerships and sole proprietorship are treated as separate from the owner (s), though law does not make such distinction. In fact, the business entity concept is applied to make it possible for the owners to assess the performance of their business and performance of those whose manage the enterprise. The managers are responsible for the proper use of funds supplied by owners, banks and others.

### **Money Measurement Concept**

In accounting, only those business transactions are recorded which can be expressed in terms of money. In other words, a fact or transaction or happening which cannot be expressed in terms of money is not recorded in the accounting books. As money is accepted not only as a medium of exchange but also as a store of value, it has a very important advantage since a number of assets and equities, which are otherwise different, can be measured and expressed in terms of a common denominator.

Notes

We must realise that this concept imposes two severe limitations. Firstly, there are several facts which though very important to the business, cannot be recorded in the books of accounts because they cannot be expressed in money terms. For example, general health condition of the Managing Director of the company, working conditions in which a worker has to work, sales policy pursued by the enterprise, quality of product introduced by the enterprise, though exert a great influence on the productivity and profitability of the enterprise, are not recorded in the books. Similarly, the fact that a strike is about to begin because employees are dissatisfied with the poor working conditions in the factory will not be recorded even though this event is of great concern to the business. You will agree that all these have a bearing on the future profitability of the company.

Secondly, use of money implies that we assume stable or constant value of rupee. Taking this assumption means that the changes in the money value in future dates are conveniently ignored. For example, a piece of land purchased in 1990 for Rs. 2 lakh and another bought for the same amount in 1998 are recorded at the same price, although the first purchased in 1990 may be worth two times higher than the value recorded in the books because of rise in land prices. In fact, most accountants know fully well that purchasing power of rupee does change but very few recognise this fact in accounting books and make allowance for changing price level.

### **Dual Aspect Concept**

Financial accounting records all the transactions and events involving financial element. Each of such transactions requires two aspects to be recorded. The recognition of these two aspects of every transaction is known as a dual aspect analysis. According to this concept every business transactions has dual effect. For example, if a firm sells goods of Rs. 5,000 this transaction involves two aspects. One aspect is the delivery of goods and the other aspect is immediate receipt of cash (in the case of cash sales). In fact, the term double entry book keeping has come into vogue and in this system the total amount debited always equals the total amount credited. It follows from dual aspect concept that at any point of time owners equity and liabilities for any accounting entity will be equal to assets owned by that entity. This idea is fundamental to accounting and could be expressed as the following equalities:

Assets = Liabilities + Owners Equity (1)

Owners Equity = Assets- Liabilities (2)

The above relationship is known as the Accounting Equation. The term Owners Equity denotes the resources supplied by the owners of the entity while the term liabilities denotes the claim of outside parties such as creditors, debenture-holders, bank against the assets of the business.

Assets are the resources owned by a business. The total of assets will be equal to total of liabilities plus owners capital because all assets of the business are claimed by either owners or outsiders.

Accounting Concepts

And Convention

Notes

### **Going Concern Concept**

Accounting assumes that the business entity will continue to operate for a long time in the future unless there is good evidence to the contrary. The enterprise is viewed as a going concern, that is, as continuing in operations, at least in the foreseeable future. In other words, there is neither the intention nor the necessity to liquidate the particular business venture in the predictable future. Because of this assumption, the accountant while valuing the assets does not take into account forced sale value of them. In fact, the assumption that the business is not expected to be liquidated in the foreseeable future establishes the basis for many of the valuations and allocations in accounting. For example, the accountant charges depreciation on fixed assets. It is this assumption which underlies the decision of investors to commit capital to enterprise. Only on the basis of this assumption accounting process can remain stable and achieve the objective of correctly reporting and recording on the capital invested, the efficiency of management, and the position of the enterprise as a going concern.

However, if the accountant has good reasons to believe that the business, or some part of it is going to be liquidated or that it will cease to operate (say within six-month or a year), then the resources could be reported at their current values. If this concept is not followed, International Accounting Standard requires the disclosure of the fact in the financial statements together with reasons.

### **Accounting Period Concept**

This concept requires that the life of the business should be divided into appropriate segments for studying the financial results shown by the enterprise after each segment. Although the results of operations of a specific enterprise can be known precisely only after the business has ceased to operate, its assets have been sold off and liabilities paid off, the knowledge of the results periodically is also necessary. Those who are interested in the operating results of business obviously cannot wait till the end. The requirements of these parties force the businessman to stop and see back how things are going on. Thus, the accountant must report for the changes in the wealth of a firm for short time periods. A year is the most common interval on account of prevailing practice, tradition and government requirements. Some firms adopt financial year of the government, some other calendar year. Although a twelve month period is adopted for external reporting, a shorter span of interval, say one month or three month is applied for internal reporting purposes.

This concept poses difficulty for the process of allocation of long term costs. All the revenues and all the cost relating to the year in operation

Notes

have to be taken into account while matching the earnings and the cost of those earnings for the any accounting period. This holds good irrespective of whether or not they have been received in cash or paid in cash. Despite the difficulties which stem from this concept, short term reports are of vital importance to owners, management, creditors and other interested parties. Hence, the accountants have no option but to resolve such difficulties.

### **Cost Concept**

The term assets denote the resources land building, machinery etc. owned by a business. The money values that are assigned to assets are derived from the cost concept. According to this concept an asset is ordinarily entered on the accounting records at the price paid to acquire it. For example, if a business buys a plant for Rs. 5 lakh the asset would be recorded in the books at Rs. 5 lakh, even if its market value at that time happens to be Rs. 6 lakh. Thus, assets are recorded at their original purchase price and this cost is the basis for all subsequent accounting for the business. The assets shown in the financial statements do not necessarily indicate their present market values. The term book value is used for amount shown in the accounting records.

The cost concept does not mean that all assets remain on the accounting records at their original cost for all times to come. The asset may systematically be reduced in its value by charging depreciation, which will be discussed in detail in a subsequent lesson. Depreciation has the effect of reducing profit of each period. The prime purpose of depreciation is to allocate the cost of an asset over its useful life and not to adjust its cost. However, a balance sheet based on this concept can be very misleading as it shows assets at cost even when there are wide difference between their costs and market values. Despite this limitation you will find that the cost concept meets all the three basic norms of relevance, objectivity and feasibility.

### The Matching concept

This concept is based on the accounting period concept. In reality we match revenues and expenses during the accounting periods. Matching is the entire process of periodic earnings measurement, often described as a process of matching expenses with revenues. In other words, income made by the enterprise during a period can be measured only when the revenue earned during a period is compared with the expenditure incurred for earning that revenue. Broadly speaking revenue is the total amount realised from the sale of goods or provision of services together with earnings from interest, dividend, and other items of income. Expenses are cost incurred in connection with the earnings of revenues. Costs incurred do not become expenses until the goods or services in question are exchanged. Cost is not synonymous with expense since

expense is sacrifice made, resource consumed in relation to revenues earned during an accounting period. Only costs that have expired during an accounting period are considered as expenses. For example, if a commission is paid in January, 2002, for services enjoyed in November, 2001, that commission should be taken as the cost for services rendered in November 2001. On account of this concept, adjustments are made for all prepaid expenses, outstanding expenses, accrued income, etc, while preparing periodic reports.

**Accrual Concept** 

It is generally accepted in accounting that the basis of reporting income is accrual. Accrual concept makes a distinction between the receipt of cash and the right to receive it, and the payment of cash and the legal obligation to pay it. This concept provides a guideline to the accountant as to how he should treat the cash receipts and the right related thereto. Accrual principle tries to evaluate every transaction in terms of its impact on the owner s equity. The essence of the accrual concept is that net income arises from events that change the owners equity in a specified period and that these are not necessarily the same as change in the cash position of the business. Thus it helps in proper measurement of income.

### **Realisation Concept**

Realisation is technically understood as the process of converting noncash resources and rights into money. As accounting principle, it is used to identify precisely the amount of revenue to be recognised and the amount of expense to be matched to such revenue for the purpose of income measurement. According to realisation concept revenue is recognised when sale is made. Sale is considered to be made at the point when the property in goods passes to the buyer and he becomes legally liable to pay. This implies that revenue is generally realised when goods are delivered or services are rendered. The rationale is that delivery validates a claim against the customer. However, in case of long run construction contracts revenue is often recognised on the basis of a proportionate or partial completion method. Similarly, in case of long run instalment sales contracts, revenue is regarded as realised only in proportion to the actual cash collection. In fact, both these cases are the exceptions to the notion that an exchange is needed to justify the realisation of revenue.

### **ACCOUNTING CONVENTIONS**

### **Convention of Materiality**

Materiality concept states that items of small significance need not be given strict theoretically correct treatment. In fact, there are many events in business which are insignificant in nature. The cost of recording and showing in financial statement such events may not be well justified by the utility derived from that information. For example, an ordinary

Accounting Concepts

And Convention

Notes

Notes

calculator costing Rs. 100 may last for ten years. However, the effort involved in allocating its cost over the ten year period is not worth the benefit that can be derived from this operation. The cost incurred on calculator may be treated as the expense of the period in which it is purchased. Similarly, when a statement of outstanding debtors is prepared for sending to top management, figures may be rounded to the nearest ten or hundred.

This convention will unnecessarily overburden an accountant with more details in case he is unable to find an objective distinction between material and immaterial events. It should be noted that an item material for one party may be immaterial for another. Actually, there are no hard and fast rules to draw the line between material and immaterial events and hence, It is a matter of judgement and common sense. Despite this limitation, It is necessary to disclose all material information to make the financial statements clear and understandable. This is required as per IAS-1 and also reiterated in IAS-5. As per IAS-1, materiality should govern the selection and application of accounting policies.

### **Convention of Conservatism**

This concept requires that the accountants must follow the policy of playing safe while recording business transactions and events. That is why, the accountant follow the rule anticipate no profit but provide for all possible losses, while recording the business events. This rule means that an accountant should record lowest possible value for assets and revenues, and the highest possible value for liabilities and expenses. According to this concept, revenues or gains should be recognised only when they are realised in the form of cash or assets (i.e. debts) the ultimate cash realisation of which can be assessed with reasonable certainty. Further, provision must be made for all known liabilities, expenses and losses, Probable losses regarding all contingencies should also be provided for. Valuing the stock in trade at market price or cost price whichever is less, making the provision for doubtful debts on debtors in anticipation of actual bad debts, adopting written down value method of depreciation as against straight line method, not providing for discount on creditors but providing for discount on debtors, are some of the examples of the application of the convention of conservatism.

The principle of conservatism may also invite criticism if not applied cautiously. For example, when the accountant create secret reserves, by creating excess provision for bad and doubtful debts, depreciation, etc. The financial statements do not present a true and fair view of state of affairs. American Institute of Certified Public Accountant have also indicated that this concept need to be applied with much more caution and care as over conservatism may result in misrepresentation.

### **Convention of Consistency**

Accounting Concepts

And Convention

Notes

The convention of consistency requires that once a firm decided on certain accounting policies and methods and has used these for some time, it should continue to follow the same methods or procedures for all subsequent similar events and transactions unless it has a sound reason to do otherwise. In other worlds, accounting practices should remain unchanged from one period to another. For example, if depreciation is charged on fixed assets according to straight line method, this method should be followed year after year. Analogously, if stock is valued at cost or market price whichever is less, this principle should be applied in However, this principle does not forbid each subsequent year. introduction of improved accounting techniques. If for valid reasons the company makes any departure from the method so far in use, then the effect of the change must be clearly stated in the financial statements in the year of change. The application of the principle of consistency is necessary for the purpose of comparison. One could draw valid conclusions from the comparison of data drawn from financial statements of one year with that of the other year. But the inconsistency in the application of accounting methods might significantly affect the reported data.

### **Accounting standards**

The accounting concepts and conventions discussed in the foregoing pages are the core elements in the theory of accounting. These principles, however, permit a variety of alternative practices to co-exist. On account of this the financial results of different companies can not be compared and evaluated unless full information is available about the accounting methods which have been used. The lack of uniformity among accounting practices have made it difficult to compare the financial results of different companies. It means that there should not be too much discretion to companies and their accountants to present financial information the way they like. In other words, the information contained in financial statements should conform to carefully considered standards. Obviously, accounting standards are needed to:

- a) Provide a basic framework for preparing financial statements to be uniformly followed by all business enterprises,
- b) Make the financial statements of one firm comparable with the other firm and the financial statements of one period with the financial statements of another period of the same firm,
- c) Make the financial statements credible and reliable, and
- d) Create general sense of confidence among the outside users of financial statements.

In this context unless there are reasonably appropriate standards, neither the purpose of the individual investor nor that of the nation as a whole

Notes

can be served. In order to harmonise accounting policies and to evolve standards the need in the USA was felt with the establishment of Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) in 1933. In 1957, a research oriented organisation called Accounting Principles Boards (APB) was formed to spell out the fundamental accounting principles. After this the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) was formed in 1973, in USA. At the international level, the need for standardisation was felt and therefore, an International Congress of accountants was organised in Sydney, Australia in 1972 to ensure the desired level of uniformity in accounting practices. Keeping this in view, International Accounting Standards Committee (IASC) was formed and was entrusted with the responsibility of formulating international standards.

In order to harmonise varying accounting policies and practices, the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (ICAI) formed the Accounting Standards Board (ASB) in April, 1977. ASB includes representatives from industry and government. The main function of the ASB is to formulate accounting standards. This Board of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India has so far formulated around 27 Accounting Standards, the list of these accounting standards is furnished. Regarding the position of accounting standards in India, it has been stated that the standards have been developed without first establishing the essential theoretical framework. As a result, accounting standards lack direction and coherence. This type of limitation also existed in UK and USA but it was remedied long back. Hence, there is an emergent need to make an attempt to develop a conceptual framework and also revise suitably the Indian Accounting Standards to reduce the number of alternative treatments.

Accounting principles may be defined as rules of action or conduct which are adopted by the accountants universally while recording accounting transactions. Accounting principles are accepted because they are believed to be useful. The general acceptance of an accounting principle usually depends on how well it meets the three basic norms i.e., usefulness, objectiveness and feasibility. The accounting principles broadly classified into two categories namely accounting concepts and accounting conventions. The term concept is used to can not the accounting postulates, i.e., necessary assumptions and ideas which are fundamental to accounting practice. Accounting concepts are separate business entity concepts, money measurement concept, dual aspect concept, accounting period concept, cost concept, matching concept, accrual concept, realisation concept. The term convention is used to signify customs or tradition as a guide to the preparation of accounting statement, main conventions of accounting are- (i) convention of materiality, convention of conservatism. Convention of consistency.

#### **KEYWORDS**

**Creditor**: Amount owned by an enterprise on account of goods purchased or services received.

**Debtor:** Persons from whom amounts are due for goods sold or services rendered.

**Reserve:** The portion of earnings of an enterprise appropriated by the management for a general or specific purpose.

**Provision:** Amount retained by way of providing for any known liability the amount of which cannot be determined with substantial accuracy.

Net Realisable Value: Actual selling price of an asset in the ordinary course of business less cost incurred in order to make the sale.

**Inventory:** Tangible property held for sale in the ordinary course of business or in the process of production for such sale.

Interim Report: The information provided with reference to a date before the close of the accounting period to owners or other interested persons concerning its operations/financial position.

**Depreciation:** Decrease in the value of fixed assets.

Balance Sheet: A statement of the financial position of an enterprise as at a given date.

Capital: Generally refers to the amount invested in an enterprise by its owners.

### **REVIEW QUESTIONS**

- Q1. State whether the following statements are true or false:
- a) The materiality concept refers to the state of ignoring small items and values from accounts.
- b) Accounting principles are rules of action or conduct which are adopted by the accountants universally while recording accounting transactions.
- c) The separate entity concept of accounting is not applicable to sole trading concerns and partnership concerns.
- d) The dual aspect concept result in the accounting equation: Capital+Liabilities = Assets.
- e) The conservatism concept leads to the exclusion of all unrealised profits.
- f) The balance sheet based on Cost concept is of no use to a potential investor.
- g) Accounting standards are statements prescribed by government regulatory bodies.
- h) Accounting statements are statements prescribed by professional accounting bodies.
- i) Accounting concepts are broad assumptions.

Notes

- Q2. Choose the correct answer from the alternations given:
- (I)Accounting standards are statements prescribed by

Notes

- a) Law
- b) Bodies of shareholders
- c) Professional accounting bodies
- (II) Accounting Principles are generally based on
- a) Practicability
- b) Subjectivity
- c) Convenience in recording
- (III)The Policy of anticipate no profit and provide for all possible losses arises due to convention of
- a) Consistency
- b) Disclosure
- c) Conservatism
- (IV) Which is the accounting concept that requires the practice of crediting closing stock to the trading account
- a) Going concern
- b) Cost
- c) Matching
- (V) The convention of conservatism, when applied to the balance sheet, results in
- a) Understatement of assets liabilities
- b) Understatement of
- c) Understatement of capital.
- Q3. Examine the role of accounting concepts in the preparation of financial statements. Do you find any of the accounting concepts conflicting with each other? Give examples.
- Q4. Discuss briefly the basic concepts and conventions of accounting?
- 5. Write short notes on
- a) Going concern concept
- b) Dual aspect concept
- c) Business entity concept
- d) Convention of materiality
- e) Convention of conservatism.

### **FURTHER READINGS**

- 1. Principles of Accounting-Belverd E. Needles, Marian Powers, Susan V. Crosson 2013 Preview More editions
- 2. Principles of Accounting-P. Hosein
- 3. Principles of Accounting-Gaylord N. Smith
- 4. Principles of Accounting- Donatila Agtarap-San Juan
- 5. Principles of Accounting-Harry Anson Finney

# UNIT-3 RECORDING OF TRANSACTIONS VOUCHER SYSTEM, ACCOUNTING PROCESS, JOURNAL

RECORDING OF TRANSACTIONS VOUCHER SYSTEM, ACCOUNTING PROCESS, JOURNAL

Notes

### **CONTENTS**

- **❖** Introduction
- Voucher
- **❖** Journal
- Classification of Accounts
- Goods Account
- Important considerations for recording the business transactions
- \* Review Questions
- Further Readings

### INTRODUCTION

A business enterprise generally prepares the following two basic financial statements:

Profit and Loss Account to ascertain the profit earned or loss incurred during an accounting period.

Balance Sheet to ascertain the financial position of the business as on a particular date. Generally, a business enterprise has numerous transactions every day during an accounting period. Unless the transactions are recorded and analysed, it is not possible to determine the impact of each transaction in the above two basic statements. Traditionally, accounting is a method of collecting, recording, classifying, summarising, presenting and interpreting financial data aspect of an economic activity. The series of business transactions occurring during the accounting period and its recording is referred to an accounting process/mechanism. An accounting process is a complete sequence of accounting procedures which are repeated in the same order during each accounting period. Therefore, accounting process involves the following steps or stages:

### 1. Identification of transaction

In accounting, only business transactions are recorded. A transaction is an event which can be expressed in terms of money and which brings change in the financial position of a business enterprise. An event is an incident or a happening which may or may not being any change in the financial position of a business enterprise. Therefore, all transactions are events but all events are not transactions. A transaction is a complete

Notes

action, to an expected or possible future action. In every transaction, there is movement of value from one source to another. For example, when goods are purchased for cash, there is a movement of goods from the seller to the buyer and a movement of cash from buyer to the seller. Transactions may be external (between a business entity and a second party, e.g., goods sold on credit to Hari or internal (do not involve second party, e.g., depreciation charged on the machinery).

Illustration: State with reasons whether the following events are transactions or not to Mr. K. Mondal, Proprietor.

- (i) Mr. Mondal started business with capital (brought in cash)Rs. 40,000.
- (ii) Paid salaries to staff Rs. 5,000.
- (iii) Purchased machinery for Rs. 20,000 in cash.
- (iv) Placed an order with Sen & Co. for goods for Rs. 5,000.
- (v) Opened a Bank account by depositing Rs. 4,000.
- (vi) Received pass book from bank.
- (vii) Appointed Sohan as Manager on a salary of Rs. 4,000 per month.
- (viii) Received interest from bank Rs. 500.
- (ix) Received a price list from Lalit.

Solution: Here, each event is to be considered from the view point of Mr. Mondal s business. Those events which will change the financial position of the business of Mr. Mondal, should be regarded as transaction.

- (i) It is a transaction, because it changes the financial position of Mr. Mondal s business. Cash will increase by Rs. 40,000 and Capital will increase by Rs. 40,000.
- (ii) It is a transaction, because it changes the financial position of Mr. Mondal s business. Cash will decrease by Rs. 5,000 and Salaries (expenses) will increase by Rs. 5,000
- (iii) It is a transaction, because it changes the financial position of Mr. Mondal s business. Machinery comes in and cash goes out.
- (iv) It is not a transaction, because it does not change the financial position of the business.
- (v) It is a transaction, because it changes the financial position of the business. Bank balance will increase by Rs. 4,000 and cash will decrease by Rs. 4,000.
- (vi) It is also not a transaction, because it does not change the financial position of Mr. Monal.
- (vii) It is also not a transaction, because it does not change the financial position of Mr. Monal.
- (viii) It is a transaction, because it changes the financial position of Mr. Mondal s business. Bank interest will increase by Rs. 500 and cash will increase by the same amount.
- (ix) It is not a transaction, because it does not change the financial position of the business of Mr. Mondal.

### 2. Recording the transaction

Journal is the first book of original entry in which all transactions are recorded event wise and date-wise and presents a historical record of all monetary transactions. It may further be divided into sub-journals as well which are also known subsidiary books.

3. Classifying

Accounting is the art of classifying business transactions. Classification means statement setting out for a period where all the similar transactions relating to a person, a thing, expense, or any other subject are grouped together under appropriate heads of accounts.

### 4. Summarising

Summarising is the art of making the activities of the business enterprise as classified in the ledger for the use of management or other user groups i.e. Sundry debtors, Sundry creditors etc. Summarisation helps in the preparation of Profit and Loss Account and Balance sheet for a particular fiscal year.

### 5. Analysis and Interpretation

The financial information or data as recorded in the books of a account must further be analysed and interpreted so to draw useful conclusions. Thus, analysis of accounting information will help the management to assess in the performance of business operation and forming future plans also.

### 6. Presentation or reporting of financial information

The end users of accounting statements must be benefited from analysis and interpretation of data as some of them are the stock holders and other one the stake holders. Comparison of past and present statement and reports, use of ratio and trend analysis are the different tools of analysis and interpretation. From the above discussion one can conclude that accounting is a art which starts and includes steps right from recording of business transactions of monetary character to the communicating or reporting the results thereof to the various interested parties.

### **VOUCHER**

Each transaction is recorded in books of accounts providing all the required information of the transaction. Since each transaction has an effect on the financial position of the business, there should be a documentary evidence to establish the monetary accounts at which transactions are recorded and also the transactions are properly authorised. The common documents that are generally used are as under:

- (i) Payment voucher;
- (ii) Receipt voucher; and
- (iii) Transfer voucher.
- (i) A Payment voucher usually on a printed standard form, is a record of payment. When payment is made for an expense, generally a

RECORDING OF TRANSACTIONS VOUCHER SYSTEM, ACCOUNTING PROCESS, JOURNAL

Notes

Notes

bills is prepared to record full particulars of the claim by the person or organisation receiving payment. From the bill, the accounting department prepares a voucher for each payment to be made, no matter whether the amount that is paid for the goods purchased, or to pay employees salaries, or to pay for services or to pay for any other asset acquisition.

- (ii) A Receipt voucher is a document which is issued against cash receipts. It may also be a printed standard form. This document shows that a certain sum of money was received from a person or organisation and also, contains information of the purpose for which the money is received. It is signed by a responsible employee, authorised by the management to receive the money.
- (iii) A Transfer voucher is used to record the residuary transactions. An internal transaction or a transaction not involving any cash payment or cash receipt, is recorded in the transfer voucher. Examples are: Goods purchased on credit; depreciation of assets, outstanding expenses, accrued income, etc.

### **JOURNAL**

Journal is a historical record of business transaction or events. The word journal comes from the French word Jour meaning day . It is a book of original or prime entry. Journal is a primary book for recording the day to day transactions in a chronological order i.e. the order in which they occur. The journal is a form of diary for business transactions. This is called the book of first entry since every transaction is recorded firstly in the journal.

### **Journal Entry**

Journal entry means recording the business transactions in the journal. For each transaction, a separate entry is recorded. Before recording, the transaction is analysed to determine which account is to be debited and which account is to be credited. The performa of journal is shown as follows: pale is written in this column. Column 2 (Particulars): In this column, the name of the accounts to the debited is written first, then the names of the accounts to be credited and lastly, the narration (i.e. a brief explanation of transaction) are entered. Column 3 (L.F.): L.F. stands for ledger folio which means page of the ledger. In this column are entered the page numbers on which the various accounts appear in the ledger.

Column 4 (Dr. Amount): In this column, the amount to be debited against the Dr. Account is written along with the nature of currency.

Column 5 (Cr. Amount): In this column the amount to be credited against the Cr. Account is written along with the nature of currency.

### **Advantages of Using Journal**

Journal is used because of the following advantages: • A journal contains a permanent record of all the business transactions.

- The journal provides a complete chronological (in order of the time of occurrence) history of all business transactions and the task of later tracing of some transactions is facilitated.
- A complete information relating to one single business transaction is available in one place with all its aspects.
- The transaction is provided with an explanation technically called a narration.
- Use of the journal reduces the possibility of an error when transactions are first recorded in this book.
- The journal establishes the quality of debits and credits for a transaction and reconciles any problems. If a business purchases a bicycle, it is necessary to decide whether the bicycle represents ordinary goods or machinery. Further any amount paid is debited to bicycle account and credited to cash account.
- The use of journals avoids omission or duplication of transactions or parts of transaction. Without the journal the accountant would be forced to got to the individual account to enter debits and credits. Therefore it is possible for accountant to miss part of a transaction, duplicate all or part of a transaction or incorrectly record debits and credits. Even with the Journal, it is still possible to omit transactions and make other errors. However, the Journal reduces these problems.
- Once a transaction is recorded in the journal, it is not necessary to post it immediately in the ledger accounts. In this, way, the journal allows the delayed posting. In connection with the journal, the following points are to be remembered:
- For each transaction, the exact accounts should be debited and credited. For that, the two accounts involved must be identified to pass a proper journal entry.
- Sometimes, a journal entry may have more than one debit or more than one credit. This type of journal entry is called compound journal entry. Regardless of how many debits or credits are contained in a compound journal entry, all the debits are entered before any credits are entered. The aggregate amount of debits should be equal to the aggregate amount of credits.
- For a business, journal entries generally extend to several pages. Therefore, the total are cast at the end of each page, against the debit and credit columns, the following words and written in the particular column, which indicates, carried forward (of the amount on the next page) Total c/f.

The debits and credits totals of the page are then written on the next page in the amount columns; and opposite to that on the left, the following words are written in the particulars column to indicate brought forward RECORDING OF TRANSACTIONS VOUCHER SYSTEM, ACCOUNTING PROCESS, JOURNAL

Notes

(of the amount of the previous page) Total b/f. This process is repeated on every page and on the last page, Grand Total is cast.

Notes

### **Classification of Accounts**

### 1. Personal Accounts

Accounts which are related with accounts of individuals, firms, companies are known as personal accounts. The personal accounts may further be classified into three categories:

- (i) Natural Personal Accounts: Accounts of individuals relating to natural persons such as Akhil s A/c, Rajesh s A/c, Sohan s A/c are natural personal accounts.
- (ii) Artificial Personal Accounts: Accounts of companies, institutions such as Reliance Industries Ltd; Lions Club, M/s Sham & Sons, National College account are artificial personal accounts. These exist only in the eyes of law.

Type of Accounts Rules for Debit Rules for Credit

- (a) Personal Account-Debit the receiver Credit the giver
- (b) Real Account-Debit what comes in Credit what goes out
- (c) Nominal Account Debit-all expenses and losses Credit all incomes and gains
- (iii) Representative Personal Accounts: The accounts which represent some person such as wage outstanding account, prepaid insurance account, and accrued interest account are considered as representative personal accounts.

### 2. Real Accounts

Real accounts are the accounts related to assets/properties. These may be classified into tangible real account and intangible real account. The accounts relating to tangible assets such as building, plant, machinery, cash, furniture etc. are classified as tangible real accounts. Intangible real accounts are the accounts related to intangible assets such as goodwill, trademarks, copyrights, franchisees, Patents etc.

### 3. Nominal Accounts

The accounts relating to income, expenses, losses and gains are classified as nominal accounts. For example Wages Account, Rent Account, Interest Account, Salary Account, Bad Debts Accounts. and nominal accounts?

- (i) Investments
- (ii) Freehold Premises
- (iii) Accrued Interest
- (iv) Punjab Agro Industries Corporation
- (v) Janata Allied Mechanical Works
- (vi) Salary Accounts
- (vii) Loose Tools Accounts
- (viii) Purchases Account

- (ix) Indian Bank Ltd.
- (x) Capital Account
- (xi) Brokerage Account
- (xii) Toll Tax Account
- (xiii) Dividend Received Account
- (xiv) Royalty Account
- (xv) Sales Account

Solution

Real Account: (i), (ii), (vii), (viii), (xv).

Nominal Account: (vi), (ix), (xi), (xii), (xiii), (xiv)

Personal Account: (iii), (iv), (v), (x)

### **Journalizing**

Journalism is the process of recording journal entries in the Journal. It is a systematic act of entering the transaction in a day book in order of their occurrence i.e., date-wise or event-wise. After analysing the business transactions, the following steps in journalising are followed:

- (i) Find out what accounts are involved in business transaction.
- (ii) Ascertain what is the nature of accounts involved?
- (iii) Ascertain the golden rule of debit and credit is applicable for each of the accounts involved.
- (iv) Find out what account is to be debited which is to be credited.
- (v) Record the date of transaction in the Date Column.
- (vi) Write the name of the account to be debited very near to the left hand side in the Particulars Column along with the word Dr on the same line against the name of the account in the Particulars Column and the amount to be debited in the Debit Amount column against the name of the account.
- (vii) Record the name of the account to be credited in the next line preceded by the word To at a few space towards right in the Particulars Column and the amount to be credited in the Credit Amount Column in front of the name of the account.
- (viii) Record narration (i.e. a brief explanation of the transaction) within brackets in the following line in Particulars Column .
- (ix) A thin line is drawn all through the particulars column to separate one Journal entry from the other and it shows that the entry of a transaction has been completed.

## IMPORTANT CONSIDERATIONS FOR RECORDING THE BUSINESS TRANSACTIONS

### 1. Trade Discount

Trade discount is usually allowed on the list price of the goods. It may be allowed by producer to wholesaler and by wholesaler to retailer for purchase of goods in large quantity. It is not recorded in the books of account and entry is made only with the net amount paid or received, for

RECORDING OF TRANSACTIONS VOUCHER SYSTEM, ACCOUNTING PROCESS, JOURNAL

Notes

Notes

example, purchased goods of list price Rs. 8,000 at 15% trade discount from X. In this case the following entry will be passed:

Rs. Rs.
Purchases Account Dr. 6,800

To X 6,800
(Being goods purchased at 15% trade discount Less list price)

### 2. Amount paid or received in full settlement or cash discount

Cash discount is a concession allowed by seller to buyer to encourage him to make early cash payment. It is a Nominal Account. The person who allows discount, treat it as an expenses and debits is his books and it is called discount allowed and the person who receives discount, treat as an income and it is called discount received and credits in his books of account Discount Received Account. For example, X owes Rs. 6,000 to Y. He pays Rs. 5,950 in full settlement against the amount due. In the books of X the journal entry will be:

Rs. Rs.
Y Dr. 6,000
To Cash Account

5,950

To Discount Received account 50 (Being Cash paid and discount received)

In the books of Y Rs.

Rs.

Cash Account Dr.

5,950

Discount Allowed Account Dr.

50

To X

6,000

(Being cash received and discount allowed)

### 3. Goods distributed as free samples

Sometimes business distributes goods as free samples for the purpose of advertisement. In this case Advertisement Account is debited and Purchases Accounts is credited. For example, goods costing Rs. 8000 were distributed as free sample. to record this transactions following entry will be passed:

Rs . Rs.
Advertisement Account Dr. 8,000

To Purchases Account

8,000

### 4. Interest on capital

Interest paid on capital is an expense. Therefore interest account should be debited. On the other hand the capital of the business is increases. So the capital account should be credited. The entry will be as follows:

**Interest on Capital Account** 

Dr.

To Capital Account

### 5. Interest charged on Drawings

If the interest is charged on drawings then it will be an increase in the income of business, so interest on drawings will be credited. On the other hand there will be increase in Drawings or decrease in Capital. So Drawings Account will be debited. To record this, following entry will be passed:

Drawing Account or

Dr.

Capital Account

Dr.

To Interest on Drawing Account

### 6. Depreciation charged on Fixed Assets

Depreciation is the gradual, permanent decrease in the value of an assets due to wear and tear and many other causes. Depreciation is an expense so the following entry will be passed:

**Depreciation Account** 

Dr.

To Asset Account

### 7. Bad Debts

Sometimes a debtor of business fails to pay the amount due from him. Reasons may be many e.g. he may become insolvent or he may die. Such irrecoverable amount is a loss to the business. To record this following entry will be passed:

**Bad Debts Account** 

Dr.

To Debtor s Account

### 8. Bad Debts Recovered

When any amount becomes irrecoverable from any costumer or debtor his account is closed in the books. If in future any amount is recovered from him then his personal account will not be credited because that does not exist in the books. So the following entry is passed:

Cash Account

Dr.

To Bad Debts Recovered Account

### 9. Purchase and Sale of investment

When business has some surplus money it may invest this amount is shares, debentures or other types of securities. When these securities are purchased, these are recorded at the purchase price paid. At the time of sale of investment the sale price of an investment is recorded in the books of accounts. The following entry is passed to record the purchase of investment:

RECORDING OF TRANSACTIONS VOUCHER SYSTEM, ACCOUNTING PROCESS, JOURNAL

Notes

Notes

Investment Account

Dr.

To Cash Account

In case of sale of these securities the entry will be:

Cash Account Dr.

To Investment Account

### 10. Loss of Goods by Fire/Accident/theft

A business may suffer loss of goods on account of fire, theft or accident. It is a business loss and a nominal account. It also reduces the goods at cost price, and increases the loss/expenses of the business. The entry will be passed as:

Loss by fire/Accident/theft Account Dr (for loss)

Insurance Company Account Dr. (for insurance

claim admitted)

To Purchases Account

### 11. Income Tax Paid

Income Tax paid should be debited to Capital Account or Drawings Account and credited to cash Account in case of sole proprietorship and partnership firms. The reason behind this is that income tax is a personal expense for the sole trader and partners because it is paid on income of proprietor. The entry will be as follows:

Capital Account Dr.
Drawing Account Dr.

To Cash Account

### 12. Bank Charges

Banks provide various services to their customers. Bank deducts some charges by debiting the account of customers. It is an expense for the business. To record this following entry will be passed in the books of businessman/customer:

Bank Charges Account Dr.

To Bank Account

### 13. Drawings Account

It is a personal account of the proprietor. When the businessman withdraws cash or goods form the business for his personal/domestic use it is called as drawings. Drawings reduce the capital as well as goods/cash balance of the business. The journal entry is:

Drawings Account Dr.

To Cash Account

To Purchases Account

### 14. Personal expenses of the proprietor

When the private expenses such as life insurances premium, income tax, home telephone bill, tuition fees of the son of the proprietor etc. are paid out of the cash or bank account of business it should be debited to the Drawing Account of the proprietor. The journal entry is:

Capital/Drawings Account Dr.

To Cash/Bank

# 15. Sale of Asset/Property

When the asset of a business is sold, there may occur a profit or loss on its sale. It should be noted carefully that sales account is never credited on the sale of asset. The journal entry is:

(i) In case there is a profit on sale of Property/Assets

Cash/Bank Account Dr.

To Asset/Property Account

To Profit on sale of Asset Account

(ii) In case of a loss on sale of asset

Cash/Bank Account Dr.
Loss on sale of Asset Account Dr.

To Asset Account

# 16. Amount paid or Received on behalf of customer

(i) When the business entity pays the amount on behalf of old reputed customers such as carriage in anticipation of recovering the same later on, carriage account should not be opened because carriage is not the expense of the seller. It should be debited/charged to customer s Personal account. The journal entry is:

Customer/Debtor s Account

Dr.

To Cash/Bank Account

(ii) When the business entity receives the amount on behalf of customers from the third party as mutually settled between the third party and the customer, the account of the third party/person making the payment should not be opened in the books of the receiving entity.

The journal entry in the books of the entity is:

Cash/Bank Account
To Customer/Debtor s Account

Dr.

# 17. Amount paid on behalf of creditors

When the creditors/supplier instructs the business entity to make payment on their behalf, the amount so paid should be debited to creditors account and liability of the business will decrease accordingly.

The journal entry is:

Suppliers/Creditors Account

Dr.

To Cash/Bank Account

- **18.** The events affecting business but they do not involve any transfer/exchange of money for the time being, they would not be recorded in the financial books. Examples of them are:
- (i) On 1st January 2006 placed on order to Geeta & Sons for the supply of goods worth Rs. 1,00,000.
- (ii) Babanjot, a B.Com. graduate has been appointed Sales Assistant on a salary of Rs. 5,000 p.m. on Jan., 2006.

RECORDING OF TRANSACTIONS VOUCHER SYSTEM, ACCOUNTING PROCESS, JOURNAL

Notes

Notes

- (iii) Raman, a proprietor contracted with Bahia Builders Ltd. For the renovation of the building at an estimated cost of Rs. 5,00,000.
- (iv) A shop in Adalt Bazar Patiala contracted to be taken on a rent @ Rs. 4,000 pm.
- 19. Paid wages/installation charges for erection of machinery Wages and installation charges are the expenses of nominal nature. But for erection of machinery no separate account should be opened for such expenses because these expenses are of capital nature and it will be merged/debited to the cost of assets i.e. machinery. The journal entry is:

**Machinery Account** 

Dr.

To Cash/Bank Account

(Being wages/installation charges paid for the erection of machinery)

Illustration: Journalise the following transactions for the month of January 2006:

2006

Jan.1 Invested in shares of Tata Cotton Mills Ltd. and paid for the same in cash Rs. 2,000.

- 2 Placed on order with Mr. Shah for goods to be received a month later Rs. 1,500.
- 3 Invoiced goods to Mr. Love worth Rs. 1,000 and allowed a trade discount of 2 per cent.
- 4 Carriage Rs. 25 and freight Rs. 70 were paid by the proprietor for the above goods but which are to be charged to Mr. Love Account. the above goods but which are to be charged to Mr. Love Account.
- 5 Paid rent to landlord of office premises- Rs. 150, which he spent on purchase of our goods.
- 6 Goods valued at Rs. 700 were delivered to Ahmedabad Merchants under instructions from Mr. Gobind. They were to be charged to the latter's Account.
- 7 Mr. Love paid Rs. 500 due from him, and the same was spent on purchasing goods from Mr. Deepu.
- 8 Sold one old motor car belonging to the proprietor for Rs. 5,000 and the amount was invested in the business.
- 9 The proprietor paid Rs. 180 in full settlement of Mr. Manpreet for goods worth Rs. 200 purchased by him for personal use.
- 10 Mr. Gobind was declared insolvent and paid Rs. 450 in full settlement. The balance Rs. 250 was written off as a bad debt.
- 11 Mohinder our debtors, on our advice, directly paid Narinder, our creditor Rs. 2,000.

# **JOURNAL**

JOURN			T 1		
Date 2006	Particulars		L.F.	Rs.	Rs.
	Turneturent Accessed	D.,		2.000	
Jan. 1	Investment Account Dr.			2,000	
	To Cash Account				2,000
	(Being purchase of shares of Tata Cotton				
	Mills Ltd. paid in cash)				
2	No entry is passed as placing of an order				
	is not a business transaction.			222	
3	Mr. Love s Account	Dr.		980	
	To Sales Account				980
	(Being the entry for credit sale of goods to				
	Mr. Love at a trade discount of 2%)				
4.	Mr. Love s Account	Dr.		95	
	To Cash Account				95
	(Being payment of freight and carriage on				
	behalf of Mr. Love)				
5	Rent Account	Dr.		150	
	To Sales Account				150
	(Being rent paid to the landlord in the				
	form of goods, instead of in cash)				
6	Mr. Gobind Account	Dr.		700	
	To Sales account				700
	(Being goods sold to Mr. Govind but				
	delivered to A. Merchants as per				
	instructions)				
7	Cash Account	Dr.		500	
	To Love s Account				500
	(Being in amount received in cash from				
	Love)				
7	Purchases Account	Dr.		500	
	To Cash Account				500
	(Being entry for goods purchased from				
	Mr. Deepu from in cash received from				
8	Love) Cash Account	D <sub>r</sub>		5,000	
8		Dr.		5,000	5 000
	To Proprietor's Capital Account				5,000
	(Being amount invested in business out				
	of the sale process of the owners				
	personal car)				
9	Proprietor s Capital Account/Drawing A/c Dr			180	

RECORDING OF TRANSACTIONS VOUCHER SYSTEM, ACCOUNTING PROCESS, JOURNAL

Notes

#### Principles of Accounting 180 To Cash Account (Being the amount paid to Manpreet for Notes goods purchased for his personal use) 10 450 Cash Account Dr. Bad Debts Account Dr. 250 To Gobind s Account 700 (Being the amount received from Gobind in full settlement of his debts) 11 Narinder 2,000 Dr 2,000 To Mohinder

(Being cash paid by Mohinder to

Narinder)

An accounting process is a complete sequence of accounting procedures which are repeated in the same order during each accounting period. Accounting process involves six steps or stages i.e. identification of transactions, recording the transaction, classifying, summarising, analysis and interpretation and reporting of financial information. In accounting, all the transactions are recorded on the basis of evidence/document which are mainly three

- (i) payment voucher;
- (ii) receipt voucher; and
- (iii) Transfer voucher.

Recording the transaction is the first step in the process of accounting which is performed in the book called Journal . Journal is a primary book for recording the day to day transactions in a chronological order, i.e., the order in which they occur. The process of recording journal entries in the journal is called journalising. For the journalising, all the accounts are classified into three categories namely personal account; real account; and nominal account.

# **KEYWORDS**

Bad Debt: Debt owned to an enterprise which is considered to be irrecoverable.

Capital: It refers to the interest of owners in the assets of an enterprise.

Depreciation: Decrease in the value of fixed assets.

Trade Discount: Reduction on print prices of goods.

Cash Discount: A reduction granted by a supplier from the invoiced price in consideration of payment with in a stipulated period.

# **REVIEW QUESTIONS**

- 1. Recording of transaction is an important step in accounting process Comment.
- 2. What is Journal? Distinguish between Journaland Journalising.

- 3. How you will classify the accounts? State the rules of journalising with respect to each class of accounts.
- 4. What will be the Journal entry in the following cases:
- (i) Loss of goods by theft
- (ii) Loss of cash from the cash box
- (iii) Sale and purchase of investments
- (iv) Goods taken by the proprietor for his private use.
- (v) Amount paid/received on behalf of others by the business entity
- (vi) Satinder, a marketer appointed at a salary of Rs. 3000 p.m.

# **FURTHER READINGS**

- 1. Principles of Accounting-Belverd E. Needles, Marian Powers, Susan V. Crosson 2013 Preview More editions
- 2. Principles of Accounting-P. Hosein
- 3. Principles of Accounting-Gaylord N. Smith
- 4. Principles of Accounting-Donatila Agtarap-San Juan
- 5. Principles of Accounting-Harry Anson Finney

RECORDING OF TRANSACTIONS VOUCHER SYSTEM, ACCOUNTING PROCESS, JOURNAL

Notes

Notes

# UNIT-4 LEDGER POSTING AND TRIAL BALANCE

# **CONTENTS**

- Posting
- Rules Regarding Posting
- ❖ Balancing of An Account
- Trial Balance
- \* Review Ouestions
- Further Readings

# **INTRODUCTION**

It has already been discussed in earlier lesson that accounting involves recording, classifying and summarising the financial transactions. Recording is made in Journal, which has been explained in the preceding lesson. Classification of the recorded transactions is made in the ledger. This is being discussed in the present lesson.

Ledger is a book which contains various accounts. In simple words, ledger is a set of accounts. It includes all accounts of the business enterprise whether Real, Nominal or Personal. Ledger may be kept in any of the following two forms:

- Bound Ledger; and
- Loose Leaf Ledger.

It is common to keep the ledger in the form of loose-leaf cards these days instead of keeping them in bounded form. This helps in posting transactions particularly when mechanised system of accounting is used. Interestingly, nowadays, mechanised system of accounting is preferred over the manual system of accounting.

# **POSTING**

The term posting means transferring the debit and credit items from the Journal to their respective accounts in the ledger. It is important to note that the exact names of accounts used in the Journal should be carried to the ledger. For example:

If in the Journal, Salary Account has been debited, it would not be correct to debit the Outstanding Salary Account in the Ledger. Therefore, the correct course would be to use the same account in both the Journal and Ledger.

Ledger posting may be done at any time. However, it must be completed before the annual financial statements are prepared. It is advisable to keep the more active accounts posted up to date. The examples of such accounts are the cash account, personal accounts of various parties, etc.

The Ledger posting may be made by the book-keeper from the Journal to the Ledger by any of the following methods: • He may take a particular side first. For example, he may take the debits first and make the complete postings of all debits from Journal to the Ledger.

Ledger Posting and Trial Balance

Notes

Date	Particular	J.F.	Amount	Date	Particular	J.F.	Amount
			(Rs.)				(Rs.)

- He may take a particular account first and post all debits and credits relating to that account appearing on one particular page of Journal. He may then take some other account and follow the same procedure.
- He may complete posting of each journal entry before proceeding to the next entry.

It is advisable to follow the last method. Further, one should post each debit and credit item as it appears in the Journal.

The Ledger Folio (L.F.) column in the Journal is used at the time when debits and credits are posted to the Ledger. The page number of the Ledger on which the posting has been done is mentioned in the L.F.

Column of the Journal. Similarly a folio column in the Ledger can also be kept where the page from which posting has been made from the Journal. Thus, these are cross references in both the Journal and the Ledger. A proper index must be maintained in the Ledger giving the names of the accounts and the page number. A specimen of Ledger is given below:

#### DALMIA S A/C

All entries relating to Dalmia s A/c shall be posted in this specimen a/c and finally the balance either debit or credit may be drawn. All rules regarding the posting must strictly be followed.

# **Rules Regarding Posting**

The following rules must be observed while posting transactions in the Ledger from the Journal:

- i) Separate accounts should be opened in the Ledger for posting transactions relating to different accounts recorded in the Journal. For example, separate accounts may be opened for sales, purchases, sales returns, purchases returns, salaries, rent, cash, etc.
- ii) The concerned account which has been debited in the Journal should also be debited in the Ledger. However, a reference should be made of the other account which has been credited in the Journal. For example, for salaries paid, the salaries account should be debited in the Ledger, but reference should be given of the Cash Account which has been credited in the Journal.

Notes

iii) The concerned account, which has been credited in the Journal; should also be credited in the Ledger, but reference should be given of the account, which has been debited in the Journal. For example, for salaries paid, Cash Account has been credited in the Journal. It will be credited in the Ledger also, but reference will be given of the Salaries Account in the Ledger.

Thus, it may be concluded that while making posting in the Ledger, the concerned account which has been debited or credited in the Journal should also be debited or credited in the Ledger, but reference has to be given of the other account which has been credited or debited in the Journal, as the case may be. This will be clear with the following example:

Suppose salaries of Rs. 10,000 have been paid in cash, the following entry will be passed in the Journal:

Salaries Account Dr. 10,000 To Cash Account 10,000

In the Ledger two accounts will be opened (i) Salaries Account, and (ii) Cash Account. Since Salaries Account has been debited in the Journal, it will also be debited in the Ledger. Similarly Cash Account has been credited in the Journal and, therefore, it will also be credited in the Ledger, but reference will be given of the other account involved. Thus, the accounts will appear as follows in the Ledger:

SALARIES ACCOUNT

Dr.

Cr.

Cash A/c (i) Rs. 10,000

**CASH ACCOUNT** 

Dr.

Cr.

Salaries A/c (ii) Rs. 10,000

Use of the words To and By: It is customary to use words To and By while making posting in the Ledger. The word To is used with the accounts which appear on the debit side of a Ledger Account. For example in the Salaries Account, instead of writing only Cash as shown above, the words To Cash will appear on the debit side of the account. Similarly, the word By is used with accounts which appear on the credit side of a Ledger Account. For example in the above case, the words By Salaries A/c will appear on the credit side of the Cash Account instead of only Salaries A/c. The words To and By do not have any specific meanings. Modern accountants are, therefore, ignoring the use of these words.

**Balancing of an Account** 

Ledger Posting and Trial Balance

Notes

In business, there may be several transactions relating to one particular account. In Journal, these transactions appear on different pages in a chronological order while they appear in a classified form under that particular account in the Ledger. At the end of a period (say a month, a quarter or a year), the businessman will be interested in knowing the position of a particular account. This means, he should total the debits and credits of his account separately and find out the net balance. This technique of finding out the net balance of an account, after considering the totals of both debits and credits appearing in the account is known as Balancing the Account. The balance is put on the side of the account which is smaller and a reference is given that it has been carried forward or carried down (c/f or c/d) to the next period. On the other hand, in the next period a reference is given that the opening balance has been brought forward or brought down (b/f or b/d) from the previous period.

# TRIAL BALANCE

In case, the various debit balances and the credit balances of the different accounts are taken down in a statement, the statement so prepared is termed as a Trial Balance. In other words, Trial Balance is a statement containing the various ledger balances on a particular date.

# **Objectives of Preparing a Trial Balance**

- (i) Checking of the arithmetical accuracy of the accounting entries. As indicated above, Trial Balance helps in knowing the arithmetical accuracy of the accounting entries. This is because according to the dual aspect concept for every debit, there must be an equivalent credit. Trial Balance represents a summary of all ledger balances and, therefore, if the two sides of the Trial Balance tally, it is an indication of this fact that the books of accounts are arithmetically accurate. Of course, there may be certain errors in the books of accounts in spite of an agreed Trial Balance. For example, if a transaction has been completely omitted, from the books of accounts, the two sides of the Trial Balance will tally, in spite of the books of accounts being wrong. This has been discussed in detail later in a separate Chapter.
- (ii) Basis for financial statements Trial Balance forms the basis for preparing financial statements such as the Income Statement and the Balance Sheet. The Trial Balance represents all transactions relating to different accounts in a summarised form for a particular period. In case, the Trial Balance is not prepared, it will be almost impossible to prepare the financial statements as stated above to know the profit or loss made by the business during a particular period or its financial position on a particular date.

Notes

# (iii) Summarised ledger

It has already been stated that a Trial Balance contains the ledger balances on a particular date. Thus, the entire ledger is summarised in the form of a Trial Balance. The position of a particular account can be judged simply by looking at the Trial Balance. The Ledger may be seen only when details regarding the accounts are required.

Ledger is a book which contains various accounts of the business enterprise whether real, nominal or personal. The term posting means transferring the debit and credit items from the journal to their respective accounts in the ledger. At the end of a period, the businessman will be interested in knowing the position of a particular account. This means, he should total the debits and credits of his account separately and final out the net balance. This technique of finding out the net balance of an account is known as balancing the account. Before preparing the final accounts, the accountant prepares a trial balance to check arithmetical errors. The trial balance is a statement containing the various ledger balances on a particular date.

#### **KEYWORDS**

**Assets:** Tangible objects or intangible rights owned by an enterprise and carrying probable future benefits.

**Profits & Loss Account:** A financial statement which represents the revenues and expenses of an enterprise and shows the excess of revenues over expenses or vice-versa.

**Balance Sheet:** A statement of the financial position of an enterprise as at a given date.

# **REVIEW QUESTIONS**

- 1. Explain the rules regarding posting of transactions into the Ledger.
- 2. What is a Trial Balance? Explain its objectives.
- 3. Discuss and differentiate between Journal and Ledger.

# **FURTHER READINGS**

- 1. Principles of Accounting-Belverd E. Needles, Marian Powers, Susan V. Crosson 2013 Preview More editions
- 2. Principles of Accounting- P. Hosein
- 3. Principles of Accounting-Gaylord N. Smith
- 4. Principles of Accounting-Donatila Agtarap-San Juan
- 5. Principles of Accounting-Harry Anson Finney

# UNIT -5 SUBSIDIARY BOOKS OF ACCOUNTS

Subsidiary Books of Accounts

Notes

# **CONTENTS**

- Introduction
- Cash Book
- Kinds Of Cash Book
- Purchase Book
- Purchase Return Book
- Sales Return Book
- Sales Returns Account
- Bills Payable Book
- Journal Proper
- Review Questions
- Further Readings

# INTRODUCTION

All business transactions, at the first stage, are recorded in the book of original entry i.e. Journal and then posted into the ledger under the double entry system of book-keeping. This procedure is easy and practicable in small business houses where the number of business transactions is less and when a single person can handle the business transactions. But it is practically very difficult, rather impossible, to record all the business transactions of a day in the Journal of a large business house where the number of business transactions are varied and enormous because of the following reasons:

- (a) The system of recording all transactions in a journal requires
- (i) Writing down of the name of the account involved as many times as the transactions occur; and (ii) an individual posting of each account debited and credited and hence, involves the repetitive journalising and posting labour.
- (b) Such a system does not provide the information on a prompt basis.
- (c) The journal becomes bulky and voluminous.
- (d) Such a system does not facilitate the installation of an internal check system since the journal can be handled by only one person.

Therefore, to overcome the shortcomings of the use of the journal as the only book of original entry, the journal is subdivided into special journals. It is divided in such a way that a separate book is used for each category of business transactions which are repetitive in nature, similar and are sufficiently large in number. Special journals refer to the journals meant for recording specific business transactions of similar nature.

Notes

These special journals are also known as Subsidiary Books or Day Books. The main types of special journals are as follows:

- (i) Cash Book: It records all those transactions which are in cash or by cheques.
- (ii) Purchases Book: It records all transactions relating to goods purchased on credit.
- (iii) Sales Book: It records all transactions relating to goods sold on credit.
- (iv) Purchases Return Book: It records return of goods to suppliers.
- (v) Sales Return Book: It records return of goods by the customers.
- (vi) Bills Receivable Book: It records entries regarding bills receivables. The details of bills are given in this book.
- (vi) Bills Payable Book: All bills which are accepted and payable by a business house are recorded in this book.
- (viii) Journal Proper: Those transactions which are not recorded in any of the above mentioned books are recorded in the Journal Proper.

Before recording transactions in these day books, it is necessary to explain the special meaning given in business to the words Goods, Purchases and Sales.

**Goods:** It refers to items forming part of the stock-in-trade of a business house which are purchased and are to be resold at a profit. A business house may purchase fixed assets or stationery for use in business, but they are not purchases of goods.

**Purchases:** It refers to the purchase of goods for resale, and not the purchase of assets or stationery. The Purchases Account, therefore, only contains purchases of goods for resale.

**Sales:** It refers to the sale of goods which form part of the stock-in- trade of the business.

#### **Advantages**

The advantages of using Special Journals are as under:

- (a) Facilitates division of work: The accounting work can be divided among many persons.
- (b) Time and labour saving in journalising and posting: For instance, when a Sales Book is kept, the name of the Sales Account will not be required to be written down in the Journal as many times as the sales transactions occur and at the same time, Sales Account will not be required to be posted again and again since, only a periodic total of Sales Book is posted to the Sales Account.
- (c) Permits the use of specialised skill: The accounting work requiring specialised skill may be assigned to a person possessing the required skill. With the use of a specialised skill, prompt, economical and more accurate supply of accounting information may be obtained.

(d) Permits the installation of internal check system: The accounting work can be divided in such a manner that the work of one person is automatically checked by another person. With the use of internal check, the possibility of occurrence of error/fraud may be avoided.

Subsidiary Books of Accounts

Notes

# **CASH BOOK**

A Cash Book is a special journal which is used for recording all cash receipts and cash payments. If a cash book is maintained, there is no need for preparing a cash account in the ledger. However, the other aspects of the transactions will be recorded in the ledger. Cash Book serves dual role of journal as well ledger. Cash Book is the book of original entry (Journal) since transactions are recorded for the first time from the source documents. It is a ledger in the sense that it is designed in the form of Cash Account and records cash receipts on the debit side and cash payments on the credit side.

#### **Features**

- Only cash transactions are recorded in the Cash Book.
- It performs the functions of both journal and the ledger at the same time.
- All cash receipts are recorded on the debit side and all cash payments are recorded on the credit side.
- The Cash Book, recording only cash transactions can never show a credit balance.

# **Kinds of Cash Book**

Cash Book can be of several kinds:

- (a) Single Column Cash Book- For recording cash transactions only.
- (b) Double(Two) Column Cash Book- For recording cash transactions involving gain or loss on account of discount.
- (c) Triple (Three) Column Cash Book- For recording cash and bank transactions involving gain or loss on account of discount.
- (d) Petty Cash Book- For recording petty expenses.

# Single Column Cash Book

The Single Column Cash Book has one column of amount on each side. All cash receipts are recorded on the debit (left-hand) side and all cash payments are recorded on credit (right-hand) side. In fact, it is nothing but a Cash Account. Hence, there is no need to open Cash Account in the ledger. Posting from the debit (receipt) side of the Cash Book is done to the credit side of concerned accounts and from the credit (payment) side of the Cash Book to the debit side of concerned accounts.

**Balancing the Cash Book:** The Cash Book is balanced in the same manner as a ledger account. To verify the accuracy of the entries made and to confirm the authenticity of cash balance, it should be balanced daily. The balance as per Cash Book must tally with the actual cash in

Notes

Book.

hand. In the Cash Book, the total of amount column of the debit side always exceeds the total of credit side. As such, the Cash Book always shows a debit balance, since we cannot pay more than we have with us. At the end of the period, the balance of the Cash Book is placed on the credit side by writing By Balance c/d and then the totals are shown on both side in one straight line. The total of each side should be the same. This Cash Book has two amount columns one for cash and another for discount on each side. It is customary in business to allow discount when payment is received from a customer promptly and before due date. It is equally so when payment is made to a creditor before due date. All cash receipts and discount allowed are recorded on the debit side and all cash payments and discount received are recorded on the credit side of Cash

The posting from the cash columns is done in the same manner as it is done in Single Column Cash Book. Entries from discount column of the debit side of the Cash Book are posted on the credit side of every individual debtor s account to whom the business has allowed the discount. The total of the debit side of the discount column is shown on the debit side of the Discount Allowed Account by writing To Sundries in the particulars column. Entries from the discount column of the credit side of the Cash Book are posted on the debit side of every individual creditor s account by whom the discount is allowed to the business. The total of the credit side of the discount column is shown on the credit side of the Discount Received Account by writing By Sundries in the particulars column.

The cash column of the Double Column Cash Book is balanced exactly in the same manner as in case of the Single Column Cash Book. But, the discount columns are not balanced but merely totalled. These totals are posted to the respective Discount Allowed Account and Discount Received Account.

This type of Cash Book is an improvement over the Double Column Cash Book. In modern times, it is virtually impossible to imagine any business without having dealings with a bank. Most of the transactions relating to receipts and payments of money are made through cheques. So transactions through bank are also recorded in the cash book by adding one more column i.e. bank column on both sides of the cash book. Therefore there are three columns on both sides of the cash book i.e. cash, bank and discount columns. That is why this type of cash book is known as Triple Column Cash Book.

Receipt side (Dr side) of the Triple Column Cash Book is used to record all receipts both in cash and by cheques as also to record the discount allowed to our debtors while receiving the payment. Cash receipts are entered in the cash column whereas amounts received by cheques are entered in the bank column and discount allowed in the discount column.

Posting from the debit side of the cash book is made to the credit side of each account in the ledger in case of personal accounts credit is to be given for cash or cheques received plus discount allowed.

Payment side (Cr. side) of the Cash Book is used to record all payments both in cash and through cheques as also to record the discount received or availed by us from over creditors while making payment to them. Cash payments are recorded in the cash column, payments through cheques are entered in the bank column and discount received in the discount column. Posting from the credit side of the cash book is made on the debit side of respective accounts in case of personal accounts debit is to be given for the total of the payments made and discount received.

After recording all the relevant transactions in the Cash Book, all the columns of the Cash Book are totalled. The difference in the cash columns is put on the credit side of Cash Book in the column by writing By Balance c/d. The bank balance may have a debit balance or a credit balance. If the total of the debit side of the bank column is more than the total of the credit side of the bank column, it has a debit balance and if the total of the credit side is more than that of the debit side, then it has a credit balance (overdraft). However, the difference is put on the lesser side. There is no need to balance the discount columns. The discount columns of both the sides are totalled.

In the Triple Column Cash Book there will be some cross or contra entries i.e., transfer of money from cash to bank (amount deposited) and vice-versa (amount withdrawn from bank for office use). In all such cases both entries occur in the cash book and no ledger entry is required. This is indicated by a contra sign (C) in the folio column indicating thereby that the double entry aspect of this transaction is complete and it requires no posting to the ledger.

# **Petty Cash Book**

In every business organisation, there are a number of payments which involve small amounts e.g. payments for postage, telegrams, carriage, cartage etc. If all these transactions are recorded in the Cash Book, it will increase the head cashier s work manifold and it will make the Cash Book unnecessarily bulky and uneasy. Normally, one person is handed over a small amount to meet the petty expenses of a given period (say, week, fortnight or month) and is authorised to make such payments and to record them in a separate Cash Book. Such person, amount and Cash Books are called as Petty Cashier, Imprest and Petty Cash Book respectively. The Petty Cash Book may or may not be maintained on Imprest System. Under both the systems (i.e. Imprest and Non-imprest), the petty cashier submits the Petty Cash Book to the Head Cashier who examines the Petty Cash Book. Under the Imprest system, the Head

Subsidiary Books of Accounts

Notes

Notes

Cashier makes the reimbursement of the amount spent by the Petty Cashier but under Non-imprest system, the Head Cashier may handover the Cash to the Petty Cashier equal to/more than/less than the amount spent. Usually, the Petty Cash Book is maintained on the basis of imprest system.

**Advantage of the Imprest System:** The system of petty cash payments along with the imprest system offers the following advantages:

- (1) The money in the hands of the petty cashier is limited to the imprest amount.
- (2) As the periodical reimbursements are the actual expenses paid and not mere advances on account only, they are as such brought prominently to the notice of Chief Cashier.
- (3) The Chief Cashier, by handing over a fixed sum, is relieved of the cumbersome work of petty disbursements.
- (4) The main cash book is not unnecessarily clogged with the large number of small items. Even in the ledger, only the totals are posted.
- (5) At all time, the amount of cash in hand plus expenses not reimbursed must equal the imprest amount, thus, facilitating a simple check.
- (6) The maximum liability of the petty cashier can never exceed the imprest amount.
- (7) The regular check of the petty cash book creates a sense of responsibility in the petty cashier.

All the heads of expenses are totalled periodically and such periodic totals are individually posted to the debit side of the concerned ledger accounts in the ledger by writing To Petty Cash A/c in the particulars column. The Petty Cash Account in the ledger is credited with the total expenditure incurred during the period by writing By Sundries as per Petty Cash Book in the particulars column. The ledger folio number is written under every total amount of expense to indicate that the entry has been posted in the ledger. In the folio column of the ledger account, the page number of the petty cash book is written.

# **PURCHASE BOOK**

Purchases Book (also known as InvoiceJournal/Bought Journal/Purchases Journal) is used for recording only the credit purchases of goods and merchandise in which the business is dealing in, i.e. goods purchased for resale purpose for earning revenue. It records neither the cash purchases of goods nor the purchase of any asset other than the goods or merchandise.

When we purchase goods on credit we receive a statement from the supplier giving the particulars of the goods supplied by him. The statement is known as an Invoice. The invoice states the quality, price

and the value of goods supplied. It also states the discount allowable (trade and cash) and the condition under which payment is expected. The entries in the purchase book are made on the basis of invoices received from the supplies with the amounts net of trade discount/quantity discount. Trade discount is a reduction granted by the supplier from the list price of goods and services on business consideration such as quantity bought, trade practices other than for prompt payment. The object of allowing trade discount is to enable the retailer to sell the goods to the customer at list price and still leaving margin for meeting business expenses and his profit. Entries in the books of both supplier as well as retailer are made on the basis of net amount i.e. invoice price less trade discount.

**Posting** 

After recording transactions in the Purchases Book, the posting in ledger accounts will be made. The posting from the Purchases Book is made as follows:

- a) Debit the Purchases Account with the periodical totals of the Purchases Book. On the debit side of the Purchases Account, write To total as per Purchase Book or To Sundries in the particulars column.
- b) Personal accounts of each individual supplier is credited with the net amount of Inward Invoice recorded in Purchases Book by writing By Purchases.

Sales Book or Sales Journal is written up to record all the credit sales. Sales Book records only those goods which are sold on credit and the goods in question must be those, which the firm generally deals in. If there are cash sales they are recorded in Cash Book and sale of assets are recorded in the Journal proper.

The entries in the Sales Book are made from the copies of the invoice which have been sent to customers along with the goods. Such copies of the invoices may be termed as Outward Invoice. Each such outward invoice should be numbered consecutively and the reference be given in the Sales Book along with the entry.

The Sales book is totalled periodically. The net amount of the invoices in Sales Book is posted to the ledger as follows:

- (a) Debit the personal accounts of the customers with the value of sales to them.
- (b) Credit Sales Account with the periodical total.

# PURCHASE RETURN BOOK

In every business, it is not uncommon to find that the goods are returned by a business enterprise to the suppliers because of many reasons such as goods are defective, goods are not according to order. If the returns are frequent in a business, in that case a separate book may be maintained to Subsidiary Books of Accounts

Notes

Notes

record this type of transactions which is known as Purchases Returns Book or Returns Outward Book.

The entries in the Purchases Returns Book are usually made on the basis of debit notes issued to the suppliers. When a firm returns some goods to it suppliers, it prepares a debit note in duplicate. The original copy is sent to the supplier to whom the goods are returned. The Debit Note is so called because the supplier s account is debited with the amount of the goods returned.

After recording the transaction in Purchases Returns Book, posting to the ledger involves the following:

- (a) The periodical total of the Purchases Return Book is posted to the credit of the Purchases Return Account in the ledger.
- (b) The personal account of each individual suppliers is debited with the amount of Debit Note.

# SALES RETURN BOOK

Sales Return Book or Returns Inwards Book is meant for recording return of goods sold on credit. The goods which are sold for cash if returned are either exchanged for new goods or parties are paid in cash do not find a place in the Sales Return Journal. The columns used in this book are similar to Sales Book except that in place of Invoice No. The Credit Note number is recorded. Credit Note is just reverse of Debit Note and is sent by the seller to the buyer. It is an acknowledgment of the goods returned as well as information to the debtor that his account is being credited with the amount mentioned in it. Thus, the party to whom a Credit Note is sent become a creditor.

The posting from the Sales Return Book will be done periodically to the debit side of the Sales Returns Account in the ledger and the individual accounts of the customers will be credited with their respective amounts.

# SALES RETURNS ACCOUNT

Where a payment for a business transaction is not made immediately but is deferred or postponed for a few months, a bill of exchange payable some time ahead may be drawn by the creditor (seller) on his debtor (purchaser). The bill of exchange is then accepted by the debtor indicating that he would pay the amount specified therein on the expiry of the period stated on the bill. To the creditor, who draws the bill upon his customer, it is termed as Bills Receivable representing money to be received at a future date; to the debtor, the bill on acceptance becomes a Bills Payable indicating that the money has to be paid at a future date.

Transactions involving the drawing, the acceptance and negotiation of bills are recorded in Bills Receivable and Bills Payable Books respectively.

Bills Receivable Book is used to record the details of bills receivable on which the business enterprise will receive the amounts from other parties in future. The entries to be made in this book include the name of the acceptor (debtor), the terms, due date, the amount and other details.

**Posting:** The total of the amount column of the Bills Receivable Book is debited to the Bills Receivable Account while the amount of each bills receivable is posted to the credit of the account of the party from whom it is received.

**BILLS PAYABLE BOOK** 

This is also a book of original entry and is used to record the particulars of all the bills payable accepted by the business enterprise for the purpose of paying at a future date amounts due by it (the business enterprise or trader) to its or his creditors. The entries to be made in this book relate to the name of the drawer, the name of the payee, the period, the due date, and other particulars. Then the acceptance is duly returned to the drawer.

**Posting:** The amount of each bill is posted to the debit side of the drawer s account in the ledger and the total of the amount column of the Bills Payable Book is posted to the credit of Bills Payable Account in the ledger.

# **JOURNAL PROPER**

Journal Proper is a residuary book in which those transactions are recorded which cannot be recorded in any other subsidiary book such as (a) Cash Book, (b) Purchases Book, (c) Sales Book, (d) Purchases Returns Book, (e) Sales Returns Book, (f) Bills Receivable Book, and (g) Bills Payable Book. The various examples of transactions entered in a Journal Proper are given below:

- (i) Opening entry: An Opening Entry is passed in the journal for bringing the balances of various assets, liabilities and capital appearing in the Balance Sheet of the previous accounting period, in the books of current accounting period.
- (ii) Closing entries: Closing Entries are passed in the journal for closing the nominal accounts by transferring them to the Trading and Profit and Loss Account. These are needed at the end of the accounting year, when the final accounts are prepared.
- (iii) Transfer entries: Transfer Entries are passed in the journal for transferring an amount from one account to another account, i.e.
   Transfer of Total Drawings from Drawings Account to Capital Account.
- (iv) Adjusting entries: Adjusting Entries are passed in the journal to bring into the books of account certain unrecorded items like closing stock, depreciation on fixed assets, outstanding and prepaid items. These are needed at the time of preparing the final accounts.

Subsidiary Books of Accounts

Notes

55

Notes

- (v) Rectifying entries: Rectifying Entries are passed in the journal to rectify the various errors committed while posting, totalling, balancing etc.
- (vi) Miscellaneous entries: This includes the following:
- (a) Capital brought in kind. If the proprietor of the business brings in his capital contribution in kind and not in cash, such transaction can be recorded only in the Journal Proper and not in the Cash Book since this transaction does not involve any cash inflow.
- (b) Purchase of Assets (other than Stock-in-trade) on credit (e.g., land, building, plant and machinery, furniture and fixture). Such transactions can neither be recorded in the Purchase Book (since no goods have been purchased) nor recorded in the Cash Book (since this transaction does not involve any cash outflow).
- (c) Sales of Assets (other than Stock-in-trade) which were sold on credit. Such transaction can neither be recorded in the Sales Book (since no goods have been sold) nor can be recorded in the Cash Book (since this transaction does not involve any cash inflow).
- (d) Return of Assets (other than Stock-in-trade) which were sold on credit. Such transactions cannot be recorded in the Return Inwards Book since no goods have been returned.
- (e) Return of Assets (other than Stock-in-trade) which were bought on credit. Such transactions cannot be recorded in the Return Outwards book since, no goods have been returned.
- (f) Endorsement of Bills Receivable to a creditor.
- (g) Dishonour of Bills Receivables (not discounted with bank).
- (h) Cancellation of Bills Payable. (i) Abnormal Loss of Stock-intrade/other assets by theft, accident, fire, etc.
- (i) Writing-off Bad Debts.

To overcome the shortcoming of the use of the Journal as the only book of original record, the Journal is sub-divided into special journals. Special journals refer to the journals meant for recording specific business transactions of similar nature which are known as subsidiary books or day books. The main types of special journals are (i) cash book; (ii) purchases book; (iii) sales book; (iv) purchase return book; (v) sales return book; (vi) bills receivable book; (vii) bills payable book; and (viii) journal propers. Cash book is a special journal which is used for recording all cash receipts and payments. Purchase book is used for recording only the credit purchases of goods and merchandise in which the business in dealing in. Sales book is used to record all the credit sales, purchase return book is used to record the goods returned by the enterprise and sales return book is used to record the goods returned by the customers. Bills receivable book and bills payable book are used to record the details of B/R and B/P respectively. Any entry which is to

taking palace in the above mentioned book is being recorded in the book Journal Proper.

Subsidiary Books of Accounts

Notes

# **KEYWORDS**

**Bill of Exchange:** An instrument is writing containing an unconditional order, signed by the maker, directing a certain person to pay a certain sum of money only to, or to the order of, a certain person or to the bearer of the instrument. For the party who will receive the money against bill is bills receivable and for counter party it is known as bills payable.

**Journal:** Journal is a primary book for recording the day to day transactions in a chronological order.

Goods: The items in which enterprise deals in.

Contra Entry: Entries related to cash and banks are known as contra

**Debit Balance:** Total of debit side is greater than credit side.

# **REVIEW QUESTIONS**

- 1. What do you mean by subsidiary books? Name the principal subsidiary books used for recording credit transactions and also give a brief account of each.
- 2. What is Cash Book? What are the different types of cash book? How it is balanced?
- 3. Write short notes on:
- (a) Petty Cash Book
- (b) Debit Note
- (c) Journal Proper
- (d) Credit Note
- (e) Contra entries
- 4. In which Book of Original Entry, will you record each of the following transactions?
- (i) A allowance of Rs. 50 was offered for an early payment of Cash of Rs. 1,050.
- (ii) A second hand motor car was purchased on credit from Ross for Rs. 10,000 for free delivery van.
- (iii) Goods, the payment of which is due after 2 months, were sold to M/s Bell & Co. for Rs. 1,000.
- (iv) Accounting for the partial recovery from Hari, of an amount of Rs. 2,000 earlier written-off as bad debt.
- (v) Credit purchase of stationery worth Rs. 5,000, by a stationery dealer from Mr. Dubey.
- (vi) Rectifying the error of a credit Purchase of goods worth Rs. 10,000 recorded as a credit sale to Mr. Lily, discovered two months later.

(vii) A cheque of Rs. 1,000, which was received from a debtor in full settlement of a claim of Rs. 1,100, is dishonoured.

Notes

# **FURTHER READINGS**

- 1. Principles of Accounting-Belverd E. Needles, Marian Powers, Susan V. Crosson 2013 Preview More editions
- 2. Principles of Accounting- P. Hosein
- 3. Principles of Accounting-Gaylord N. Smith
- 4. Principles of Accounting-Donatila Agtarap-San Juan
- 5. Principles of Accounting-Harry Anson Finney

# UNIT - 6 PREPARATIONS OF PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT AND BALANCE SHEET

Preparations of Profit and Loss Account and Balance Sheet

Notes

# **CONTENTS**

- **❖** Introduction
- Trading Account
- Stock
- Purchases
- Direct Expenses
- Sales
- Closing Entries For Trading Account
- Raw Materials Consumed
- Characteristics
- Classification Of Assets And Liabilities
- Liabilities
- Marshalling Of Assets And Liabilities
- Adjustments
- Depreciation
- Review Questions
- Further Readings

# INTRODUCTION

The transactions of a business enterprise for the accounting period are first recorded in the books of original entry, then posted there from into the ledger and lastly tested as to their arithmetical accuracy with the help of trial balance. After the preparation of the trial balance, every businessman is interested in knowing about two more facts. They are:

- (i) Whether he has earned a profit or suffered a loss during the period covered by the trial balance, and
- (ii) Where does he stand now? In other words, what is his financial position?

For the above said purposes, the businessman prepares financial statements for his business i.e. he prepares the Trading and Profit and Loss Account and Balance Sheet at the end of the accounting period. These financial statements are popularly known as final accounts. The preparation of financial statements depends upon whether the business concern is a trading concern or manufacturing concern. If the business concern is a trading concern, it has to prepare the following accounts along with the Balance Sheet: (i) Trading Account; and (ii) Profit and Loss Account.

Notes

But, if the business concern is a manufacturing concern, it has to prepare the following accounts along with the Balance Sheet:

- (i) Manufacturing Account;
- (ii) (ii) Trading Account; and
- (iii) Profit and Loss Account.

Trading Account is prepared to know the Gross Profit or Gross Loss. Profit and Loss Account discloses net profit or net loss of the business. Balance sheet shows the financial position of the business on a given date. For preparing final accounts, certain accounts representing incomes or expenses are closed either by transferring to Trading Account or Profit and Loss Account. Any Account which cannot find a place in any of these two accounts goes to the Balance Sheet.

# TRADING ACCOUNT

After the preparation of trial balance, the next step is to prepare Trading Account. Trading Account is one of the financial statements which show the result of buying and selling of goods and/or services during an accounting period. The main objective of preparing the Trading Account is to ascertain gross profit or gross loss during the accounting period. Gross Profit is said to have made when the sale proceeds exceed the cost of goods sold. Conversely, when sale proceeds are less than the cost of goods sold, gross loss is incurred. For the purpose of calculating cost of goods sold, we have take into consideration opening stock, purchases, direct expenses on purchasing or manufacturing the goods and closing stock. The balance of this account i.e. gross profit or gross loss is transferred to the Profit and Loss Account.

#### Stock

The term stock includes goods lying unsold on a particular date. The stock may be of two types:

- (a) Opening stock
- (b) Closing stock

Opening stock refers to the closing stock of unsold goods at the end of previous accounting period which has been brought forward in the current accounting period. This is shown on the debit side of the Trading Account.

Closing stock refers to the stock of unsold goods at the end of the current accounting period. Closing stock is valued either at cost price or at market price whichever is less. Such valuation of stock is based on the principle of conservatism which lays down that the expected profit should not be taken into account but all possible losses should be duly provided for.

Closing stock is an item which is not generally available in the trial balance. If it is given in Trial Balance, it is not to be shown on the credit side of Trading Account but appears only in the Balance Sheet as an

asset. But if it is given outside the trial balance, it is to be shown on the credit side of the Trading Account as well as on the asset side of the Balance Sheet.

Preparations of Profit and Loss Account and Balance Sheet

Notes

# **Purchases**

Purchases refer to those goods which have been bought for resale. It includes both cash and credit purchases of goods. The following items are shown by way of deduction from the amount of purchases:

- (a) Purchases Returns or Return Outwards.
- (b) Goods withdrawn by proprietor for his personal use.
- (c) Goods received on consignment basis or on approval basis or on hire purchase.
- (d) Goods distributed by way of free samples.
- (e) Goods given as charity.

# **Direct Expenses**

Direct expenses are those expenses which are directly attributable to the purchase of goods or to bring the goods in saleable condition. Some examples of direct expenses are as under:

- (a) Carriage Inward: Carriage paid for bringing the goods to the godown is treated as carriage inward and it is debited to Trading Account.
- **(b) Freight and insurance:** Freight and insurance paid for acquiring goods or making them saleable is debited to Trading Account. If it is paid for the sale of goods, then it is to be charged (debited) to Profit and Loss Account.
- (c) Wages: Wages incurred in a business is direct, when it is incurred on manufacturing or merchandise or on making it saleable. Other wages are indirect wages. Only direct wages are debited to the Trading Account. Other wages are debited to the Profit and Loss Account. If it is not mentioned whether wages are direct or indirect, it should be assumed as direct and should appear in the Trading Account.
- (d) Fuel, Power and Lighting Expenses: Fuel and power expenses are incurred for running the machines. Being directly related to production, these are considered as direct expenses and debited to Trading Account. Lighting expenses of factory is also charged to Trading Account, but lighting expenses of administrative office or sales office are charged to Profit and Loss Account.
- **Octroi:** When goods are purchased within municipality limits, generally octroi duty has to be paid on it. It is debited to Trading Account.
- **(f) Packing Charges:** There are certain types of goods which cannot be sold without a container or proper packing. These form a part of the finished product. One example is ink, which cannot be sold

Notes

- without a bottle. These type of packing charges are debited to Trading Account. But if the goods are packed for their safe despatch to customers, i.e. packing meant for transportation or fancy packing meant for advertisement will appear in the Profit and Loss Account.
- **Manufacturing Expenses:** All expenses incurred in manufacturing the goods in the factory such in factory rent, factory insurance etc. are debited to Trading Account.
- **(h) Royalties:** These are the payments made to a patentee, author or landlord for the right to use his patent, copyright or land. If royalty is paid on the basis of production, it is debited to Trading Account and if it is paid on the basis of sales, it is debited to Profit and Loss Account.

#### Sales

Sales include both cash and credit sales of those goods which were purchased for resale purposes. Some customers might return the goods sold to them (called sales return) which are deducted from the sales in the inner column and net amount is shown in the outer column. While ascertaining the amount of sales, the following points need attention:

- (a) If a fixed asset such as furniture, machinery etc. is sold, it should not be included in sales.
- (b) Goods sold on consignment or on hire purchase or on sale or return basis should be recorded separately.
- (c) If goods have been sold but not yet despatched, these should not be shown under sales but are to be included in closing stock.
- (d) Sales of goods on behalf of others and forward sales should also be excluded from sales.

# Closing entries for trading account

The journal entries necessary to transfer opening stock, purchases, sales and returns to the Trading Account are called closing entries, as they serve to close these accounts.

The concern which are engaged in the conversion of raw materials into finished goods, are interested to knowing the cost of production of the goods produced. The cost of the goods produced cannot be obtained from the Trading Account. So, it is desirable to prepare a Manufacturing Account prior to be preparation of the Trading account with the object of ascertaining the cost of goods produced during the accounting period.

The gross profit or loss shown by the Trading Account will be taken to the Profit and Loss Account which will be prepared in the usual way as explained in the following pages. Important Points Regarding Manufacturing Account.

#### **Raw Materials Consumed**

The cost of raw materials consumed to be included in the debit side of the Manufacturing Account shall be calculated as follows:

Preparations of Profit and Loss Account and Balance Sheet

Opening Stock of raw materials	
Add Purchases of raw materials	

Notes

# Manufacturing Account Trading Account

- 1. Manufacturing account is prepared to find out the cost of goods produced. Trading Account is prepared to find out the Gross Profit/Gross Loss.
- 2. The balance of the manufacturing Account is transferred to the Trading Account. The balance of the Trading account is transferred to the Profit and Loss Account.
- 3. Sale of crap is shown in the Manufacturing Account. Sale of scrap is not shown in the Trading Account.
- 4. Stocks of raw materials and work-in-Stocks of finished goods are shown

Less	Purchase	return	of raw	materials	••••

Less Closing stock of raw materials ......

Cost of raw material consumed

# **Direct Expenses**

The expenses and wages that are directly incurred in the process of manufacturing of goods are included under this head..

# **Factory Overheads**

The term overheads include indirect material, indirect labour and indirect expenses. Therefore, the term factory overheads stand for all factory indirect material, indirect labour and indirect expenses.

Examples of factory overheads are: rent for the factory, depreciation of the factory machines and insurance of the factory, etc.

#### **Cost of Production**

Cost of production is computed by deducting from the total of the debit side of the Manufacturing Account, the total of the various items appearing on the credit side of the Manufacturing Account.

Progress is shown in the Manufacturing Account. In the Trading Account.

5. Manufacturing Account is a part of the Trading account.

Trading Account is a part of the Profit and Loss Account.

Trading Account results in the gross profit/loss made by a businessman on purchasing and selling of goods. It does not take into consideration the other operating expenses incurred by him during the course of running the business. Besides this, a businessman may have other sources of income. In order to ascertain the true profit or loss which the business has made during a particular period, it is necessary that all such expenses and incomes should be considered. Profit and Loss Account

Notes

considers all such expenses and incomes and gives the net profit made or net loss suffered by a business during a particular period. All the indirect revenue expenses and losses are shown on the debit side of the Profit and Loss Account, where as all indirect revenue incomes are shown on the credit side of the Profit and Loss Account.

Profit and Loss Account measures net income by matching revenues and expenses according to the accounting principles. Net income is the difference between total revenues and total expenses. In this connection, we must remember that all the expenses, for the period are to be debited to this account - whether paid or not. If it is paid in advance or outstanding, proper adjustments are to be made (Discussed later). Likewise all revenues, whether received or not are to be credited. Revenue if received in advance or accrued but not received, proper adjustment is required.

# **Selling and Distribution Expenses**

These expenses are incurred for promoting sales and distribution of sold goods. Example of such expenses are godown rent, carriage outwards, advertisement, cost of after sales service, selling agents commission, etc.

#### **Management Expenses**

These are the expenses incurred for carrying out the day-to-day administration of a business. Expenses, under this head, include office salaries, office rent and lighting, printing and stationery and telegrams, telephone charges, etc.

#### **Maintenance Expenses**

These expenses are incurred for maintaining the fixed assets of the administrative office in a good condition. They include repairs and renewals, etc.

#### **Financial Expenses**

These expenses are incurred for arranging finance necessary for running the business. These include interest on loans, discount on bills, etc.

# **Abnormal Losses**

There are some abnormal losses that may occur during the accounting period. All types of abnormal losses are treated as extra ordinary expenses and debited to Profit and Loss Account. Examples are stock lost by fire and not covered by insurance, loss on sale of fixed assets, etc. Following are the expenses not to appear in the Profit and Loss Account:

- (i) Domestic and household expenses of proprietor or partners.
- (ii) Drawings in the form of cash, goods by the proprietor or partners.
- (iii) Personal income tax and life insurance premium paid by the firm on behalf of proprietor or partners.

#### **Gross Profit**

This is the balance of the Trading Account transferred to the Profit and Loss Account. If the Trading Account shows a gross loss, it will appear on the debit side.

#### **Other Income**

During the course of the business, other than income from the sale of goods, the business may have some other income of financial nature. The examples are discount or commission received.

Preparations of Profit and Loss Account and Balance Sheet

Notes

# **Non-trading Income**

Such incomes include interest on bank deposits, loans to employees and investment in debentures of companies. Similarly, dividend on investment in shares of companies and units of mutual funds are also known as non-trading incomes and shown in Profit and Loss Account.

#### **Abnormal Gains**

There may be capital gains arising during the course of the year, e.g., profit arising out of sale of a fixed asset. Such profit is shown as a separate income on the credit side of the Profit and Loss Account.

Closing entries for Profit and Loss account

(i) For transfer of various expenses to Profit & Loss A/c Profit and Loss A/c Dr.

To Various Expenses A/c

(Being various indirect expenses transferred to Profit and Loss Account)

(ii) For transfer of various incomes and gains to Profit & Loss A/c Various Incomes & Gains A/c Dr.

To Profit & Loss A/c

(Being various incomes & gains transferred to Profit and Loss Account)

(iii) (a) For Net Profit

Profit & Loss A/c Dr.

To Capital A/c

(Being Net Profit transferred to capital)

(b) For Net Loss

Capital A/c Dr

To Profit & Loss A/c

(Being Net Loss transferred to Capital Account)

Profit and Loss Account Trading Account prepared as a main account, part or section of the Profit and Loss Account.

2. Indirect expenses are taken in Profit and Loss Account.

Direct Expenses are taken in

#### **Trading Account.**

- Net Profit or Net Loss is ascertained from the Profit and Loss Account. Gross Profit or Gross Loss is ascertained from Trading Account
- 4. The balance of the Profit and Loss Account i.e. Net Profit or Net Loss is transferred to proprietor's Capital Account. The Balance of the Trading Account i.e. Gross Profit or Gross Loss is transferred to the Profit and Loss Account.
- 5. Items of accounts written in the Profit and Loss Account are much more as compared to the Trading Account. Items of

Notes

account written in the Trading Account are few as compared the Profit and Loss Account.

A Balance Sheet is a statement of financial position of a business concern at a given date. It is called a Balance Sheet because it is a sheet of balances of those ledger accounts which have not been closed till the preparation of Trading and Profit and Loss Account. After the preparation of Trading and Profit and Loss Account the balances left in the trial balance represent either personal or real accounts. In other words, they either represent assets or liabilities existing on a particular date. Excess of assets over liabilities represent the capital and is indicative of the financial soundness of a company. A Balance Sheet is Statement showing the Sources and Application of also described as a Capital. It is a statement and not an account and prepared from real and personal accounts. The left hand side of the balance Sheet may be viewed as description of the sources from which the business has obtained the capital with which it currently operates and the right hand side as a description of the form in which that capital is invested on a specified date.

# **Characteristics**

The characteristics of a Balance Sheet are summarised as under:

- (a) A Balance Sheet is only a statement and not an account. It has no debit side or credit side. The headings of the two sides are Assets and Liabilities.
- (b) A Balance Sheet is prepared at a particular point of time and not for a particular period. The information contained in the Balance Sheet is true only at that particular point of time at which it is prepared.
- (c) A Balance Sheet is a summary of balances of those ledger accounts which have not been closed by transfer to Trading and Profit and Loss Account.
- (d) A Balance Sheet shows the nature and value of assets and the nature and the amount of liabilities at a given date.

# Classification of assets and liabilities

#### Assets

Assets are the properties possessed by a business and the amount due to it from others. The various types of assets are:

#### (a) Fixed Assets

All assets that are acquired for the purpose of using them in the conduct of business operations and not for reselling to earn profit are called fixed assets. These assets are not readily convertible into cash in the normal course of business operations. Examples are land and building, furniture, machinery, etc.

# (b) Current Assets

All assets which are acquired for reselling during the course of business are to be treated as current assets. Examples are cash and bank balances, inventory, accounts receivables, etc.

Preparations of Profit and Loss Account and Balance Sheet

Notes

# (c) Tangible Assets

There are definite assets which can be seen, touched and have volume such as machinery, cash, stock, etc.

# (d) Intangible Assets

Those assets which cannot be seen, touched and have no volume but have value are called intangible assets. Goodwill, patents and trade marks are examples of such assets.

## (e) Fictitious Assets

Fictitious assets are not assets at all since they are not represented by any tangible possession. They appear on the asset side simply because of a debit balance in a particular account not yet written off e.g. provision for discount on creditors, discount on issue of shares etc.

# (f) Wasting Assets

Such assets as mines, quarries etc. that become exhausted or reduce in value by their working are called wasting assets.

# (g) Contingent Assets

Contingent assets come into existence upon the happening of a certain event or the expiry of a certain time. If that event happens, the asset becomes available otherwise not, for example, sale agreement to acquire some property, hire purchase contracts etc.

In practical no reference is made to contingent assets in the Balance Sheet. At the most, they may form part of notes to the Balance Sheet.

#### Liabilities

A liability is an amount which a business is legally bound to pay. It is a claim by an outsider on the assets of a business. The liabilities of a business concern may be classified as:

#### (a) Long Term Liabilities

The liabilities or obligations of a business which are not payable within the next accounting period but will be payable within next five to ten years are known as long term liabilities. Public deposits, debentures, bank loan are the examples of long term liabilities.

#### (b) Current Liabilities

All short term obligations generally due and payable within one year are current liabilities. This includes trade creditors, bills payable etc.

# (c) Contingent Liabilities

A contingent liability is one which is not an actual liability. They become actual on the happenings of some event which is uncertain. In other words, they would become liabilities in the future provided the contemplated event occurs. Since such a liability is not actual liability it

Notes

is not shown in the Balance Sheet. Usually it is mentioned in the form of a footnote below the Balance Sheet.

# Marshalling of assets and liabilities

The arrangement of assets and liabilities in a particular order is called marshalling of the Balance Sheet. Assets and liabilities can be arranged in the Balance Sheet into two ways:

- (a) In order of liquidity.
- (b) In order of permanence.

When assets and liabilities are arranged according to their reliability and payment preferences, such an order is called liquidity order. Such arrangement is given below in Balance Sheet (a). When the order is reversed from that what is followed in liquidity, it is called order of permanence. In other words, assets and liabilities are listed in order of permanence.

# **ADJUSTMENTS**

While preparing trading and Profit and Loss account one point that must be kept in mind is that expenses and incomes for the full trading period are to be taken into consideration. For example if an expense has been incurred but not paid during that period, liability for the unpaid amount should be created before the accounts can be said to show the profit or loss. All expenses and incomes should properly be adjusted through entries. These entries which are passed at the end of the accounting period are called adjusting entries. Some important adjustments which are to be made at the end of the accounting year are discussed in the following pages.

#### **Closing Stock**

This is the stock which remained unsold at the end of the accounting period. Unless it is considered while preparing the trading account, the gross profit shall not be correct. Adjusting entry for closing stock is as under:

Closing stock Account Dr.

To Trading account

(Being closing stock brought in to books)

Treatment in final accounts

- (i) Closing stock is shown on the credit side of Trading account.
- (ii) At same value it will be shown as an asset in the balance sheet.

#### **Outstanding Expenses**

Those expenses which have become due and have not been paid at the end of the accounting year, are called outstanding expenses. For example, the businessman has paid rent only for 4 months instead of one year. This means 8 months rent is outstanding. In order to bring this fact into books of accounts, the following adjustment entry will be passed at the end of the year:

Rent A/c Dr.

To outstanding Rent A/c

(Being rent outstanding for 8 months)

The two fold effect of the above adjustment will be (i) the amount of outstanding rent will be added to the rent on the debit side of Profit and Loss Account, and (ii) outstanding rent will be shown on the liability side of the Balance Sheet.

# **Prepaid Expenses**

There are certain expenses which have been paid in advance or paid for the future period which is not yet over or not yet expired. The benefit of such expenses is to be enjoyed during the next accounting period. Since, such expenses have already been paid, they have also recorded in the books of account of that period for which they do not relate. For example, insurance premium paid for one year Rs.3,600 on 1<sup>st</sup> July, 1996. The final accounts are prepared on 31st March, 1997. The benefit of the insurance premium for the period from 1<sup>st</sup> April to 30<sup>th</sup> June, 1997 is yet to expire. Therefore, the insurance premium paid for the period from 1<sup>st</sup> April 1997 to 30<sup>th</sup> June, 1997, i.e. for 3 months, shall be treated as Prepaid Insurance Premium .

The adjustment entry for prepaid expenses is as under:

Prepaid Expenses Account Dr

To Expenses Account

(Being the adjustment entry for prepaid expenses)

The amount of prepared expenses will appear as an asset in the Balance Sheet while amount of appropriate expense account will be shown in the Profit and Loss Account by way of deduction from the said expense.

#### **Accrued Income**

Accrued income means income which has been earned during the current accounting year and has become due but not received by the end of the current accounting period. Examples of such income are income from investments, dividend on shares etc. The adjustment entry for accrued income is as under:

Accrued Income A/c Dr.

To Income A/c

(Being the adjustment entry for accrued income)

# Treatment in final accounts

- i) The amount of accrued income is added to the relevant item of income on the credit side of the Profit and Loss Account to increase the amount of income for the current year.
- ii) The amount of accrued income is a debt due from a third party to the business, so it is shown on the assets side of the Balance Sheet.

# **Income Received in Advance**

Income received but not earned during the current accounting year is called as income received in advance. For example, if building has been

Preparations of Profit and Loss Account and Balance Sheet

Notes

Notes

given to a tenant on Rs.2,400 p.a. but during the year Rs.3,000 has been received, then Rs.600 will be income received in advance. In order to bring this into books of account, the following adjusting entry will be made at the end of the accounting year:

Rent A/c Dr. Rs.600

To Rent Received in Advance A/c Rs.600

The two-fold effect of this adjustment will be:

- (i) It is shown on the credit side of Profit and Loss account by way of deduction from the income, and
- (ii) It is shown on the liabilities side of the Balance Sheet as income received in advance.

# **Depreciation**

Depreciation is the reduction in the value of fixed asset due to its use, wear and tear or obsolescence. When an asset is used for earning purposes, it is necessary that reduction due to its use, must be charged to the Profit and Loss account of that year in order to show correct profit or loss and to show the asset at its correct value in the Balance Sheet. There are various methods of charging depreciation on fixed assets. Suppose machinery for Rs.10,000 is purchased on 1.1.98, 20% p.a. is the rate of depreciation. Then Rs.2,000 will be depreciation for the year 1998 and will be brought into account by passing the following adjusting entry:

Depreciation A/c Dr. Rs. 2,000

To Machinery A/c Rs.2,000

The two-fold effect of depreciation will be:

- (i) Depreciation is shown on the debit side of Profit and Loss Account, and
- (ii) It is shown on the asset side of the balance sheet by way of deduction from the value of concerned asset.

#### **Interest on Capital**

The amount of capital invested by the trader in his business is just like a loan by the firm. Charging interest on capital is based on the argument that if the same amount of capital were invested in some securities elsewhere, the businessman would have received interest thereon. Such interest on capital is not actually paid to the businessman. Interest on capital is a gain to the businessman because it increases its capital, but it is a loss to the business concern.

#### **Calculation of Interest on Capital**

Interest is calculated on the opening balance of the capital at the given rate for the full accounting period. If some additional amount of capital has been brought in the business during the course of accounting period, interest on such additional amount of capital is calculated from the date of introduction to the end of the accounting period. The following

adjustment entry is passed for allowing interest on capital: Interest on Capital Account Dr.

To Capital Account

(Being the adjustment entry for interest on capital)

**Treatment in final accounts** 

- (i) Interest allowed on capital is an expense for the business and is debited to Profit and Loss Account, i.e. it is shown on the debit side of the Profit and Loss Account.
- (ii) Such interest is not actually paid in cash to the businessman but added to his capital account. Hence, it is shown as an addition to capital on the liabilities side of the Balance Sheet.

# **Interest of Drawings**

It interest on capital is allowed, it is but natural that interest on drawings should be charged from the proprietor, as drawings reduce capital. Suppose during an accounting year, drawings are Rs.10,000 and interest on drawings is Rs.500. In order to bring this into account, the following entry will be passed:

Drawings A/c Dr. Rs.500

To Interest on Drawings A/c Rs.500

The two-fold effect of interest on drawings will be:

- (i) Interest on drawings will be shown on the credit side of Profit and Loss Account, and
- (ii) Shown on the liabilities side of the Balance Sheet by way of addition to the drawings which are ultimately deducted from the capital.

# **Bad Debts**

Debts which cannot be recovered or become irrecoverable are called bad debts. It is a loss for the business. Such a loss is recorded in the books by making following adjustment entry:

Bad Debts A/c Dr.

To Sundry Debtors A/c

(Being the adjustment entry for bad debts)

# Treatment in final accounts

The profit and Loss Account is debited with the amount of bad debts and in the Balance Sheet, the Sundry Debtors balance will be reduced by the same amount in the assets side.

# **Provisions for Doubtful Debts**

In addition to the actual bad debts, a business unit may find on the last day of the accounting period that certain debts are doubtful, i.e., the amount to be received from debtors may or may not be received. The amount of doubtful debts is calculated either by carefully examining the position of each debtor individually and summing up the amount of doubtful debts from various debtors or it may be computed (as is usually done) on the basis of some percentage (say 5%) of debtors at the end of

Preparations of Profit and Loss Account and Balance Sheet

Notes

Notes

the accounting period. The percentage to be adopted is usually based upon the past experience of the business. The reasons for making provision for doubtful debts are two as discussed below:

- (i) Loss caused by likely bad debts must be charged to the Profit and Loss of the period for which credit sales have been made to ascertain correct profit of the period.
- (ii) For showing the true position of realisable amount of debtors in the Balance Sheet, i.e., provision for doubtful debts will be deducted from the amount of debtors to be shown in the balance sheet. For example, sundry debtors on 31.12.1998 are Rs.55,200. Further bad debts are Rs.200. Provision for doubtful debts @ 5% is to be made on debtors. In order to bring the provision for doubtful debts of Rs.2,750, i.e., 5% on Rs.55,000 (55,200-200), the following entry will be made:

Profit and Loss A/c Dr. Rs.2,750

To Provision for Doubtful Debts A/c Rs.2.750

(Being Provision for Doubtful Debts provided)

It may be carefully noted that further bad debts (if any) will be first deducted from debtors and then a fixed percentage will be applied on the remaining debtors left after deducting further debts. It is so because percentage is for likely bad debts and not for bad debts which have been decided to be written off.

#### Treatment in final accounts

- (i) The amount of provision for doubtful debts is a provision against a possible loss so it should be debited to Profit and Loss account.
- (ii) The amount of provision for doubtful debts is deducted from sundry debtors on the assets side of the balance sheet.

#### **Provision for Discount on Debtors**

It is a normal practice in business to allow discount to customers for prompt payment and it constitutes a substantial sum. Sometimes the goods are sold on credit to customers in one accounting period whereas the payment of the same is received in the next accounting period and discount is to be allowed. It is a prudent policy to charge this expenditure (discount allowed) to the period in which sales have been made, so a provision is created in the same manner, as in case of provision for doubtful debts i.e.

Profit and loss account Dr.

To provision for discount on debtors account

(Being provision for discount on debtors provided)

#### Treatment in final accounts

- (i) Provision for discount on debtors is a probable loss, so it should be shown on the debit side of Profit and Loss account.
- (ii) Amount of provision for discount on debtors is deducted from sundry debtors on the assets side of the Balance Sheet.

Note: Such provision is made on debtors after deduction of further bad debts and provision for doubtful debts because discount is allowable to debtors who intend to make the payment.

Preparations of Profit and Loss Account and Balance Sheet

Notes

#### **Reserve for Discount on Creditors**

Prompt payments to creditors enable a businessman to earn discount from them. When a businessman receives cash discount regularly, he can make a provision for such discount since he is likely to receive the discount from his creditors in the following years also. The discount received being a profit, the provision for discount on creditors amounts to an addition to the profit.

Accounting treatment of Reserve for Discount on Creditors is just reverse of that in the case of Provision for Discount on Debtors. The adjustment entries for Reserve for Discount on Creditors is as follows:

Reserve for Discount on Creditors Account Dr.

To Profit and Loss Account

(Being the adjustment entry for discount on creditors)

Treatment in final accounts

- Reserve for discount on creditors is shown on the credit side of Profit and Loss account.
- ii) In the liabilities side of the Balance Sheet, the reserve for discount on creditors is shown by way of deductions from Sundry Creditors.

#### Loss of Stock by Fire

In business, the loss of stock may occur due to fire. The position of the stock may be:

- (a) all the stock is fully insured.
- (b) the stock is partly insured.
- (c) the stock is not insured at all.

It the stock is fully insured, the whole loss will be claimed from the insurance company. The following entry will be passed:

Insurance Co. A/c Dr.

To Trading A/c

(Being the adjustment entry for Loss of goods charged from insurance Co.)

The value of goods lost by fire shall be shown on the credit side of the trading Account and this is shown as an asset in the Balance Sheet.

If the stock is not fully insured, the loss of stock covered by insurance policy will be claimed from the insurance company and the rest of the amount will be loss for the business which is chargeable to Profit and Loss Account. In this case, the following entry will be passed:

Insurance Co. A/c Dr.

Profit and Loss A/c Dr.

To Trading A/c

(Being the adjustment entry for Loss of goods)

Notes

The amount of goods lost by fire is credited to Trading Account, the amount of claim accepted by insurance company shall be treated as an asset in the Balance Sheet, while the amount of claim not accepted is a loss so it will be debited to Profit and Loss Account.

If the stock is not insured at all, the whole of the loss will be borne by the business and the adjusting entry shall be:

Profit and Loss A/c Dr.

To Trading A/c

(Being the adjustment entry for Loss of goods)

The double effect of this entry will be (a) it is shown on the credit side of the Trading Account (b) it is shown on the debit side of the Profit and Loss Account.

#### **Manager s Commission**

Sometimes, in order to increase the profits of the business, manager is given some commission on profits of the business. It can be given at a certain percentage on the net profits but before charging such commission or on the net profits after charging such commission. In both the cases, the adjustment entry will be:

Profit and Loss A/c Dr.

To Commission Payable A/c

(Being the adjustment entry for manager s commission)

Treatment in final accounts

- (i) The amount of managers commission being a business expenditure is shown on the debit side of the Profit and Loss account.
- (ii) As the commission to manager has not been paid so far, commission payable would be shown as liability on the liability side of balance sheet.

Every businessman is interested in knowing about two facts i.e. whether he has earned a profit or suffered losses and what is his financial position. To fulfill above said purposes, the businessman prepares financial statements for his business i.e. trading A/c, Profit & Loss Account and Balance Sheet. Trading Account shows the result of buying and selling of goods/services during an accounting period. Profit & Loss Account considers all the indirect revenue expenses and losses and all indirect revenue incomes. If indirect revenue income exceeds indirect expenses and cases, it is called net loss. Balance sheet is a statement of financial position of a business concern at a given date. The left hand side of the balance sheet shows the liabilities and right hand the assets of the business.

#### **KEYWORDS**

**Outstanding Expenses:** An expense which has been incurred in an accounting period but for which no enforceable claim has became in that period.

**Prepaid Expenses:** Expenses which has not incurred but paid in advance. **Amortisation:** The gradual and systematic writing off of an asset or an account over an appropriate period.

Preparations of Profit and Loss Account and Balance Sheet

Notes

**Assets:** Tangible objects or intangible rights owned by an enterprise. **Bad-debt:** Debts owed to an enterprise which is considered to be irrecoverable.

**Balance Sheet:** A statement of the financial position of an enterprise as at a given date.

Contingent Liability: An obligation relating to an existing condition which may arise or not.

**Cost of Goods Sold:** The cost of goods sold includes opening stock + net purchases + direct expenses.

**Provision:** An amount retained by way of providing for any known liability which cannot be determined with substantial accuracy.

**Reserve:** The portion of earnings appropriated by the management for a general or specific purpose.

# **REVIEW QUESTIONS**

- 1. Distinguish between Trading Account and Profit and Loss Account. Give a specimen of Trading and Profit and Loss Account with imaginary figures.
- 2. What is a Balance Sheet? What do you understand by Marshalling used in the balance Sheet? Illustrate the different forms of marshalling.
- 3. What are closing entries? Give the closing entries which are passed at the end of the accounting period.
- 4. What are adjustment entries? Why are these necessary for preparing final account.
- 5. Prepare a Trading Account of a businessman for the year ending 31st December, 2006 from the following data:

Rs.

Stock on 1.1.1996 2,40,000

Cash purchases for the year 2,08,000

Credit purchases for the year 4, 00,000

Cash sales for the year 3,50,000

Credit sales for the year 6,00,000

Purchases returns during the year 8,000

Sales returns during the year 10,000

Direct expenses incurred:

Freight 10,000

Carriage 2,000

Import Duty 8,000

Clearing Charges 12,000

Cost of goods distributed as free samples during the year

Notes

Goods withdrawn by the trader for personal 5,000 2,000 use

Stock damaged by fire during the year

13,000

The cost of unsold stock on 31st December, 2006 was Rs.1,20,000 but its market value was Rs.1,50,000.

# **FURTHER READINGS**

- 1. Principles of Accounting-Belverd E. Needles, Marian Powers, Susan V. Crosson 2013 Preview More editions
- 2. Principles of Accounting- P. Hosein
- 3. Principles of Accounting-Gaylord N. Smith
- 4. Principles of Accounting-Donatila Agtarap-San Juan
- 5. Principles of Accounting-Harry Anson Finney

# UNIT-7 RECTIFICATION OF ERRORS

Rectification of Errors

Notes

### **CONTENTS**

- **❖** Introduction
- Classification of Errors
- Errors of Commission
- Location of Errors
- Errors Which Affect the Agreement of Trial Balance
- \* Rectification of Errors
- Stages of Rectification of Errors
- ❖ Rectification of Errors after the Preparation of Final Accounts
- Effect of Errors on Final Accounts
- Review Questions
- Further Readings

#### INTRODUCTION

Every concern is interested in ascertaining its true profit/loss and financial position at the close of the trading year. The effort of the accountant is to prepare the final accounts in such a fashion which exhibits true picture of the business. The basic information for the preparation of final accounts is supplied by the trial balance. Thus, the accuracy of the trial balance determines to a great extent the accuracy or otherwise of the information provided by final accounts. However, the trial balance is prepared to ensure the arithmetical accuracy of the records of a business and also to ensure that for every debit entry a credit of an equal amount has been recorded. Thus, a trial balance in which the total of the debits does not equal the total of credits can be taken as an evidence for the existence of some errors in the records. On the other hand, a trial balance in which the total of the debits equal the total of credits is not a conclusive proof of accuracy of the records. Certain errors may not affect the agreement of a trial balance as the erroneous entries may not violate the dual aspect concept. It means that even if the trial balance agrees, steps should be taken to ensure that the records are free from errors. It, therefore, becomes utmost important to locate such errors and rectify them so that the correct financial position of the concern may be ascertained. So whenever errors in accounting records come to notice, they should be rectified without waiting till the end of the accounting year when trial balance is to be prepared. The objectives of rectification of errors are as follows:

Notes

a) Presenting correct accounting records;

b) Ascertaining correct profit or loss for the accounting period; and

c) Exhibiting a true financial position of the concern on a particular date.

#### **CLASSIFICATION OF ERRORS**

The errors can be classified as follows:

- Clerical Errors
- Errors of Principle

#### Clerical errors

Clerical errors are those errors which are committed by the clerical staff during the course of recording the business transactions in the books of accounts. These errors are:

- a) Errors of omission
- b) Errors of commission
- c) Compensating errors
- a) Errors of Omission

When a transaction is either wholly or partially not recorded in the books of accounts, it is an error of omission. When a transaction is omitted completely, it is called complete error of omission and when a transaction is partly omitted, it is called a partial error of omission. A complete error of omission does not affect the agreement of trial balance whereas partial error of omission may or may not affect the agreement of trial balance. For example, Rs. 100 paid to Ram is neither recorded in the cash book nor in the account of Ram, this error will not affect the agreement of trial balance. Only the total of the trial balance would be short by Rs. 100. But if posting is not done in one of the accounts, this will affect the agreement of trial balance.

#### **Errors of Commission**

Errors of commission take place when some transactions are incorrectly recorded in the books of accounts. Such errors include errors on account of wrong balancing of an account, wrong posting, wrong totalling, wrong carry forwards, etc. For example, if a sum of Rs. 255 received from Hari is credited to his account as Rs. 525, this is an error of commission. Similarly, if a sum of Rs. 500 paid to Suresh is credited to Sohan s account such an error is an error of commission. Some of the errors of commission affect the agreement of trial balance whereas others do not. Errors affecting the agreement of trial balance can be easily revealed by preparing a trial balance.

# **Compensating Errors**

These errors, also called self-balancing or equalising errors, are a group of errors, the total effect of which is not reflected in the trial balance. These errors are of a neutralizing nature. One error is

compensated by the other error or by errors of an opposite nature. For example, Amitabh's account is credited with Rs. 500 instead of Rs. 600; Abhijit's account credited with Rs. 160 instead of Rs. 100 and Jaya's account credited with Rs. 150 instead of Rs. 110. Here the first error of under-credit of Rs. 100 is covered by second and third errors of overcredit of Rs. 60 and Rs. 40 respectively.

Rectification of Errors

Notes

# **Errors of Principle**

When a transaction is recorded against the fundamental principles of accounting, it is an error of principle. These errors arise because of the failure to differentiate capital and revenue items i.e. a capital expenditure is taken as a revenue expenditure or vice-versa. Similarly, a capital receipt may have been taken as a revenue receipt or vice-versa. For example, a sum of Rs. 50 paid on the repairs of furniture should be debited to repairs account, but if it is debited to the furniture account, it will be termed as an error of principle. Repair of furniture is revenue expenditure. If it is debited to furniture account, it has been taken as a capital expenditure. Such errors do not affect the agreement of the trial balance because they are correctly recorded so far as the debit or credit side of the wrong class of account is concerned. It would be appreciated that such an error arises through lack of knowledge of principles of accountancy.

#### LOCATION OF ERRORS

The location of errors of omissions, compensations and principles are slightly difficult because of the fact that such errors do not affect the agreement of trial balance. However, the locations of some errors of commission are comparatively easier because they affect the agreement of the trial balance. Thus, the errors can be classified into two categories from the point of view of locating them:

#### Errors which do not affect the agreement of Trial Balance

As stated, errors of omission, errors of compensating nature and errors of principle do not affect the agreement of the trial balance. Their location is, therefore, a difficult task. These are usually found out when the statements of accounts are sent to the customers or received by the business or during the course of audit and sometimes by chance. For example, if a credit sale of Rs. 2000 to Suresh has not been recorded in the books of accounts, the error will not affect the agreement of the trial balance and therefore, at the time of finalizing the accounts it may not be traced out. However, this will be found out when a statement of account is received from Suresh showing the money payable by him or when a statement of account is sent to Suresh showing the money due from him.

# Errors which affect the agreement of Trial balance

The errors which cause a mismatch in the trial balance totals are frequently referred to as errors disclosed by a trial balance. However, the

Notes

mismatch does not automatically point out the actual errors. It is only the diligence and ingenuity of the person preparing the accounts which would help in the location of errors. The procedure to be followed for location of such errors can be put as follows:

- i) The totals of the trial balance itself should be thoroughly rechecked in order to find out exact or correct difference.
- ii) Make sure that the balances of cash and banks are included.
- iii) The difference of the two sides of the trial balance should be found and be divided by two and then find out whether a figure equal to the same (i.e. half the difference) appears in the trial balance. This procedure would enable to locate the amount placed on the wrong side.
- iv) If the error remains undetected, divide the exact difference by 9. If it is divisible by 9, this will mean that there may be transposition error or slide error. A transposition error is committed when the digit of an amount is misplaced. For example, machinery account has a balance of Rs. 5689, but it has been written as Rs. 5869 in the trial balance. The resulting error is Rs. 180, which is divisible by 9. A slide error is committed when the decimal point is placed incorrectly. For example, Rs. 3670 is copied as Rs. 36.70. The resulting error is Rs. 3633.30 which is also divisible by 9.
- v) See that there is no mistake in balancing of the various accounts.
- vi) The schedules of debtors and creditors should be scrutinised so as to find out that all the debtors and creditors have been included in these schedules; their totals are correct.
- vii) If the difference is of a substantial amount, compare the figures of trial balance of the current year with the trial balance of the preceding year and see whether there is any abnormal difference between the balances of important accounts of the two trial balances.
- viii) The total of subsidiary books should be checked and it should be seen whether posting has been done from these books correctly to respective accounts in the ledger or not.
- ix) It should be checked that opening balances have been correctly brought forward in the current year s books.
- x) If the difference is still not traced, check thoroughly the books of original entry and their posting into the ledger and finally the balancing of various accounts.
- xi) If the error still remains undetected, repeat the above steps with the help of other members of the staff, who are not involved in maintaining the books of accounts.

#### RECTIFICATION OF ERRORS

From the point of view of rectification of errors, these can be divided into two groups:

Rectification of Errors

Notes

- a) Errors affecting one account only.
- b) Errors affecting two or more accounts.

#### **Errors affecting One Account**

The following errors affect only one account:

- (a) Errors of posting
- (b) Carry forward
- (c) Balancing
- (d) Omission from trial balance
- (e) Casting

Such errors should first of all be located and rectified. These are rectified either with the help of journal entry or by giving an explanatory notes in the account concerned and not by simply crossing the wrong amount and inserting the right one.

#### Errors affecting two or more accounts

The following errors affect two or more accounts:

- (a) Errors of omission
- (b) Posting to wrong account
- (c) Principles

As there errors affect two or more accounts, rectification of such errors is done with the help of a journal entry.

#### STAGES OF RECTIFICATION OF ERRORS

All types of errors can be rectified at two stages:

- i) Before the Preparation of Final Accounts.
- ii) After the Preparation of Final Accounts.

Rectification of errors before the preparation of final accounts

If the error is located before the preparation of final accounts, it is either rectified by recording or posting the necessary amount in the respective account or by recording the necessary journal entry to rectify that error. If the error is one sided, it can be rectified by recording or posting the necessary amount in that account. If it is two sided, the necessary journal entry is recorded.

#### a) Rectification of One sided errors

These are the errors which affect one account and will affect the agreement of trial balance. Such errors are rectified by debiting or crediting the affected account in the ledger. For example:

i) Purchase Book has been undercast by Rs. 2,000. The error is only in purchases account. If Rs. 2000 is now posted in the debit side of purchase account as To undercasting of Purchase Book, the error will be rectified.

Notes

ii) Amount of Rs. 1000 paid to Hari not debited to his personal account.

This error is affecting the personal account of Hari and its debit side is less by Rs. 1000 because of omission to post the amount paid. We shall now write on the debit side of Hari Account as To Cash (omitted to be posted) Rs. 1000 to rectify this error.

iii) Goods sold to Khan wrongly debited in Sales account:

This error is affecting the sales account only as the amount which should have been posted on the credit side has been wrongly placed on the debit side of the same account. By putting double the amount of transaction on the credit side of sales account by writing By sales to Khan wrongly debited previously, this error shall be rectified.

#### b) Rectification of two sided errors

As these errors affect two or more accounts, rectification of such errors can often be done with the help of a journal entry. These type of errors do not affect the agreement of trial balance. For example, if furniture purchased has been recorded through purchase book, two accounts viz. purchases account and furniture account are affected.

Thus, rectification will be made by taking these two accounts. When such errors are to be rectified, the following procedure should be followed:

1. What has been done? The journal entry which has been recorded:

Purchase Account Dr.

Incorrect entry

To Supplier s Account

2. What should have been done? The correct entry which was to be recorded:

Furniture Account Dr.

To Supplier s Accounts

Correct entry

3. What should now be done? The rectifying entry which is now to be recorded:

Furniture Account Dr. Journal entry relating to

To Purchases Accountrectification of an error

# Rectification of errors after the preparation of final accounts

The rectification of errors after the preparation of final accounts depends upon the nature of error. If an error is a one sided error, it can be corrected by passing a rectifying entry with the help of the Suspense Account and if the error is two sided, it is rectified by passing a rectifying entry in both the affected accounts and such errors are not rectified through Suspense Account.

#### Suspense account

In case, the accountant is not in a position to locate the difference in the totals of the trial balance and he is in a hurry to close the books of accounts, he may transfer the difference to an account known as Suspense Account. After transferring the difference, the trial balance is totalled and balanced. On locating the errors in the beginning or during the course of next year, suitable accounting entries are passed and the Suspense Account is closed. However, the Suspense Account should be opened only when the accountant has failed to locate the errors in spite of his best efforts. It should not be by way of a normal practice, because the very existence of the Suspense Account creates doubt about the authenticity of the books of accounts.

#### a) Rectification of one sided errors

It may be noted that one sided errors affect the agreement of trial balance. Hence, one sided errors are rectified through the Suspense Account. For example:

i) An item of Rs. 68 was posted as Rs. 86 in the sales account In this case, the sales account has been credited by Rs. 86 instead of Rs. 68, so the entry with the help of Suspense Account shall be as follows:

Rs. Rs.

Sales A/C Dr. 18 To Suspense A/C 18

(Being Sales account wrongly credited with Rs. 86 instead of Rs. 68, now corrected)

ii) The total of purchase book has been taken Rs. 9 short.

In this case, the purchase book has been undercast by Rs. 9 so we should further debit the purchase account by Rs. 9.

Rs. Rs.

Purchases A/CDr. 9
To Suspense A/C 9

(Being total of purchase book now corrected)

iii) A sum of Rs. 102 written off as depreciation on furniture has not been posted to depreciation account.

In this case, depreciation account has not been debited, so the entry shall be:

Rs. Rs.

Depreciation A/C Dr. 102

To Suspense A/C 102

(Being depreciation on furniture not posted previously now posted)

#### b) Rectification of two sided errors

As already stated, two sided errors do not affect the agreement of trial balance. These errors are rectified by means of journal entries in the affected account. Two sided errors may be located and rectified either

Rectification of Frrors

Notes

Notes

before the preparation of final accounts or after the preparation of final accounts, the procedure is the same.

#### EFFECT OF ERRORS ON FINAL ACCOUNTS

It is desirable to know the effect of errors on the final accounts i.e. on the Trading and Profit and Loss Account and the Balance Sheet. Some of the errors affect the Trading and Profit and Loss Account while others affect the Balance Sheet. How these two statements will be affected depends upon the nature of the accounts in which the error lies. If the error affects the nominal account/accounts it will increase or decrease the profit because all nominal accounts are transferred to Trading and Profit and Loss Account. In this regard, the following points are to be noted:

1.Profit will increase or loss will reduce if a transaction is omitted to be posted to the debit side of a nominal account. On rectification of such a type of error, profit will decrease or loss will increase. For example salary paid to an employee is wrongly posted to his personal account and consequently salary paid is omitted to be posted to Salary Account. This error will increase the profit or reduce the loss because salary paid will not be transferred to Profit and Loss Account. At the time of the rectification of error, Salary Account will be debited and consequent thereupon, profit will decrease or loss will increase.

2.Similarly, profits will reduce or loss will increase if a nominal account is wrongly debited. With the rectification of such an error, profit will increase or loss will decrease. For example, an amount of Rs. 2000 spent on erection of machinery wrongly debited to Repairs Account instead of Machinery Account will reduce net profit by Rs. 2000 On rectification of this error, Machinery Account will be given debit and Repairs Account will be credited and consequently profit will increase or loss will decrease.

3.Profit will increase or loss will decrease if a nominal account is wrongly credited. With the rectification of this type of error, profit will decrease or loss will increase. For example, if Rs. 5000 received on account of sale of old furniture was posted to Sales Account instead of Furniture Account, the error will increase profit or decrease loss because sales will be shown at an increased amount of RS. 5000 on the credit side of the Trading and Profit and Loss Account. At the time of the rectification of error, Sales Account will be given debit. As a result, profit will decrease or loss will increase.

4. Profit will decrease or loss will increase if an item is omitted to be posted to the credit side of a nominal account. With the rectification of the error, profit will increase or loss will decrease. For example, interest on debentures of Rs. 2,000, received is omitted to be posted to the credit side of the Interest on Debentures Account. This error will decrease profit or increase loss because interest on debentures received will not be transferred to the credit side of the Profit and Loss Account as an item of

income. At the time of the rectification of the error, Interest on Debentures Account will be given a credit and, as a result, profit will increase or loss will decrease.

Rectification of Errors

Notes

5. Due to increase or decrease in profit/loss by the errors in nominal accounts, the Capital Account will also, be increased or decreased. Thus, the errors in nominal accounts will also affect the

Balance Sheet because the Capital Account is shown on the liability side of the Balance Sheet. So, an error in a nominal account will affect both the Profit and Loss Account and the Balance Sheet.

6.If there is an error in the personal accounts of the debtors or creditors of the business concern their respective accounts will be increased or decreased. This will have its effect on the Balance Sheet only because debtors and creditors are shown in the Balance Sheet as Assets and Liabilities respectively. Similarly, if an error is in a real account, such as Plant and Machinery Account, Cash Account, Land and Building Account, the Balance Sheet alone will be affected because assets are shown in the Balance Sheet only.

Total balance in which the total of the debits equal the total of credits is not a conclusive proof of accuracy of the records. Certain errors may not affect the agreement of a trial balance as the errorneous entries may not violate the dual aspect concept. It, therefore, becomes utmost important to locate such errors and rectify them so that the true financial position of the business may be ascertained. So whenever errors in accounting records come to notice, they should be rectified. The errors can be clerical errors or errors of principle. The clerical errors are those errors which are committed by the clerical staff during the course of recording the business transactions in the books of accounts, e.g., errors of omission, errors of commission and compensating errors. Error of principle includes those transactions which are recorded against the fundamental principles of accounting. Suspense account is opened when the accountant is not in a position to locate the differences in the totals of the Trial Balance. It should not be by way of a normal practice, because the very existence of the suspense Account create doubt about the authenticity of the books of accounts.

#### **KEYWORDS**

Trial Balance: A statement which is prepared to check the arithmetical mistakes in the accounting system.

Rectifying Entry: A journal entry which is passed to remove the effect of errors.

Two-sided Errors: Errors which affects two accounts simultaneously.

One-sided Errors: Errors which affects only one account.

Suspense Account: An account created to balance the total of Trial Balance.

Notes

## **REVIEW QUESTIONS**

- 1. What are the various kinds of errors? Which of these affect the agreement of trial balance?
- 2. What is suspense account? How is it prepared?
- 3. Is the agreement of trial balance a conclusive proof of the accuracy of the books of accounts? Discuss.
- 4. State which of the following errors will affect the agreement of the Trial Balance and which will not. Give rectifying journal entries wherever relevant assuming the difference in Trial Balance has been placed to Suspense Account.
- i) Purchase of a second-hand Motor Car for Rs. 15,000 has been debited to Motor Car Maintenance Account.
- ii) A sale of Rs. 5,000 to Shriram has been wrongly entered in the Sales Day Book Rs. 500.
- iii) An entry in the Purchases Returns Book of Rs. 2,000 has been omitted to be posted in the account of Shri Ramji, the supplier.
- iv) An amount of RS. 2,000 received from Shrikant has been posted to the credit of Shriman as Rs. 200.
- v) The total of the Sales Day Book for the month of July Rs. 1,50,000 has been omitted to be posted in the ledger.
- 5. Messers Modern Chemicals were unable to agree the Trial Balance on 30th June 2006 and have raised a Suspense Account for the difference. Later the following errors were discovered and rectified and the Suspense Account was balanced.
- a) The addition of the Sundry Purchases column in the Tabular Purchases Journal was short by Rs. 150 and other totals were in order.
- b) A Bill of Exchange (received from Gupta) for Rs. 2,000 had been returned by the Bank as dishonoured and had been credited to the Bank and debited to Bills Receivable Account.
- c) Goods of the value of Rs. 105 returned by the customer, Thomas had been posted to the debit of Thomas and also to the Sales Returns.
- d) Sundry items of Furniture sold Rs. 3,000 had been entered in the Sales Day Book, the total of which had been posted to Sales Account.
- e) An amount of Rs. 600 due from Vaz, a customer, had been omitted from the Schedule of Sundry Debtors.
- f) Discount amounting to Rs. 30 allowed to a customer had been dully posted in his account, but not posted to Discount Account.
- g) Insurance premium of Rs. 450 paid on 30th June, 2006 for the year ended 30th June 2006 had not been brought forward.

You are requested to (i) pass Journal Entries to rectify the above mistakes; (ii) draw up the Suspense Account after rectifying the above

mistakes; and (iii) explain how the above errors affect the book profits for the year ended 30th June, 2006.

Rectification of Frrors

Notes

- 6. The following errors are detected in the books of Pradeep Kumar. Pass necessary journal entries for their rectification.
- i) Rs. 400 paid on account of the tuition fee of the proprietor s daughter, Miss Reena, has been debited to General Expenses Account.
- ii) Rs. 1,450 paid as Salary to a clerk posted as Rs. 1,250 to the Salary Account.
- iii) An item of Rs. 750 for goods sold to Aruna debited to Kruna.
- iv) Rs. 2,000 received in respect of bad debts but posted as Cash sales.
- v) Discount Rs. 50 allowed by Rajesh omitted to be entered in the discount column of the Cash Book.
- vi) Rs. 200 received as commission, debited to Commission Account.
- vii) A credit purchase of Rs. 375 from Mohit and Co. Has been entered in Purchases Book but the payment subsequently made to them has been debited to their personal account.

#### **FURTHER READINGS**

- 1. Principles of Accounting-Belverd E. Needles, Marian Powers, Susan V. Crosson 2013 Preview More editions
- 2. Principles of Accounting-P. Hosein
- 3. Principles of Accounting-Gaylord N. Smith
- 4. Principles of Accounting-Donatila Agtarap-San Juan
- 5. Principles of Accounting-Harry Anson Finney

Notes

# UNIT -8 ACCOUNTING OF NEGOTIABLE INSTRUMENTS

# **CONTENTS**

- Introduction
- Bill of Exchange
- Cheque and Hundis
- ❖ Some Important Terms
- **❖** Accounting Treatment
- Noting Charges
- Review Questions
- Further Readings

#### INTRODUCTION

Business transactions are either cash transactions or credit transactions. In cash transactions, goods are sold and transferred to the purchaser by the seller for immediate cash payment. In other words, the claim of the seller of goods is settled then and there. But in case of credit transactions, the seller's claim is settled on a later date. Credit is a very powerful instrument in the development of modern structure of business. Without credit facilities, it is not possible to expand a business. Therefore, with the help of credit transactions, a trader is in a position to enter many more transactions than his actual capital. But on the other side, credit transaction brings a lot of risks to the trader. In a credit transaction, goods are sold and transferred in return of a promise to pay the price of the goods at some future date or on demand. This promise can be either be by word of mouth or in writing. It is possible that the oral promise of making the payment in future may not be fulfilled by the purchaser causing a loss to the seller of goods. Therefore, in order to avoid a such a situation, it is always better to take an undertaking in writing for the payment of the price of goods. This written undertaking may be in the form of Bills of Exchange or Promissory Note or Cheques or Hundi. These are the undertakings in writing by the debtors to pay an amount of money on a definite or determinable date. These documents are known as Negotiable Instruments.

Section 31(1) of the Negotiable Instrument Act, 1881 defines the Negotiable Instrument as — A negotiable instrument means promissory note, bill of exchange or cheque payable either on order or to bearer . The word Negotiable means transfer by delivery and the word Instrument mean a written document by which a right is created in favour of some person.

#### **BILL OF EXCHANGE**

Accounting of Negotiable Instruments

Notes

Section 5 of the Negotiable Instrument Act, 1881 defines a Bill of Exchange as an instrument in writing containing an unconditional order, signed by the maker, directing a certain person, to pay a certain sum of money only to or to the order of a certain person or to the bearer of the instrument. It means that if an order is made in writing by one person on another directing him to pay a certain sum of money unconditionally to a certain person or according to his instructions or to the bearer, and if that order is accepted by the person on whom the order was make, the document is a bill of exchange.

Essentials of a bill of exchange: Following are the essentials of a bill of exchange:

- 1. It should be in writing.
- 2. It should contain an order by the seller to the purchaser to make the payment in future. A mere request by the seller to the purchaser to make the payment in future does not amount to a bill of exchange.
- 3. The order contained in the bill should be unconditional. A bill of exchange with a conditional order cannot be made payable.
- 4. The maker of the bill or the seller is known as drawer and the bill must be signed by him, otherwise it will be invalid.
- 5. The purchaser upon whom the bill is drawn is known as drawee and he must be a certain person.
- 6. Amount ordered to be paid by the drawer in a bill must be certain and it should be in money alone and not in goods.
- 7. The person to whom payment of the bill is to be made is known as payee and he must be a certain person or the bearer of the bill.

# Classification of bill of exchange

Classification of the bill of exchange can be made on the following basis

- 1) On the basis of place.
- 2) On the basis of purpose.
- 3) On the basis of time.

# 1. Classification on the basis of place

On the basis of place, bills are of two types-

a)Inland Bills

A bill is termed as Inland bill if

i)it is drawn in India on a person residing in India whether payable in or outside India or

ii)it is drawn in India on a person residing outside India but payable in India.

b)Foreign Bills

Notes

Foreign bill are those bills of exchange that are drawn outside India and made payable in India. In other words, a bill which is not an Inland Bill is a Foreign Bill.

#### 2. Classification on the basis of purpose

On the basis of purpose of writing of the bill, the bills can again be classified as:

a)Trade Bills

Where a bill of exchange has been drawn and accepted for a genuine trade transaction, it is termed as a trade bill. For example, X has sold goods to Y for Rs.1000 on credit and X has drawn a bill on Y for the said amount, which Y accepts, then this bill is a trade bill.

#### b) Accommodation Bills

Where a bill of exchange is drawn and accepted for providing funds to a friend in need, it is termed as accommodation bill. In this bill, the drawer and drawee are not the creditor and the debtor respectively. These are drawn for the mutual benefit of the drawer and the acceptor and are not backed by business transactions.

#### 3. On the basis of time

On the basis of time, a bill of exchange may be time bill or demand bill.

#### a) Time Bill

When payment of a bill of exchange is to be made after a particular period of time, the bill is termed as a Time Bill. In such a case, date of maturity is always calculated by adding three days of grace. Such bills require acceptance of the drawee. It is generally given by writing across the face of the instrument.

#### b) Demand Bill

Demand bill is a bill which is payable at any time on demand. Neither the acceptance of the drawee is necessary nor any days of grace are allowed in this case.

#### **PROMISSORY NOTE**

Section 4 of the Negotiable Instrument Act, 1881 defines a Promissory Note as as instrument in writing (not being a bank note or a currency note) containing an unconditional undertaking by the maker to pay a certain sum of money only to, or to the order of a certain person or to the bearer of the instrument. Thus, a promissory note is a written unconditional promise made by one person to another, to pay a specific sum of money either on demand or at a specified future date.

Essentials of a promissory note

The following are the essentials of a promissory note:

•It must be in writing.

•It must contain expresspromise to pay. Mere acknowledgment of debt is not sufficient to make a promissory note.

The promise to pay must be unconditional. It should not depend Accounting of Negotiable upon contingencies which may or may not happen, because uncertainty affects the business.

Instruments

Notes

- It should be signed by the maker. The person who promises to pay must sign the instrument even though it might have been written by the promissory himself.
- The maker of the promissory note must be certain. The promissory note itself must show clearly who is the person agreeing to undertake the liability to pay the amount.
- The payee must be certain. The instrument must point out with certainty the person to whom the promise has been made. The payee may be ascertained by name or by designation.
- The amount payable must be certain. There must be a certainty as to the amount promised to be paid promissory note. In case the payment is not certain, the promissory note is not valid.
- The promise should be to pay money and money only. Money means legal tender money and not old and rare coins.
- A promissory note may be payable on demand or after a definite period of time.
- The other formalities regarding number, place, date, consideration are not essential to be incorporated in the promissory note, but it must be properly stamped according to India Stamp Act.

#### **Difference** between bill of exchange a promissory note

The following are the main points of differences between a bill of exchange and a promissory note:

- A bill of exchange is an unconditional order to pay whereas a (i) promissory note is an unconditional promise to pay.
- (ii) A bill of exchange is drawn by the creditor and he makes an order on the debtor to make the payment whereas a promissory note is written by the debtor wherein he promises to make the payment in future.
- (iii) A bill of exchange has usually three parties namely, the drawer, the drawee and the payee whereas a promissory note has only two parties, i.e. the maker and the payee.
- A bill of exchange is required to be accepted by the drawee (i.e., (iv) debtor) if it is to be a legal document, whereas a promissory note needs no acceptance because the debtor himself makes the promise to make the payment.

Notes

- (v) Bills of exchange payable on demand do not require any stamp duty whereas promissory notes payable on demand require advalorem stamp duty.
- (vi) The liability of the drawer of the bill of exchange is secondary because he is required to make the payment only when the drawee of the bill fails to make the payment. On the other hand, the liability of the maker of the promissory note is primary and absolute because a promissory note is written by him.
- (vii) Foreign bills are usually drawn in a set of three whereas foreign promissory notes are drawn in one set only.
- (viii) Foreign bills must be noted and protested on their being dishonoured but foreign promissory notes do not need any noting and protesting on their dishonour.

# Advantages of bills of exchange and promissory notes

The following are the advantages of bills of exchange and promissory notes:

- 1. These are helpful in increasing the size of the business because they facilitate credit transactions.
- 2. A bill of exchange or a promissory note is a conclusive proof of the indebtedness of the purchaser of goods or services on credit.
- 3. A bill or a promissory note is a legal document and can be enforced in a court for its payment if its payment is refused by dishonour.
- 4. A bill or a promissory note fixes date of payment, so it provides a great facility to the creditor to know exactly when to expect payment and the debtor to know when to make the payment.
- 5. If the creditor cannot wait for the payment till the date of the maturity of the bill or the promissory note, he can get the bill discounted with the bank and get the payment before the maturity of the document.
- 6. Foreign trade is facilitated with the help of foreign bills of exchange.
- 7. A bill or a promissory note is a negotiable instrument and can be easily transferred from one person to another person in settlement of debts.

# **CHEQUE AND HUNDIS**

Section 6 of the Negotiable Instruments Act defines a cheque as a bill of exchange drawn on a specified banker and payable on demand.

Essentials: A cheque is similar to a bill of exchange with two additional qualifications:

- 1. It is always drawn on a specified banker.
- 2. It is always payable on demand.

Thus, all cheques are bills of exchange but all bills of exchange are not Accounting of Negotiable cheques.

Instruments

Notes

The term Hundis stands for all instruments of exchange written in indigenous (vernacular) languages. These are the oldest surviving form of credit instrument in India. The meaning of hundi may be derived from the Sanskrit root Hundi which means to collect. It means that the hundis are used as means of collection of debts. It may be defined as A written order, usually unconditional drawn by one person on another for payment on demand or after a specified time, of a certain sum of money, to a person named therein.

So, a hundi is almost like a bill of exchange. The only difference is that a bill of exchange is always unconditional, but a hundi is sometimes conditional, e.g., jokhami hundi. The following are three important types of hundis:

- Darshani Hundi: The hundi payable at sight or demand is known 1. as darshani hundi.
- 2. Muddati Hundi: This type of hundi is payable after the lapse of some time and not at sight or demand. These hundis serve as security for granting loans.
- 3. Jokhmi Hundi: Such type of hundi contains a conditional order, that is, payment of the hundi will be made only if the condition given in the hundi is fulfilled. Fro example, a hundi drawn against good shipped on the vessel may provide for the payment of money only when the goods arrive safely.

#### **SOME IMPORTANT TERMS**

- 1. Maker or Drawer: The person who draws or makes a Promissory Note, Cheque or Bill of Exchange is called the Maker or the Drawer.
- Drawee or Acceptor: The person on whom the Bill of Exchange 2. or Cheque is drawn and who is directed to pay is called the Drawee . In case of a Bill of Exchange, the Drawee becomes the acceptor, when the accepts the bill.
- 3. Payee: The person named in the Bill/Promissory Note or Cheque, to whom or to whose order the money in the instrument is directed to be paid, is called the Payee.
- 4. Holder: The person who is entitled to the possession of the Bill, Promissory Note or Cheque, in his own name and who has a right to receive or recover the amount due on the instrument, is called the Holder . A person who obtains the possession of the instrument by illegal means is not a

Holder. For example, a person who has stolen a cheque cannot be its holder.

5. Holder in due course: A Holder in due course, is a holder who obtains a negotiable instrument:

Notes

(i) for valuable consideration

- (ii) in good faith, and
- (iii) before maturity

A holder in due course will have a valid title over the instrument (i.e. he can get its payment) though the title of the transferor may be defective. For example, if A gets a cheque for Rs.10,000 signed by B, by threatening him, and later on endorses it to C, C will be a holder in due course if he accepts the cheque in good faith (i.e., without knowing that force was used by A), for consideration (i.e. by giving something in return for the cheque). In case of a bill of exchange, he must also get the instrument before the date of maturity. A cheque is payable on demand and hence the condition of maturity is not applicable.

- 6. Acceptance of Bill: The process of consenting to the order by the drawee of a bill of exchange, is known as acceptance of a Bill of Exchange.
- 7. Endorsement: The payee of a negotiable instrument may not himself keep the instrument with him. He may transfer the ownership of the instrument in favour of another person. Such a person can get the payment of the instrument from the drawee. The process of transferring of ownership of the instrument is termed as endorsement of the instrument. The person endorsing the instrument is called the Endorser. The person to whom the instrument is endorsed, is called the Endorsee.
- 8. Drawee in case of need: Sometimes the drawer or endorser of a bill of exchange may instruct the holder to present the bill to a second party in case the drawee or acceptor dishonours the bill. Such a second party is called Drawee in case of need.
- 9. Maturity of Bill: A Bill of Exchange or Promissory Note matures on the date on which it falls due. If the instrument is payable on demand, it becomes due immediately on presentation for payment. If it is payable after the expiry of a particular period of time, the date of maturity will be calculated after adding three days of grace.

#### Examples:

- (i) A bill dated 30th November is made payable three months after date. It falls due on 3rd March.
- (ii) A bill of exchange dated 1st January is payable one month after sight. It is presented for acceptance on 3rd January. The bill will fall due for payment on  $6^{th}$  February.

If an instrument is payable by instalments, it must be presented for payment on the third day after the day fixed for the payment of each instalment. Days of grace are allowed on each instalment.

10. Dishonour: Non-payment of the amount of a Promissory Note, Cheque or bill of exchange on the date of maturity is called dishonour of the instrument. In case of Bill of exchange, it will also said to be dishonoured if the drawee refuses to accept the Accounting of Negotiable Bill.

Instruments

Notes

- Noting is the authentic 11. Noting: and official proof of presenting and dishonour of a negotiable instrument. It is a memorandum of minutes recorded by a notary public upon the dishonoured instrument or upon a paper attached thereto or partially upon the dishonoured instrument or upon a paper attached thereto or partly upon each. Its need arises in the case of the dishonour of a bill of exchange or a Promissory Note. However, it is not compulsory. It specifies the date of dishonour and reasons, if any, assigned for dishonour and the noting charges. It should be made within a reasonable time after dishonour.
- 12. Protesting: Protest is a formal certificate of dishonour issued by the notary public to the holder of a bill or note on his demand.
- 13. Retiring of a Bill: If all parties agree, a bill may be withdrawn before maturity either because the acceptor desires its withdrawal to avoid its dishonour or because he is desirous of paying the amount without waiting till its due date. In the former case, it is same as dishonour except noting and protesting will not be required. In the later case, usually some rebate is allowed to the acceptor for pre- payment.
- 14. Renewal of Bill: When the original Bill has been dishonoured or retired (where the drawee is not in a position to pay), and the parties agree to it, a new bill in place of the original bill may be accepted by the drawee. This is termed as Renewal of Bill. The new Bill may be for the full amount, i.e., of the old bill and noting charges, if any, plus interest.

# ACCOUNTING TREATMENT

#### **Regarding Cheques**

Accounting entries regarding receipt and issue of cheques have already been explained in lesson while explaining recording of cash transactions. Regarding bill of exchange, Promissory Note and Hundis Though a bill or hundi differs from a promissory note in certain respects both are treated alike for the purpose of accounting treatment. For the purpose of accounting, bills of exchange and promissory notes need to be termed as bills receivable and bills payable when hold for money due to be received/paid at a later date. A bill of exchange is a Bill Receivable for the drawer and a Bill Payable for the drawee. In other words, bills drawn by us and accepted by others or promissory notes given by others are our bills receivable and bills drawn by others but accepted by us or promissory notes given by us are our bills payable.

Notes

The drawer or the promisee receiving a bill receivable can treat it in any of the following four ways:

- 1. He can retain the bill till the date of maturity and get its payment on that date.
- 2. He can get the bill discounted with the bank at any time before its maturity if he is in need of money.
- 3. He can endorse it to a creditor.
- 4. He can send the bill to his Banker for its collection, the bank charges some commission for the same.

The accounting treatment of the above mentioned four cases is discussed in the following pages.

- 1. When the Bill is retained by the Drawer upto the date of maturity Under such circumstances, the drawer himself receives the amount of the bill receivable on the due date. The following entries are passed in the books of drawer and drawee or acceptor. Drawer s Books: The drawer records the following entire in his books:
  - (i) When the goods are sold on credit

Customer s Account Dr.

To Sales Account

(Being goods sold on credit)

(ii) When bill is drawn and duly accepted by the customer

Bill Receivable Account Dr.

To Customer s Account

(Being bill drawn by us and returned as duly accepted by the customer)

(iii) When the bill is presented on the due date to the drawee for payment and drawee honours the bill of making the payment

Cash Account or Bank Account Dr.

To Bills Receivable Account

(Being amount of the bill received on the due date)

It may be noted that when cash is received, it is credited to Bills Receivable Account and not to Customer's Account because cash is received against the bill receivable.

Drawee s Books: The following entries are recorded in the drawee s books:

(i) When goods are purchased on credit:

Purchases Account Dr.

To Supplier s Account

(Being purchase of goods on credit)

(ii) When a bill is accepted:

Supplier s Account Dr.

To Bills Payable Account

(Being bill accepted drawn by the supplier)

(iii) When payment of the bill is made on the due date:

Bills Payable Account Dr.

To Cash Account or Bank Account

(Being bill taken back on the due date and payment made)

Accounting of Negotiable Instruments

Notes

Drawer's Book: If the drawer does not want to keep the bill with him till the date of maturity he can get it discounted with the bank. On discounting of bill, the bill is transferred to bank and cash is received after deducting certain fees, which is called discounting charges. Following entry is recorded in the books of drawer in case of discounting of bill.

Bank Account Dr. (with actual amount received)

Discount Account Dr. (with amount of fees)

To Bills Receivable Account (with full amount)

The drawer is not to pass any entry when the bill is met on the due date because payment of the bill is to be made to the holder of the bill i.e. the bank.

Drawee s Book: Drawee makes no entry relating to discounting of a bill because he is not affected by this transaction in any way. He will make the payment of the bill on the due date to the holder of the bill whosoever he may be. In this case, he will make the payment of the bill to the bank, because bank is the holder on the due date.

#### **Endorsement of Bill to a creditor**

The drawer or holder of the bill can endorse the bill receivable to his creditor as a consideration of the debt he owes to him. In case the drawer or holder of the bill endorses the bill in favour of a creditor and the bill is met on maturity, the following journal entries are passed in the books of the Drawer, Drawee as well as the Endorsee of the Bill of Exchange.

Drawer's Books: The entries relating to selling of goods and receiving of the Bill of Exchange will be as the same as, explained before. However, the following entry will be passed when the bill of exchange is endorsed in favour of a creditor.

Creditor s A/CDr.

To Bill Receivable A/C

(Being bills receivable endorsed to creditor)

On the date of maturity when the bill is met, no entry is required in the books of the drawer. This is because in his books, the Bills Receivable Account has already been closed and he has no liability, if the bill is met on maturity.

Drawee s Books: Drawee does not make any entry relating to endorsement of the bill because he is not affected by this transaction. He will make the payment of the bill on the due to the holder i.e. creditor in this case.

Endorsee's Books: The following entries will be recorded in the books of the endorsee:

(i) On receipt of a bill from the endorser:

Bills Receivable Account Dr.

To Endorser s Account

Notes

(Being bill received)

In the big business houses, bills receivables are received in a large number regularly. In such business houses it becomes difficult to present the various bills to different drawees on different due date. In such a case, the bills are sent to the banker for collection, thus entrusting the banker to do this job. An instruction is given to the banker before hand to present the respective bills to the respective drawees on due date of the respective bill and to credit the drawer's account when money is collected. Sometimes, bank makes collection charges on the collections of bills. In this connection, the following journal entries are recorded:

Drawer s Books

i) When a bill is sent to the bank for collection:

Bills sent for collection Account Dr.

To Bills Receivable Account

(Being bill receivable sent to the bank for collection)

ii) On receipt of information (advice) from the bank or the collection of the amount of the bill:

Bank Account Dr.

To Bills sent for collection Account.

(Being amount of bill collected on maturity)

If the bank has charged some amount as collection charges, then the following entry will be recorded:

Bank Dr. (with the amount of bill less collection charges)

Collection/Bank Charges Account Dr. (with the amount of collection charges)

To Bills sent for collection Account

(Being amount of bill collected on maturity and bank charged collection charge)

Drawee's Books: No entry is passed in the drawee's books for bill receivable sent to the bank for collection because drawee is not affected by this transaction. On the due date, the drawee will make the payment of the bill to the bank because the bill is in the possession of the bank.

#### To pledge the bills receivables

Sometimes drawer may pledge the bill receivable as security against a loan from a third party. In such a case, the drawer will not make any entry for pledging the bill receivable because right of the payment of the bill is not exercisable by the third party who has given a loan. Right of payment of the bill will be exercised by the third party only if the repayment of the loan is not made.

Dishonour of a bill means the non-acceptance of the bill or non-payment of the bill by the drawee at the time when the bill is presented for payment. So, a bill can be dishonoured in the following two ways:

1. When the bill drawn by the drawer is not accepted by the drawee. Accounting of Negotiable

2. When the drawee does not make the payment of the bill on the due date when it is presented for payment.

Instruments

Notes

When the bill is dishonoured, it may be with any one of the following parties:

- a) With the drawer, if the bill is retained by him till the maturity date.
- b) With the drawer s bank, if the bill has been discounted with his banker.
- c) With a creditor of the drawer, if he has endorsed to his creditor for settlement of his debt.
- d) With the drawer s bank, if the bill has been sent to the bank for collection.

Accounting treatment in case of dishonour of a bill by non-acceptance Drawer's Books

Bills Receivable Account is given debit and Drawee's Account is given credit when the bill is drawn on the drawee. When the bill is dishonoured on non-acceptances, it is obvious that reverse entry should be passed to neutralise the effect of the entry passed at the time of drawing a bill. Therefore, following journal entry is passed:

Drawee's Account Dr.

To Bills Receivable Account

(Being bill dishonoured by non-acceptance by the drawee)

Drawee s Books

The drawee has not passed any entry for the bill because he has not accepted the bill. So, no cancellation entry is required for the dishonour of a bill.

Accounting Treatment in case of a dishonour of a bill by Non-payment Drawer's Books

i) When bill in the possession of a drawer is dishonoured

Drawee s Account Dr.

To Bills Receivable Account

(Being bill dishonoured on due date)

ii) When the bill discounted with the bank is dishonoured

Drawee's Account Dr.

To Bank Account

(Being bill discounted with the bank dishonoured)

iii) When the bill endorsed in favour of creditor in dishonoured

Drawee's Account Dr.

To creditor s Account

(Being endorsed bill dishonoured)

iv) When the bill sent to the bank for collection is dishonoured

Drawee's Account Dr.

To Bills sent for collection Account

(Being Bill Previously sent to bank for collection dishonoured)

Notes

In the above cases of dishonour of bill one thing is common that Drawee s Account has been debited to cancel the credit given to him at the time of the acceptance of the bill.

Drawee s Books

The drawee, or acceptor of the Bill, also records the entry on the dishonour of the Bill on due date. The Bill is returned to him by drawer and becomes a debtor once again to the drawer. Whether the Bill was presented by Drawer or Bank or Endorsee or by Bank (when it was sent for collection), the following journal entry is recorded on receipt of dishonoured Bill payable from Drawer:

Bill Payable Account Dr.

To Drawer

(Being Bill not met on due date)

Endorsee s Books

On dishonour of the Bill, the endorsee is entitled to receive payment from the endorser. Thus, the following journal entry is recorded:

Endorser Dr.

To Bill Receivable Account

(Being Bill dishonoured and returned to Endorser)

Bank s Books

a) When Bank purchased the bill i.e. when the bill was discounted Drawer/Customer Account Dr.

To Bill Receivable Account

(Being Bill dishonoured and returned to customer)

b) When Bill was received by Bank for Collection

Customer's Bill for Collection Account Dr.

To Bills sent for Collection Account

(Being Bill dishonoured and returned to customer)

#### **Noting charges**

As we know when a bill is dishonoured by drawee, the drawer in order to realise his amount has to resort to legal action and for this bill is got noted from Notary Public which serves as a testimony to the fact of bill being dishonoured. For noting of bill, notary public charges some fees which is called noting charges. Ultimately this loss of noting charges is to be borne by the drawee. The journal entry regarding noting charges are as follows:

Drawer s Books

a) If noting charges are paid by drawer

Drawee's Account Dr.

To Cash Account

(Being noting charges on dishonoured bill paid on behalf of drawee)

b) If noting charges are paid by bank/endorsee.

Drawee's Account Dr.

To Bank/Endorsee Account

(Being noting charges paid by bank/endorsee on dishonour bill)

Accounting of Negotiable

Instruments

Notes

Drawee s Books

Noting Charges Account Dr.

To Drawer s Account

(Being noting charges on dishonoured bill paid)

When the drawee of the bill, after accepting it, has some apprehension in his mind that he may not be able to honour the bill on the due date, may request the drawer of the bill to cancel the original bill and to draw a fresh bill on him for a further period of time. This is called renewal of a bill. In such a case, the drawee of a bill becomes liable to pay interest to the drawer for the extended period. The amount of the new bill include the amount of the interest less the part payment made by the drawee, if any, while requesting the drawer to renew the bill.

When a bill is renewed, the following entries are required to be passed in the books of the drawer and the drawee.

Drawer s Books

a) For the cancellation of Old bill

Drawee's Account Dr.

To Bills Receivable Account

(Being bill cancelled)

- b) For Charging interest
- (i) When interest is received in cash

Cash Account Dr.

To Interest Account

(Being interest received in cash)

(ii) When interest is not received in cash

Drawee s Account Dr.

To Interest Account

(Being interest due on renewed bill @........ %)

c) When the drawee wants to make a partial payment of the old bill Cash Account Dr.

To Drawee s Account

(Being partial payment on old bill received)

d) When renewed bill is received

Bills Receivable Account Dr.

To Drawee s Account

(Being a renewed bill received for the amount due as a result of the cancellation of the old bill)

Drawee s Books

a) When the old bill is cancelled

Bills Payable Account Dr.

To Drawee s Account

(Being old bill cancelled) Dr.

Notes

- b) Treatment of interest on renewed bill
- (i) When interest is paid in cash

Interest Account Dr.

To Cash Account

(Being Interest paid)

(ii) When interest is not paid in cash

Interest Account Dr.

To Drawer s Account

(Being interest on renewed bill due)

c) When a partial payment of the old bill is made in cash

Drawer's Account Dr.

To Cash Account

(Being partial payment of old bill made)

d) When the new bill is accepted

Drawer's Account Dr.

To Bills Payable Account

(Being acceptance of new bill given)

This is the other side of the renewal of a bill. When the drawee of a bill desires to make payment even before the due date of the bill and the drawer welcomes it, it is called retiring a bill. Simply, retiring a bill means that the drawee makes the payment before the due date. In such a case, the drawer is to allow some discount because what he was to receive after some time in the future, he receives immediately. The discount is an expense for the drawer and gain for the drawee.

The following are the accounting entries in relation to retiring a bill:

Drawer s Books

Cash Account Dr. (with actual amount received)

Rebate/Discount Account Dr. (with amount of rebate)

To Bills Receivable Account (with full amount of the bill)

(Being bill retired under rebate)

Drawee s Books

Bill Payable Account Dr. (with full amount of the bill)

To Cash Account (with actual payment)

To Rebate/Discount Account (with rebate earned)

(Being bill retired under rebate)

On the adjudication of a person as insolvent, his estate vests with the official receiver who realises the bankrupt's properties and proportionally pays the creditors out of the realised sum. It is possible that a partial payment may be made by the estate of the insolvent, the balance of the amount due from the insolvent not recovered should be written off as bad debts in the drawer s books. The amount which the insolvent cannot pay to the drawer should be credited to Unpaid or

Deficiency or Profit and Loss Account and Debited to Drawer's Account Accounting of Negotiable in the insolvent s books. The following accounting entries are recorded in the books of accounts of the drawer and the drawee.

Instruments

Notes

Drawer s Books

i) Drawer s Account Dr.

To Bills Receivable/Bank/Endorsee/Bills for collection sent A/c

(Being bill dishonoured due to insolvency of drawer)

ii) Cash Account Dr (with actual amount received)

Bad Debts Account Dr. (with amount unsatisfied)

To Drawee's Account (with full amount)

(Being a final dividend received and balances written off as bad debts)

Drawee s Books

Bills Payable AccountDr. (i)

To Drawer s Account

(Being bill dishonoured due to insolvency)

(ii) Drawer s Account Dr. (with total amount due)

To Cash Account (with actual amount paid)

To Deficiency Account (with amount unsatisfied)

(Being final claim paid to creditors)

Negotiable Instrument Act, 1881 defines a bill of exchange as, An instrument in writing containing an unconditional order, signed by the maker, directing a certain person or to the bearer of the Instrument. Bill of exchange should be in written containing an order by the seller, unconditional, signed by drawer and should be in money only. The bill of exchange may be inland bills, foreign bills, trade bills, accommodation bill, time bill and demand bill. When a bill of exchange is written in indigenous language. It is known as Hundis. The bill of exchange, hundis and promissory notes are treated alike for the purpose of accounting treatment. A bill of exchange is a bill receivable for the drawer and a bill payable by the drawee. The drawer can treat it in four ways, i.e. retaining the bill till date of maturity, get the bills discounted with the bank, endorse it to a creditor, sending the bill to his banker for its collection. Dishonour of a bill means the non-acceptance of the bill or non-payment of the bill by the drawee at the time when the bill is presented for payment.

#### **KEYWORDS**

Bill of Exchange: An instrument in writing containing an unconditional order, signed by the maker, directing a person to pay a certain sum of money only to or to the order of a certain person or to the bearer of instrument.

Hundi: Bill of exchange written in indigenous language.

Cheque: Bill of exchange drawn as a specified bank and payable on demand.

Notes

Promisory Note: Written and conditional promise made by one person to another.

Dishonour: Non-payment of the amount of a promissory note, cheque or bills of exchange on the date of maturity.

Protesting: Formal certificate of dishonour issued by notary public to the holder of bill.

### **REVIEW QUESTIONS**

- Q1.Define bill of exchange. Differentiate bill of exchange and promissory note.
- Q2. What is meant by discounting of bill? Why is it necessary? Give accounting entries for discounting of a bill.
- Q3.Explain the important features of bill of exchange and promissory note. What are their advantages?
- Q4. What do you mean by renewal of a bill? Give the various journal entries which are recorded in the books of the drawer and the drawee on renewal of a bill.
- Q5.Ajit Wadekar bought goods from Farook Engineer for Rs.2,500 on 16th February 1997. Farook Engineer, draws a bill for the amount on Ajit Wadekar on which latter gives his acceptance and returns to Engineer. The bill is for two months. On due date Wadekar honours the bill.

Pass journal entries in the books of Ajit Wadekar and Farook Engineer.

- Q6.A bill for Rs.500 payable three months after date is drawn by A & Co. on B & Co. and accepted by the latter. Show entries that would be passed in the journal of A & Co. in each of the following cases:
- a)If they keep the bill till maturity and then receive payment of it on due date.
- b) If they discount it at their bank for Rs.495.
- c) If they endorse it to their creditor C & Co.
- (d) If they send it to their bankers for collection.

#### **FURTHER READINGS**

- 1. Principles of Accounting-Belverd E. Needles, Marian Powers, Susan V. Crosson 2013 Preview More editions
- 2. Principles of Accounting- P. Hosein
- 3. Principles of Accounting-Gaylord N. Smith
- 4. Principles of Accounting- Donatila Agtarap-San Juan
- 5. Principles of Accounting-Harry Anson Finney

# UNIT -9 RECONCILIATION OF BANK ACCOUNTS

Reconciliation of Bank Accounts

Notes

### **CONTENTS**

- Introduction
- ❖ Causes/Reasons for Difference In Two Balances
- ❖ Procedure For Preparation of Bank Reconciliation Statement
- \* Review Questions
- Further Readings

#### INTRODUCTION

In modern business world, the major part of the business transactions is settled by cheques. For the purpose of business transactions through cheques, every businessman maintains current accounts with banks. He keeps money in his account and deposits cheques, etc. received from customers and draws cheques in favour of his creditors for making the payments. Current account facilitates business transactions in a smoother way than cash. For instance, no substantial cash is to be kept in the business, payments of cheques are themselves records of payments made, the payee is also relieved of the risk of carrying cash.

When a businessman opens a current account in a bank, the bank issues him a cheque book and pass book. At the same time, the businessman also keeps its records relating to bank transactions either through the bank columns of the cash book or through a separate bank account in the books of accounts. When the cash is deposited or a cheque is deposited in the bank, the bank account is debited in the cash book. But when the businessman withdraws cash from the bank, the same account is credited. Similarly, when cash is deposited into bank it increases the liability of the bank and bank gives credit to the account of the client in the pass book. The bank maintains the businessman's account in its ledgers and its copy is recorded in the pass book and given to the customers.

In other words, all entries appearing in the debit side of the bank column of the cash book will be appearing in the credit side of the businessman s account in the ledger of the bank. Conversely, all entries appearing in the credit side of the bank column of the cash book will be appearing in the debit side of the businessman s account in the ledger of the bank. Sometimes it happens that balance of the bank column of the cash book does not show the same balance as that shown by the pass book. Both there balances may be correct, yet may show a difference. In order to

Notes

reconcile the balance of the bank column of the cash book with that of the pass book, this statement is prepared.

The statement that is prepared for reconciling the balances of cash book and pass book is called a Bank Reconciliation Statement. Bank Reconciliation Statement is a statement which contains a complete and satisfactory explanation of the differences in the balances as per the cash book and the pass book. So, bank reconciliation is a periodical statement prepared by a trader on a particular date with the object of reconciling the two balances shown by cash book and pass book and locating the causes which are responsible for the disagreement of two balances on a particular date.

#### Features or characteristics of bank reconciliation statement

From the above, the following features of the statement emerge:

- a) It is merely a statement not an account.
- b) This is a periodical statement.
- c) It is prepared on a particular day or this statement is valid for the day it is prepared.
- d) The preparation of bank reconciliation statement is not a part of the double entry book-keeping.
- e) The causes which are responsible for the disagreement of the two balances can easily be found out.

#### CAUSES/REASONS FOR DIFFERENCE IN TWO BALANCES

The relationship between the customer and the banker is that of a creditor and a debtor. So, if the bank column of the cash book shows a debit balance as on a specified date, the pass book should show an equal amount of credit balance as on that date and vice-versa. However, the balances shown by the two independent records may not agree due to the following:

- Cheques issued but not yet presented for payment: When a cheque is issued to a third party, it is entered in the cash book by crediting the bank account resulting in reducing the bank balance in the depositor s books. But bank debits the customer s account when the cheque is presented by that third party to the bank for payment. This means that if the cheque is not presented for payment upto the date of preparation of the bank reconciliation statement, the balance as per pass book will be higher than the balance shown by the cash book by the amount of cheque not presented for payment.
- Cheques paid into bank but not yet collected by the bank: Whereas a cheque is received by a businessman from a third party and he deposits it in a bank, he will debit bank account and credit the account of third party in his own books. His bank balance in cash book is therefore increased. But bank will credit that cheque not when it is deposited but only when that amount has been realised. Until the cheque has been

collected, the balance appearing in the pass book would be less than the balance in the bank column of cash book.

Reconciliation of Bank Accounts

Notes

- Bank Charges: The bank usually debits the account of the customer with interest on bank overdraft, collection charges, incidental charges for the various services rendered by the bank. These adjustments are shown in the pass book as and when they occur and hence the balance in the pass book decreases. Customer comes to know about it when he collects his pass book and verifies it. Until then, the bank balance as per the pass book would be less than the bank balance as per the cash book.
- Interest credited by bank but not entered in cash book: Some scheduled banks give interest on current accounts to their customers if they maintain certain minimum credit balance in their current accounts. When a bank allows interest to a customer it will credit his account and his bank balance will be increased. But the customer will know about when he will receive the pass book or bank statement and then he would pass an appropriate entry in the cash book. Until then, the bank balance as per pass book would be more than the bank balance as per cash book.
- Interest or dividend on investments etc. collected by the bank: The businessman may entrust the task of collection of interest or dividend on investments, rent on property etc. To the banker. After the collection of this income, the bank will give credit to the account of the businessman and will increase his balance whereas there may be no entry for this income in the cash book of the businessman for want of information. The relevant entry in the cash book is made only when communicated and hence cash and pass book balances vary in the mean time.
- Amount directly deposited into the bank by customers: When any amount is directly deposited into the bank account of a businessman by customers then the bank gives credit to the account of that businessman immediately. This results in an increase in the bank balance by that amount. The businessman would come to know about the deposit on receiving advice from the bank or intimation from the customer. Until then the bank balance would show more balance as compared to the balance as per cash book.
- Payments made by the bank on behalf of clients: The businessman may give standing instructions to his bank to make the payment of insurance, rent, licence fee and other payments on his

behalf when they fall due. On the instructions of the customers, the bank makes the payment on due dates and debits the client s account. But the businessman enters the same in his books only when he receives the intimation from the bank. Till it is done, the two balances show a difference.

Notes

- Bills Collected by the bank on behalf of Customers: The customers may authorise his banker to collect the amount against certain bills receivable from the acceptor or a drawee as and when they become due. If the acceptor of a bill receivables honours the bill on its due date, the bank will give a credit to the customer's account for the amount so collected. As a result, the bank balance will be higher by that amount than the balance as per cash book until the necessary entry in this respect is recorded in cash book.
- Dishonour of Bills or cheques: When the businessman sends the bills or cheques to the bank for realisation, he enters them on the debit side of his cash book and thus increases the bank balance. But the bank does not make any entry in the customer's account if these are dishonoured.

This is another cause of difference between the two balances.

- Rebate on retiring of Bills: When the businessman makes payment of his bills payable through bank or to bank before maturity he is allowed a rebate on such payments by the bank. The bank credits the businessman s account with this rebate. Thus, there will be a difference in the balances of cash book and pass book to the extent of amount of rebate.
- Cheques paid into bank but omitted to be entered in cash book: Sometimes the businessman deposits a cheque into the bank but forgets to enter the same in cash book. This also causes a difference between the two balances.
- Wrong debit or credit given by the banks: If there is a wrong debit or credit in the books of account of the bank then it also causes a difference in the balances of books of the customer and the bank. A wrong debit or credit may be given by the bank in the following ways:
- a) Other account holder's cheque wrongly debited or credited in the customer account by the bank.
- b) Recording of entry on the wrong side of the pass book by the bank.

# PROCEDURE FOR PREPARATION OF BANK RECONCILIATION STATEMENT

The bank reconciliation statement is prepared usually at the end of period, i.e. a month, a quarter, a half year or year as may be found convenient and necessary by the businessman taking into account the number of transactions involved. The following are the steps to be taken for preparing a bank reconciliation statement:

a) Tick off all the items in the pass book with the entries in the bank column of the cash book and make a list of the entries as are found not ticked either in the cash book or the pass book. The unticked items are

responsible for the difference in the balances shown by the cash book and the pass book.

Reconciliation of Bank Accounts

Notes

b) The balance shown by any book (i.e. cash book or pass book) should be taken as the base. This is as a matter of fact the starting point for determining the balance as shown by the other book after making suitable adjustments taking into account the causes of difference.

Dr. balance as per

Cash Book or

Overdraft as per

Pass Book Cr. Balance as per pass Book or Overdraft as per

Cash Book

- I. Those items which affect the debit side of Cash Book:
- i) Cheques deposited but not collected by bank
- ii) Cheque though entered in Cash Book but omitted to be sent to the Bank.
- II. Those items which affect the credit side of Cash Book:
- i) Cheques issued but not presented for payment.
- III. Those items which affect the Credit side of pass Book:
- i) Interest/Dividend credited by bank.
- ii) Amount deposited direct by a customer into bank account.
- iii) Cheques sent to the bank but omitted to be entered into the Cash Book.
- IV. Those items which affect the debit side of Pass Book:
- i) Bank charges charged by bank.
- ii) Interest on overdraft.
- iii) Payment made by bank on standing instructions of customer.
- c) The effect of the particular cause of difference should be studied on the balance shown by the other book.
- d) In case, the cause has resulted in an increase in the balance shown by the other book, the amount of such increase should be added to the balance as per the former book which has been taken as the base.
- e) In case, the cause has resulted in decrease in the balance shown by the other book, the amount of such decrease should be substracted from the balance as per the former book which has been taken as the base.
- f) In case, the books show an adverse balance (i.e. an overdraft) the amount of the overdraft should be put in the minus column. Bank Reconciliation Statement should then be prepared on the same pattern as if there is a favourable balance instead of their being an overdraft.

#### **Bank reconciliation statement**

Bank reconciliation statement is a statement which is prepared for reconciling the balances of cash book and pass book. It is a statement which contains a complete and satisfactory explanation of the differences in the balances as per the cash book and the pass-book. The balances

Notes

shown by the cash book and pass book may not agree due to (i) cheques issued but not presented for payment; (ii) cheques paid into bank but not yet collected by the bank; (iii) bank charges; (iv) interest credited by bank but not entered in cash book; (v) interest or dividend on investments etc. collected by the bank; (vi) amount directly deposited into the bank by customers; (vii) payment made by the bank on behalf of client; (viii) bills collected by the bank on behalf of customers; (ix) dishonour of cheques; (x) rebate on retiring of bills; (xi) cheques paid into bank but omitted to the entered in cash book; (xii) wrong debit or credit given by the banks. Bank reconciliation statement can be prepared with the (i) debit balance of cash book; (ii) credit balance of cash book; (iii) debit balance of pass book.

#### **KEYWORDS**

Pass Book: Copy of firm s account with bank.

Overdraft: Withdrawals in excess of bank deposits.

Favourable Balance: Debit balance of cash book.

Reconciliation: Agreement of cash bank and pass book.

# **REVIEW QUESTIONS**

- Q1. What is a Bank Reconciliation Statement? How is it prepared? Submit a Performa of a Bank Reconciliation Statement with Imaginary figures.
- Q2. Balance as shown by the pass book should tally with the balance as shown by the cash book of the business, Do you agree? If not, explain the reasons with suitable examples of differences between the two.
- Q3. Prepare a Bank Reconciliation Statement as on 30<sup>th</sup> September, 1988 from the following extracts from the Bank pass Book and the Cash Book (Bank column only).

# **FURTHER READINGS**

- 1. Principles of Accounting-Belverd E. Needles, Marian Powers, Susan V. Crosson 2013 Preview More editions
- 2. Principles of Accounting- P. Hosein
- 3. Principles of Accounting-Gaylord N. Smith
- 4. Principles of Accounting-Donatila Agtarap-San Juan
- 5. Principles of Accounting-Harry Anson Finney

# UNIT -10 SINGLE ENTRY SYSTEM

Single Entry System

Notes

# **CONTENTS**

- Introduction
- Salient Features
- Disadvantages and Advantages of Single Entry System
- Calculation of Profit or Loss
- Steps for Preparing Statement of Affairs
- Conversion Method
- Review Ouestions
- Further Readings

# INTRODUCTION

Single Entry System is an incomplete double entry system. In case of double entry system of book- keeping both the aspects of every transaction are recorded. In this system, the first entry is made to the debit of an account, and the second entry to the credit of second account. However, in case of single entry system, the business houses for their convenience and more practical approach ignore the strict rules of double entry system. The users of this system maintain only the essential records. In other words, it is a system which may not keep some books of subsidiary records and some ledger accounts which otherwise are kept in case of double entry system. In fact, single entry system may consist of double entry in respect of certain transactions such as cash paid to creditors, cash received from debtors, etc, and single entry in regard to certain events and transactions such as cash sales and purchases and expenses incurred on purchase of fixed assets. Further, the users of this system may pass no entry in respect of certain transactions, for instance, depreciation, bad debts, etc.

According to a Dictionary of Accountancy by Kohler, A system of book-keeping in which as a rule only records of cash and of personal accounts are maintained, it is always incomplete double entry varying with the circumstances. Thus, under the so-called single entry system both the aspects of business transactions and events are not recorded and, therefore, this may be defined, as any system which is not exactly the Double Entry System. Under the single entry system usually a cash book and personal accounts are maintained.

### **SALIENT FEATURES**

From the foregoing discussion, the following salient features have emerged about the single entry system:

Notes

- a) Under this system usually a cash book and personal accounts are maintained.
- b) Usually real and nominal accounts are not kept in this system.
- c) The cash book maintained, under this system usually mixes up both the personal and the business transactions.
- d) In this system, it is seen quite oftenly that in order to collect the necessary information one has to depend on original vouchers. For example, the amount of credit purchases may have to be found out on the basis of original invoices received from the suppliers in case the figures are not readily available.
- e) This system can be applied only in case of sole trader or partnership concerns. Limited companies, because of legal provisions, cannot keep books on single entry system.
- f) It is adopted as per individual requirements and convenience by the business houses. Therefore, the system may differ from firm to firm, which brings lack of uniformity in accounting books.

# DISADVANTAGES AND ADVANTAGES OF SINGLE ENTRY SYSTEM

# **Disadvantages**

- a) It is an incomplete system of accounting since this system does not record both the aspects of business transactions and events. Because of this limitation, one cannot prepare trial balance and, thus, the arithmetical accuracy cannot be easily checked in the absence of a trial balance. This increases the chances of misappropriations and frauds as compared to the Double Entry System of book-keeping.
- b) This system lacks uniformity since the businessmen apply it as per their individual requirements and conveniences.
- c) It becomes difficult to valuate assets in case a businessman wanted to sell his business.
- d) In the absence of complete information for sales, purchases and other expenses, the trading and profit and loss account cannot be prepared. Hence, rate of gross profit on sales and the true profit or loss position cannot be known.
- e) As there are no real accounts, the balance sheet cannot be drawn up to give a correct picture of the financial position of the business on a particular date.
- f) This system hampers comparison, planning, and sound decision-making because the system does not provide accurate figures about the performance of the business and its financial position.

# **Advantages**

a) This system is more economical than double entry system and hence, suitable for small business firms.

- b) This system is also suitable to those firms which have more cash transaction and a large number of personal accounts.
- c) This system does not require specialised knowledge of accounting since only selected books of accounts are kept under it.

Single Entry System

Notes

# CALCULATION OF PROFIT OR LOSS

In case of a business maintaining accounts according to single entry system, profit (or loss) made during the year are calculated by any of the following two methods:

- i) Increase in net worth method.
- ii) Conversion method.

#### **Increase in Net-Worth Method**

Under this method, profit can be calculated by comparing the net worth in the beginning of the year and at the end of the year. Any decrease in net worth is taken as loss, but any increase in net worth is taken as profit. However, this is true only in the absence of any other information. Thus, under a pure single entry system profit cannot be calculated by preparing trading and profit and loss account. For this purpose, we need to calculate and compare capital (net worth) in the beginning and at the end of the year. For example, if net worth of the business on 1.4.1997 is Rs. 50,50,000 and it is Rs. 52,50,000 on 31<sup>st</sup> March, 1998, it can be said that the business has made profit of Rs. 2,00,000 during the period.

In order to determine the capital in the beginning of the period and at the end, we prepare statement of affairs. A statement of affairs is a statement of all assets and liabilities. The excess of assets over liabilities is taken as net worth. For calculating profit by net worth method the following adjustments are required:

- (i) Adjustment for drawings: The drawings made by proprietor from the business for his personal use are added to the capital at the end because drawings made during the year will reduce the capital at the end but not the profit for the year. In other words, accurate amount of profit (or loss) can be known only by making adjustments, in the capital at the end, for the drawings made.
- (ii) Adjustment for capital introduced: The proprietor may introduce fresh capital in the business during the course of the financial year. This fresh capital is deducted from the capital at the end because the fresh capital will increase the capital of the proprietor at the end of the financial year, but not the profit. Thus the increase in the capital at the end due to introduction of capital during the year should not be misunderstood for increase in capital because of profits made during the year.

# **Steps for Preparing Statement of Affairs**

The procedure for preparing the Statement of Affairs can be understood with the following steps:

Notes

- a) Firstly, we are to prepare statement of affairs at the beginning for ascertaining net worth in the beginning.
- b) Secondly, we shall prepare statement of affairs at the end for calculating net worth at the end.
- c) Thirdly, make adjustments for drawings, and capital introduced during the year.
- d) In the end, deduct net worth in the beginning from the net worth at the end. The excess of capital at the end over capital in the beginning will denote the profit.

Partnership Firms: For ascertaining the profit made by the business in case of a partnership firm, the balance in the capital accounts of all the partners will have to be considered. But, in case they (partners) have a fixed capital system, the balances in the current accounts should be considered while preparing statement of profit. Similar to the case of sole proprietorship, capital accounts of the partners should be adjusted for any amount withdrawn or fresh capital introduced by the partners before ascertaining the combined closing balance of the current accounts.

# **Conversion Method**

We have seen under the net worth method in the preceding explanation that the method does not give details of the gross profit and net profit. Also, it does not provide a clear picture of the operational results of a business. Resultantly, it becomes just impossible to make a objective analysis of the financial statements. But the effective steps needed to strengthen the financial position of the business cannot be devised without making a meaningful analysis of financial position. Hence, it is quite essential to ascertain the missing information from the books of accounts, and other sources. The missing information can be ascertained by preparing Total Debtors Account, Receipts and Payments Account, Total Creditors Account, Memorandum Trading Account, etc. After ascertaining the required information, it will be possible to prepare a trial balance. Now, one can prepare final accounts in the usual manner since full information as under double entry system is available. Hence, under conversion method net profit is ascertained by conversion of single entry system into double entry system.

Under conversion method, firstly statement of affairs in the beginning is prepared to ascertain capital in the beginning. For preparing this statement, the students should ascertain the information's on debtors in the beginning or creditors or cash in khand or cash at bank or any other items, if these are missing. This is done by preparing a cash book, total debtors account, total creditors account, bills receivable account, bills payable account, etc. These various accounts will help in revealing a missing figure of cash, bank, credit sales, cash sales, creditors or debtors balance either in the beginning or at the end or any other information.

After preparing these accounts the students should calculate total sales by adding credit sales and cash sales; total purchases by adding cash purchases and credit purchases. Information relating to nominal accounts can be ascertained from the cash book. Real accounts and amounts outstanding will be available by way of information. Now, it will be possible to prepare a trial balance. However, in practice trial balance is skipped and only such information is collected which is required for preparing the Trading and Profit and Loss Account, and Balance Sheet of the business.

In order to prepare trading and profit and loss account and balance sheet, the students needs the following information:

- 1. Opening stock and closing stock
- 2. Purchases
- 3. Direct expenses
- 4. Sales
- 5. Indirect expenses and other incomes
- 6. All assets and all liabilities
- 7. Capital in the beginning
- 8. Profit made during the year
- 1. Opening Stock and Closing Stock: The amount of Opening and Closing Stock can be ascertained by preparing a Memorandum Trading Account.
- 2. Purchases: Purchases are calculated by adding cash purchases and credit purchases. Cash book reveals the amount of cash purchases. The amount of credit purchases can be ascertained by preparing (i) total creditors account, and (ii) bills payable account.
- 3. Direct Expenses: Information relating to nominal accounts can be ascertained from the cash book. These expenses may require adjustment in the light of outstanding and prepaid expenses.
- 4. Sales: Sales for the purpose of trading account are ascertained by adding cash sales and credit sales. Credit sales should be found out by preparing a Total Debtors Account while cash sales should be found out from the Cash Book.

The amount of cash sales can be ascertained from the Cash Book. In case complete Cash Book has not been given, the amount of cash sales can be obtained by preparing a Receipts and Payments Accounts. Ascertaining Capital in the Beginning: The amount of capital in the beginning of the year can be found out by preparing the Balance Sheet of the business.

Single entry system is a system of book-keeping in which as a rule only records of cash and of personal accounts are maintained. In this way both the aspects of business transactions and events are not recorded. The single entry system is more economical, suitable for small firms, suitable

Single Entry System

Notes

Notes

where more cash transactions and large number of personal accounts but having a lot of disadvantages in comparison to double entry system. In the single entry system, profit or loss made during the year is calculated by using two methods namely increase in net worth method and conversion method. Under the increase in net worth method, profit can be calculated by comparing the net worth in the beginning of the year and at the end of the year. Any decrease in net worth is taken as loss, but any increase in net worth is taken as profit. Under the conversion method, the missing information from the books of accounts and other sources are ascertained. The missing information can be ascertained by preparing total debtors account, receipts and payments account, total creditors account and memorandum trading account, then it will be possible to prepare a trial balance. No one can prepare final accounts in the usual manner since full information as under double entry system is available. Hence, under conversion method, net profit is ascertained by conversion of single entry system into double entry system.

### **KEYWORDS**

Balance Sheet: A statement of the financial position of an enterprise as at a given date.

Capital: The amount invested in an enterprise by its owners also called net worth.

Personal Account: Accounts which are related to any person or institution.

Double Entry System: System of accounting in which every transaction and event affects two accounts.

Statement of Affairs: A statement of the financial position of an enterprise under single entry system.

Cash Book: A subsidiary book in which only cash transactions are recorded.

# **REVIEW QUESTIONS**

- 1. State whether the following statements are true or false :
- (a) Trial Balance can be easily prepared when the books are kept according to Single Entry System.
- (b) Single Entry System is not suitable for a small business firm.
- (c) Limited companies are free to choose ether single entry or double entry system of accounting.
- (d) Under Single Entry System usually the personal accounts of suppliers and customers and the cash book is maintained.
- (e) According to Net worth Method, the Net Profit is equal to: Capital at the end + Drawings + Fresh capital introduced Capital in the beginning of the accounting period.

(f) Under the Conversion Method, credit purchases and credit sales are found out by preparing the total creditors and total debtors accounts respectively.

Single Entry System

Notes

- 2. Choose the most correct answer:
- (i) The capital at the end of the accounting year is ascertained by
- (a) Closing Statement of Affairs
- (b) Cash Book
- (c) Total Creditors Account
- (ii) Under Net worth Method of Single Entry System, the basis for finding the profit is
- (a) The difference between the capital in the beginning and at the end.
- (b) The difference between the gross assets in the beginning and at the end.
- (c) The difference between the liabilities in the beginning and at the end.
- (iii) The closing balance in the Creditors Account can be ascertained from
- (a) Cash Account
- (b) Total Creditors Account
- (c) Balance Sheet at the end of the accounting period
- (iv) If the rate of gross profit is 20% on cost of goods sold and the sales are Rs. 3,00,000, the amount of gross profit will be (a) Rs. 60,000; (b) Rs. 75,000; (c) Rs. 50,000
- (v) Cash received from debtors needed for the construction of cash account can be had from
   (a)Total debtors account (b) Balance sheet (c) Analysis of cash book
- 3. Explain the single entry system of book-keeping. How does a business man ascertain the profit under such a system?
- 4. Define single entry system. Distinguish it from double entry system.
- 5. What are the steps required to convert single entry system of book-keeping into double entry system.
- 6. Bring out the defects of the single entry system of book- keeping. Also discuss the procedure of calculating profit by statement of affairs method.

# **FURTHER READINGS**

- 1. Principles of Accounting-Belverd E. Needles, Marian Powers, Susan V. Crosson 2013 Preview More editions
- 2. Principles of Accounting-P. Hosein
- 3. Principles of Accounting-Gaylord N. Smith
- 4. Principles of Accounting-Donatila Agtarap-San Jua

Notes

# UNIT-11 INVENTORY VALUATION METHODS

# **CONTENTS**

- **❖** Introduction
- Objectives of Inventory Valuation
- Methods of Recording Inventory
- Methods of Valuation Of Inventories
- Purpose of Valuation Of Inventories
- \* Review Questions
- Further Readings

# INTRODUCTION

The literary meaning of the word inventory is stock of goods. To the finance manager, inventory connotes the value of raw materials, consumable, spares, work-in-progress, finished goods and scrap in which a company s funds have been invested. It constitutes the second largest items after fixed assets in the financial statements, particularly of manufacturing organisation. It is why that inventory valuation and inventory control have become very important functions of the accountants and finance managers. The persons interested in the accounting information assume that the financial statements contain accurate information. However, it is often observed that the financial statements don't provide actual information about some of the items, e.g. inventory and depreciation. This may be because of the variety of inventory valuation methods available with the accountant.

According to the International Accounting Standard-2 (IAS-2),

Inventories mean tangible property held;

- (a) For sale in the ordinary course of business,
- (b) In the process of production for such sale, or
- (c) For consumption in the production of goods or services for sale.

Hence, the term inventory includes stock of (i) raw material and components, (ii) work-in-progress and finished goods. In case of manufacturing concern, inventory consists of raw materials, components, stores, semi-finished products and finished goods in case of a trading concern inventory primarily consists of finished goods.

# **OBJECTIVES OF INVENTORY VALUATION**

Following are the objectives of inventory valuation:

# a) Determination of Income

A major objective of inventory valuation is the proper determination of income through the process of matching appropriate cost against revenues. Gross profit is found out by deducting cost of goods sold from

sales. Cost of goods sold is purchases plus opening stock minus closing Inventory Valuation stock. Hence, closing stock must be properly valued and brought into accounts. Over valuation of closing stock leads to inflation of the current year profits and deflation of the profits of succeeding years. Similarly, undervaluation leads to deflation of current year's profit and inflation of the profit of the succeeding years.

Notes

Methods

# **Determination of financial position**

In the balance sheet, inventory is a very important item. It is to be shown as current asset in the balance sheet at the end of the year. If the inventory is not properly and correctly valued, to that extent the balance sheet does not give true and fair view of the financial position of the business. Keeping in view the above objectives the auditor s duty in relation to the verification and valuation of inventories becomes more important. Therefore, while verifying he should ensure that stock taking is done by responsible a officer, stock figures match with that of stock registers, and the basis of valuation has been consistently the same from year to year. Moreover, he should carry out test checks to ensure the accuracy of valuation.

# METHODS OF RECORDING INVENTORY

The records of quantity and value of inventory can be made in two ways. These as follows:

- (i) Periodic Inventory System
- Perpetual Inventory System (ii)

# **Periodic Inventory System**

Under this system the quantity and value of inventory is ascertained by physically counting the stock at the end of the year and as on the accounting date. In case of big business houses, annual stock taking may even take a week at the end of the year in finalising the stock in hand on continuous basis. In case of this system certain items are physically counted, while others are weighed in kilos or tonnes or measured in litters. For stock taking stock sheets are used. The firms evolve such a Performa of stock sheet on which all the relevant information like particulars of inventory, numbers of units, price per unit, total value, etc. can be listed and added so as to get the figure of inventory. This method offers the advantage of simplicity. Also, there is no used to maintain the various records to be maintained under perpetual inventory system. However, the limitation of this method is that discrepancies and losses in inventory will never come to light as it makes no accounting for theft, losses, shrinkage and wastage.

# **Perpetual Inventory System**

This system provides as running record of inventories on hand because under this method stock registers are maintained which will give the inventory balance at any time desired. According to the Institute of Cost

Notes

and Management Accountants, London, it is a system of records maintained by the controlling department which reflects the physical movement of stocks and their current balance. The stores ledger will give the balance of raw materials, work-in-progress and finished goods on hand. Because of this it is for the management to provide for continuous stock-taking, so that by comparing the physical balance with book balance, any discrepancies are ascertained immediately.

In this system business need not be suspended for the purpose of stock taking. The main advantage of this method is that it provides details about the quantity and value of stock of each item all times. Thus it provides a basis for control. The main drawback of this system is that it requires elaborate organisation and records and, therefore, it is more expensive.

# METHODS OF VALUATION OF INVENTORIES

The basic methods of valuation of inventories are as follows:

- (a) Historical cost based method
- (b) Sale price based method
- (c) Lower of cost or sale price

#### Methods based on Historical cost

According to AS-2 historical cost is the aggregate of costs of purchases, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in the normal course of business in bringing the inventories to their present locations and condition. Cost of purchase comprises purchase price, duties and taxes, freight inwards and other expenditure directly attributable to acquisitions. However, selling expenses such as advertisement expenses or storage cost should not be included. The valuation of inventory at cost price will be in consonance with the realisation concept. According to this concept, revenue is not realised until the sale is complete and the inventory is converted into either cash or accounts receivable. There can thus be no recognition of revenue accretion except at the point of sale.

This is a method with very high objectivity since the inventory valuer has to base it on a transaction which is completely verifiable. The main limitation of this method is its inability to distinguish operational gains from holding gains during period of inflation. (Note: Holding gain refers to profits which arises as a result of holding inventories during inflation). They may be attributed to the fact that this method matches the past inventories against revenues which have current relations. Thus, this system will result in the inclusion of inventory profits (i.e. holding gain) in the income statements during periods of rising prices. Now, we shall describe the various methods for assigning historical costs to inventory and goods sold.

### 1. First in First Out Method (FIFO)

This method is based on the assumption that the materials which are purchased first are issued first. Issues of inventory are priced in order of their purchases. Inventory issues/sales are priced on the same basis until Inventory Valuation the first lot of material of goods purchased is exhausted. Thus, units issued are priced at the oldest cost price listed on the stock ledger sheets. Under this system it is not necessary that the material which were longest in stock are exhausted first. But the use of FIFO necessarily mean that the oldest costs are first used for accounting purposes. In practice, an endeavour is made by most business houses to sell of oldest merchandise or materials first. Hence when this system is followed the closing stock does not consist of most recently purchased goods.

Methods

Notes

# Advantages: The following are the advantages of this method:

- This method is easy to operate, provided the prices of materials do not fluctuate frequently.
- It gives such a value of closing stock which is vary near to current market prices since closing inventory is made of most recently purchased goods.
- (iii) It is a realistic method because it takes into account the normal procedure of issuing goods/inventory, i.e. the materials are issued to production in the order of their receipts.
- As it is based on historical cost, no unrealised profit enters into (iv) the financial statements for the period.

# Disadvantages: This method suffers from the following limitations:

- Because of violent changes in prices of materials, it involves somewhat complicated calculations and, therefore, it involves somewhat complicated calculations and, therefore, increase the changes of clerical errors.
- (ii) The prices of issues of materials may not reflect current market prices and, therefore, during the period of inflation, the charge to production is unreasonably low.
- Comparison between different jobs executed by the firm becomes (iii) sometimes difficult. A job commenced a few minutes before another job might have consumes the supply of lower priced stock. This is particularly because of that the fact the first job might have completely exhausted the supply of materials of a particular lot.

#### **Suitability**

FIFO method is considered more suitable during the periods of falling prices. The reason is that the higher price at which the purchase of materials was made earlier stands recovered in cost. This method is suitable when the size of purchases is large but not much frequent. The moderate fluctuations in the prices of materials, and easy comparison between different jobs are also the important conditions for the use of this method.

#### **Last in First Out Method (LIFO)**

Under this method, it is assumed that the material/goods purchased in the last are issued first for production and those received first issued/sold

Notes

last. In case a new delivery is received before the first lot is fully used, price become the last-in price and is used for pricing issued until either the lot is exhausted or a new delivery is received.

As stated above, materials are issued to production at cost which may be vary near to current marked price. However, inventories at the end will be valued at old prices which may be out of tune with the current maked price.

# **Advantages:**

- (i) This method takes into account the current market circumstances while valuing materials issued to various jobs or ascertaining the cost of goods sold.
- (ii) No unrealised profit or loss is usually made in case this method is followed.

# **Disadvantages:**

- (i) The stock in hand is valued at a price which have become out-ofdate when compared with the current inventory prices.
- (ii) This method may not be acceptable for taxation purposes since the value of closing inventory may be quite different from the current market value.
- (iii) Comparison among similar jobs is very difficult because they may bear different issue prices for materials consumed.

**Suitability:** This method is most suitable for materials which are of a bulky and non-perishable type.

Implications of FIFO and LIFO method in case of rising and falling prices: Both these methods value the products manufactured at true costs because both are based on actual cost. But in period of rising and falling prices both have conflicting result.

In periods of rising prices the cost of production will be lower in case of FIFO method. This is simply because of the lowest material cost. Contrary to this, LIFO method will result in charging products at highest materials cost. Thus in case of rising price the application of FIFO method will result in higher profitability, and higher income tax liability, whereas the application of LIFO method result in lower profitability, which in turn will reduce income tax liability.

In periods of falling market, the cost of product will tend to be low with reference to the overall cost of inventory in case material cost is to be charged according to LIFO method. Hence, this method will be resulting in inflating of profits and increasing the tax liability. The reverse will be the case if FIFO method is followed. Production will be relatively overcharged. This will deflate the profits and reduce the income tax liability.

In periods of falling prices the ending inventory will be valued in FIFO method at a price lower than in case of LIFO method. The reverse will be the case when the prices are rising. Interestingly, on the basis of above

discussion, it may be concluded that in periods of falling prices, LIFO Inventory Valuation method tends to give a more meaningful balance sheet but less realistic income statement, whereas FIFO method gives a more meaningful income statement but a less realistic balance sheet. The reverse will be the situation in periods of rising prices.

Methods

Notes

Now the question arises about the superiority of the LIFO and FIFO methods. Based on forgoing discussion about implications of these methods in case of both rising and falling markets, it may be concluded that each method has its own merits and demerits depending upon the circumstances prevailing at a particular moment of time. Thus, no generalisation can be made regarding superiority of LIFO over FIFO or vice-versa.

#### 3. **Highest-in-First-our (HIFO)**

According to this method, the highest priced materials are treated as being issued first irrespective of the date of purchase. In fact, the inventory of materials or goods are kept at the lowest possible price. In periods of rising prices the closing inventory is undervalued and thus secret reserves are created. However, the highest cost of materials is recovered first. Consequently, the closing inventory amount remains at the minimum value. Hence, this method is very appropriate when the prices are frequently fluctuating. As this method involves calculation more than that of LIFO and FIFO methods, it has not been adopted widely.

#### 4. Base stock method

The base stock method assume that each business firm whether small or large must held a minimum quantity of materials finished foods at all times in order to carry on business smoothly. These minimum quantity of inventories are valued at the cost at which the base stock was acquired. It is assumed that the base stock is created out of the lot purchased. Inventories over and above the base stock are valued according to some other appropriate method such as FIFO, LIFO, etc.

AS-2 recommends the use of this method in exception circumstances only. This is because of the fact that a large number of companies customarily maintain a minimum stock level at all times irrespective of its requirement. Actually, sometimes base stock method is used without its justification. Therefore, this method requires a clear existence of the circumstances which require that a minimum level of charging out inventory of raw material and finished goods at actual cost along with merits and demerits of the method which is used for valuation other than the base stock method.

#### **Specific Identification Method** 5.

Under this method, each item of inventory is identified with its cost. The value of inventory will be constituted by the aggregate of various cost so identified. This method is very suitable for job order

Notes

industries which carry out individual or goods have been purchased for a specific job or customer. In other words, this method can be applied only where materials used can be specifically and big items such as high quality furniture, paintings, metal jewellery, cars, etc.

However, this method is not appropriate in most industries because of practical problems. For instance, in case of manufacturing company having numerous items of inventory, the task of identifying the cost of every individual item of inventory becomes very cumbersome. Also, it promotes the chances of manipulating the cost of goods sold. It can be done by selecting items that have a relatively high cost or a relatively low cost, as he desires.

# 6. Simple average Price (SAP)

This is the average of prices of different lots of purchase. Under this method no consideration is given to the quantity of purchases in various lots. For example the purchases of 500 units of materials at Rs. 10 per unit are made as on 5th January, 1995 and 800 units of materials at Rs. 14 per unit on 10th January. If at the end 200 units remains unissued/unsold, these will be valued at Rs. 12 = [(10 + 14)/2]per unit and hence, the closing inventory will be shown at Rs.  $2400 (200 \times 12 = 2400)$ . In fact, this method operated on the principle that when items of materials are purchased in big lots and are put in go down, their identity is lost and, therefore, issues should be priced at the average price of the lots in go down.

# 7. Weighted Average Price (WAP)

Under this method, the quantity of material purchased in various lots of purchases is considered as weight while pricing the materials. Weighted average price is calculated by dividing the total cost of material in stock by the total quantity of material at the end. When this method is adopted, the question of profit or loss out of varying prices does not arise because it evens out the effect of widely fluctuating prices of different lots of purchases. This method is very popular because it reduces calculations and is based on quantity and value of material purchased.

### **Method Based on Sale Price**

The inventories may be valued at marked or sale prices. Important among these prices are current selling prices, and net realisable value. Both of these are discussed as follows:

**Current Selling Prices:** The method is used in case of the product of which market as well as prices are controlled by a Government. Marketing costs being negligible are ignored under this method. This method is followed in the case of sugar industries, metal industries, etc.

**Net Realisable Value.** According to IAS-2, the net realisable value means, the estimate selling price in the ordinary course of business costs of completion and less costs necessarily to be incurred in order to make the sale. Estimates of net realisable value should not be guided by

temporary fluctuations in market prices. However, these should be Inventory Valuation arrived at after taking into consideration all expenses which might have to be incurred for making sales. Such cases where it is difficult to estimate the appropriate costs, say agriculture output, inventory are valued consistently at market values. This procedure of valuation is

The Lower of Cost or Market Price (LCM Rule)

accepted because of the saleability of the output at quoted prices.

This method is based on the accounting principle of conservatism according to which profits should not be anticipated but all losses foreseen should be provided for. For instance, the ending inventory consist of items purchased at cost of Rs.210 per unit. But the market price has fallen to Rs.200 per unit at the time of valuation of inventory. Hence, the items should be valued at Rs.200 per unit. This rule violate the matching concept which requires matching of revenues with the related product costs. This method also leads to inconsistency since in one year the valuation may be based on cost while in another it may be based on market price. However, even the critics of this rule favour the application of this rule for valuing obsolete or damaged inventories.

About inventories valuation AS-2, recommends that the general rule of valuing inventories should be at lower of historical cost and net realisable value subject to certain exceptions. The historical of the inventories should normally be determined by using FIFO, LIFO or Average Cost method. Inventory of by-products cannot be separately determined. It should be valued at net realisable value.

LCM rule can be applied in anyone of the following ways:

- 1. Aggregate/total inventory method: In this method, cost price of the total inventory is ascertained and then compared with total net realisable price to arise at stock valuation.
- 2. Group Method: Under this method, groups are formed of similar or interchangeable articles of inventory. The cost and the net realisable value of each group so formed are found out. The LCM rule is applied to each group.
- 3. Item-by-item-method: According to this method, the cost and net realisable prices of each item of inventory are found out and the lower of the figures is taken into account for valuation of inventory. Both IAS-2 and AS-2 have recommended the use of Group method and Item-by-Item method for valuation of inventory. The first method namely Aggregate or Total Inventory method have not been recommended by both the standards. The learner s will understand the difference between all the three methods from the following illustration.

#### **PURPOSE**

In certain cases, it is not possible for the business to take inventory on the date of balance sheet. It might have been taken on a date earlier or later than the date of balance sheet. In such a case, when student are

Methods

Notes

Notes

required to calculate the value of stock on the date of preparation of final accounts, then they should take into consideration information about additional transactions which occur during the period. For example, if value of stock on 28th March is given, then in order to find the value of stock on 31st March all purchases between these dates will be added. Likewise, if value of stock on 4th April is given and value of stock on the proceeding 31st March is required then purchases during the period will be added. Both of the above mentioned cases could be understood and elaborated as under:

(i) When the Position of stock is given on a date prior to the balance sheet date

In this case, the following adjustments will generally be required:

- (a) Add purchases made during the period.
- (b) Deduct purchases returns during the said period.
- (c) Deduct inventory issued/sold between the two dates.
- (d) Add sales returns between the two dates.
- (ii) When the position of stock is given on a date after the balance sheet date For example, if the balance sheet is to be prepared as on 31<sup>st</sup> March, 2005 and the stock position has been given as on 15th April, 2005 the following adjustments will be required:
- (a) Less purchases made between 1st April, 2005 to 15th April, 2005.
- (b) Add purchases returns between 1st April, 2005 to 15th April, 2005.
- (c) Add sales (at cost price) between 1st April, 2005 to 15th April, 2005.
- (d) Less sales returns between 1st April, 2005 to 15th April, 2005. The term inventory includes the value of raw materials. consumable, spares, work-in-progress, finished goods and scrap in which a company s funds have been invested. As per International Accounting Standard 2 (IAS-2), inventories mean tangible properties held: (i) for sale in the ordinary course of business; (ii) in the process of production for such sale; (iii) for consumption in the production of goods or services for sale. There are two methods of recording inventory, i.e., Periodic Inventory System and Perpetual Inventory System. In case of Periodic Inventory System, the value and quantity of Inventory is ascertained by physically connoting the stock at the end of the year. Perpetual inventory system means running record of inventories on hand and provides the inventory balance at any time desired. Methods of inventory valuation are- (i) Historical cost based methods; (ii) sale price base methods; (iii) lower of cost or sale price. Historical cost based methods include aggregate of cost of purchases, cost of conversion and other costs incurred in the normal course of business. The different methods for

assigning historical costs to inventory are- (i) first in first out method; (ii) Inventory Valuation last in first out; (iii) highest in first out; (iv) base stock method; (v) specific identification method; (vi) simple average method; (vii) weighted average price. Sale price base method includes current selling prices net realizable value.

Methods

Notes

# **KEYWORDS**

Cost: The amount of expenditure incurred on or attributable to a specified article, product or activity.

Current Asset: Cash and other assets that are expected to be converted into cash or consumed in the production of goods or services.

First in First Out (FIFO): Computation of the cost of items sold or consumed during a period as though they were sold or consumed in order of their acquisition.

Last in, First Out (LIFO): Computation of cost of items sold or consumed during a period on the basis that the items last acquired were sold first.

Inventory: Tangible property held for sale in the ordinary course of business or in the process of production for such sale.

# **REVIEW OUESTIONS**

- 1. State whether the following statements are True or False:
- Periodic inventory gives a continuous balance of stock in hand. (a)
- (b) Inventory valuation affects only the income statement.
- A major objective of accounting for inventories is the proper (c) determination of income.
- (d) LIFO method is suitable for items which are of a non-perishable and bulky type.
- Inventory should be valued at the lower of historical cost and (e) current replacement cost.
- Inventory should be valued at the lower of cost price or net realisable value.
- system which gives continuous information (g) regarding quantum and value of inventory is known as period inventory.
- 2. Indicate the correct answer:
- Inventory is valued at lower of the cost or net realisable value on account of the accounting principle of:
- (a) Realisation
- (b) Consistency
- Conservatism (c)
- (ii) Selling expenses are included in stock valuation by:
- Trading concerns (a)
- Job order industries (b)
- Process industries (c)

Notes

ibies of Accounting

(iii) The system which gives continuous information regarding quantum and value of inventory is known as:

- (a) Continuous stock taking
- (b) Periodic Inventory
- (c) Perpetual Inventory
- (iv) The cost formulae recommended by IAS-2 for valuation of inventories are:
- (a) FIFO or weighted average
- (b) Standard Cost
- (c) HIFO or Standard Cost
- (v) The value of inventory will be the least in case of
- (a) Aggregate or total inventory method
- (b) Item-by-item method
- (c) Group or category method
- 3. What are the various methods of inventory valuation? Discuss the impact of each method on working results.
- 4. What is the principle behind valuation of inventory at cost or market price whichever is lower?
- 5. What are the main recommendations of AS-2 regarding valuation of inventories?
- 6. Differentiate the following:
- (a) LIFO and FIFO method
- (b) Periodic inventory valuation and Perpetual inventory valuation
- (c) Item-by-item method and Group method
- 7. What is the need of valuing inventory properly? Discuss. To what extent this need is fulfilled by various methods of valuing inventories.
- 8. Arvind Ltd. uses large quantities of a sweetening material for its products. The following figure relates to this material valued for accounting purposes at cost of Rs. 600 a tonne. Delivery of goods to the factory is made on the first day of each quarter. You are required to compute the value of stock as on December 31, 2000 applying LIFO and FIFO methods.

# **FURTHER READINGS**

- 1. Principles of Accounting-Belverd E. Needles, Marian Powers, Susan V. Crosson 2013 Preview More editions
- 2. Principles of Accounting-P. Hosein
- 3. Principles of Accounting-Gaylord N. Smith
- 4. Principles of Accounting-Donatila Agtarap-San Juan
- 5. Principles of Accounting-Harry Anson Finney

# UNIT-12 ACCOUNTING FOR DEPRECIATION

Accounting for Depreciation

Notes

# **CONTENTS**

- Introduction
- Causes of Depreciation
- ❖ Need For Providing Depreciation
- ❖ Basic Elements of Depreciation
- Methods of Recording Depreciation
- Methods of Calculating Depreciation
- ❖ Sale of An Asset
- Depreciation On An Asset Purchased In The Course of A Year
- Change of Depreciation Method
- Review Questions
- Further Readings

# INTRODUCTION

The term depreciation refers to the reduction in or loss of quality or value of a fixed asset through wear or tear in or tear, in use, effusion of time, obsolescence through technology and market changes or from any other cause. Depreciation take place in case of all fixed assets with certain possible exceptions e.g. land and antiques etc, although the process may be invisible or gradual. Depreciation does take place irrespective of regular repairs and proper maintenance of assets. The word depreciation is closely related to the concept of business income. Unless it is charged against revenues, we cannot say that the business income has been ascertained properly. This is because of the fact that the use of long term assets tend to consume their economic value and at some point of time these assets become useless. The economic value so consumed must be recovered from the revenue of the firm to have a proper measure of its income. Hence, the reader s must understand that the process of

charging depreciation is the technique used by accountants for recovering the cost of fixed assets over a period.

The following definition will make the understanding of the concept of depreciation more convenient to the learner s. According to IAS-4, Depreciation is the allocation of the depreciable amount of an asset over its estimated useful life,

According to AS-6, depreciation is a measure of wearing out, consumption or other of value of a depreciable asset arising from use, effusion of time or obsolescence through technology and market changes. Depreciation is allocated so as to charge a fair proportion of the

Notes

depreciable amount in each accounting period during the expected useful life of the assets. Depreciation includes amortisation of assets whose useful life is pre determined.

The American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) employed the definition as given below Depreciation Accounting is a system of accounting which aims to distribute the cost or other basic value of tangible capital assets, less salvage value (if any) over the estimated useful life of unit (which may be a group of assets) in a systematic and rational manner. It a process of allocation, not of valuation. Depreciation for the year is the portion of the total charge under such a system that is allocated to the year.

From the above definitions it is clear that each accounting period must be charged with a fair proportion of the depreciable amount of the asset, during the expected useful life of the asset. Depreciable amount of an asset is its historical cost less the estimated residual value. Finally, it could be concluded that depreciation is a gradual reduction in the economic value of an asset from any cause.

Depreciation, Depletion and Amortisation: The terms depreciation, depletion and amortisation are used often interchangeably. However, these different terms have been developed in accounting usage for describing this process for different types of assets. These terms have been described as follows:

**Depreciation:** Depreciation is concerned with charging the cost of man made fixed assets to operation (and not with determination of asset value for the balance sheet). In other words, the term depreciation is used when expired utility of physical asset (building, machinery, or equipment) is to be recorded.

**Depletion:** This term is applied to the process of removing an available but irreplaceable resource such as extracting coal from a coal miner or oil out of an oil well. Depletion differs from depreciation in that the former implies removal of a natural resource, while the latter implies a reduction in the service capacity of an asset.

**Amortisation:** The process of writing off intangible assets is termed as amortisation. The intangible assets like patents, copyrights, leaseholds and goodwill are recorded at cost in the books of account.

Many of these assets have a limited useful life and are, therefore, written off.

Obsolescence: It refers to the decline in the useful life of an asset because of factors like (i) technological advancements, (ii) changes in the market demand of the product, (iii) legal or other restrictions, or (iv) improvement in production process.

#### **CAUSES OF DEPRECIATION**

The depreciation occurs because of the following:

- 1. Constant use: The constant use of assets results into their wear and tear, which in turn reduces their working capacity. Hence, a decrease in the value of assets may be seen due to reduced capacity. The value of assets like, machinery, furniture, etc., declines with the constant use of them.
- 2. Passage of Time: Many fixed assets lose their value with the passage of time. This holds true in case of intangible fixed assets such as patents, copy rights, lease hold properties, etc. The term amortisation is generally used to indicate the reduction in the value of such assets.
- 3. Depletion: Depletion also causes decline in the value of certain assets. This is true in case of wasting assets such as mines, oil wells and forest-stands. On account of continuous extraction of minerals or oils, these assets go on declining in their value and finally they gets completely exhausted.
- 4. Obsolescence: There may not be any physical deterioration in the asset itself. Despite of this there may be reduction in the utility of an asset that results from the development of a better method, machine or process. For example, an old machine which is still in good working condition may have to be replaced by a new machine because of the later being more economical as well as efficient. In fact, new inventions, developments in production processes, changes in demand for product or services, etc. make the asset out of date.
- 5. Accidents: An asset may get reduction in its value if it meets an accident.
- 6. Permanent Fall in the Market Value: Certain assets may get permanent fall in their value and this decline in their value is treated as depreciation. For example, a permanent decline in the market value of securities and investment may be assumed as depreciation

# NEED FOR PROVIDING DEPRECIATION

The need for providing depreciation arises on account of the following points:

1. To Ascertain the Profits or Losses: The true profits or losses could be ascertained when all costs of earning revenues have been properly charged against them. Fixed assets like building, plant and machinery, furniture, motor vehicles etc are important tool in earning business income. But the cost of the fixed asset is not charged to profit and loss of the accounting period in which the asset is purchased. Therefore, the cost of the fixed asset less its salvage value must be allocated rationally to the periods that receive benefit from the use of the asset. Thus, depreciation is an item of business expense and must be provided for a proper matching of costs with the revenue.

Accounting for Depreciation

Notes

Notes

- 2. To show the Asset as its Reasonable Value: The assets get decrease in their value over a period of time on account of various such as passage of time, constant use, accidents, etc. Therefore, if the depreciation is not charged then the asset will appear in the balance sheet at the over stated value. This practice is unfair as the balance sheet fail to present the true financial position.
- 3. Replacement of assets: Business assets become useless at the expiry of their life and, therefore, need replacement. The cash resources of the concern are saved from being distributed by way of dividend by providing for depreciation. The resources so saved, if set aside in each year, may be adequate to replace it at the end of life of the asset.
- 4. To Reduce Income Tax: If tax is paid on the business income without providing for depreciation then it will be in excess to the actual income tax. This is a loss to the businessman. Thus, for calculating tax, depreciation should be deducted be from income similar to the other expenses.

#### BASIC ELEMENTS OF DEPRECIATION

In order to assess depreciation amount to be charged in respect of an asset in an accounting period the following three important factors should be considered:

- 1. Cost of the asset: The knowledge about the cost of the asset is very essential for determining the amount of depreciation to be charged to the profit and loss account. The cost of the asset includes the invoice price of the asset less any trade discount plus all costs essential to make the asset usable. Cost of transportation and transit insurance are included in acquisition cost. However, the financial charges such as interest on money borrowed for the purchase for the purchase of the asset should no be included in the cost of the asset.
- 2. Estimated life of the asset: Estimated life generally means that for how many years or hours an asset could be used in business with ordinary repairs for generating revenues. For estimating useful life of an asset one must begin with the consideration of its physical life and the modifications, if any, made, factors of obsolescence and experience with similar assets. In fact, the economic life of an asset is shorter than its physical life. The physical life is based mostly on internal policies such as intensity of use, repairs, maintenance and replacements. The economic life, on the other hand, is based mostly on external factors such as obsolescence from technological changes.
- 3. Scrap Value of the Asset: The salvage value of the asset is that value which is estimated to be realised on account of the sale of the asset at the end of its useful life. This value should be calculated after

deducting the disposal costs from the sale value of the asset. If the scrap value is considered as insignificant, it is normally regarded as nil

Accounting for Depreciation

Notes

# METHODS OF RECORDING DEPRECIATION

There are two methods of recording depreciation in the books of accounts:

# When a provision for depreciation account is maintained

The following journal entries are passed in case method is followed:

i) Depreciation account Dr.

To provision for Depreciation

Account

(for providing depreciation)

ii) Profit and loss Account Dr.

To Depreciation account

(for closing depreciation account)

iii) Provision for Depreciation account Dr.

To Asset Account

(entry on sale of an asset)

iv) Any amount realised on account of sale of the asset is credited to the Asset Account. The balance, if any, in the Asset Account is transferred to the profit and loss Account.

# When a provision for depreciation account is not maintained

The following journal entries are passed in this method:

i) Depreciation account Dr.

To Asset Account

(Entry for providing depreciation)

ii) Profit and loss Account Dr.

To Depreciation Account

(Entry for closing Depreciation Account)

iii) In case the asset is sold, the amount realised is credited to the Asset Amount. Any profit or loss on sale of the asset is transferred to the Profit and loss account.

# METHODS OF CALCULATING DEPRECIATION

The following are various methods of depreciation in use:

- 1. Fixed instalment method or straight line method.
- 2. Machine hour rate method.
- 3. Diministing Balance method.
- 4. Sum of years digits method
- 5. Annuity method
- 6. Depreciation Fund Method
- 7. Insurance Policy Method
- 8. Depletion Method.

Notes

# **Straight Line Method**

This is also known as fixed instalment method. Under this method the depreciation is charged on the uniform basis year after year. When the amount of depreciation charged yearly under this method is plotted on a graph paper, we shall get a straight line. Thus, the straight line method assumes that depreciations is a function, of time rather than use in the sense that each accounting period received the same benefit from using the asset as every other period. The formula for calculating depreciation charge for each accounting period is:

# **Amount of annual Depreciation:**

# = <u>Original cost of the fixed assets --Residual value</u> Estimated Life in years

This method has many shortcomings. First, it does not take into consideration the reasonal fluctuations, booms and depression. The amount of depreciation is the same in that year in which the machine is used day and night to that in the another year in which it is used for some months. Second, it ignores the interest on the money spent on the acquisition of that asset. Third, the total charge for use of asset (i.e., depreciation and repairs) goes on increasing form year to year though the assets might have been use uniformly from year to year. For example, repairs cost together with depreciation charge in the beginning years is much less than what it is in the later year. Thus, each subsequent year is burdened with grater charge for the use of asset on account of increasing cost on repairs.

# **Machine Hour Rate Method**

In case of this method, the running time of the asset is taken into account for the purpose of calculating the amount of depreciation. It is suitable for charging depreciation on plant and machinery, air-crafts, gliders, etc. The amount of depreciation is calculated as follows:

Acquisition cost of the assets Scrap value Life of the Asset in hours

If in a particular year, the machine runs for 490 hours, the amount of depreciation will be Rs. 4900 (i.e., Rs. 10x490). It is obvious from this example that under machine hour rate method the amount of depreciation is closely related with the frequency of use of an asset. The simplicity in calculations and understanding is the main advantage of this methods. However, it can be used only in case of those assets whose life can be measured in terms of working time.

# **Diministing Balance Method**

This is also known as Written down value method [WDV]. Under the diminishing balance method depreciation is charged at fixed rate on the reducing balance (i.e., cost less depreciation) every year. Thus, the amount of depreciation goes on decreasing every year. Under this method also the amount of depreciation is transferred to profit and loss

account in each of the year and in the balance sheet the asset is shown at book value after reducing depreciation from it. For example, if an asset is purchased for Rs. 10,000 and depreciation is to be charged at 20% p.a. on reducing balance system then the depreciation for the first year will be Rs. 2000. In the second year, it will Rs. 600 (i.e. 20% of 8000), in the third year Rs. 1280 (i.e. 20% of 6400) and so on.

Accounting for Depreciation

Notes

# **Merits of Diminishing Balance Method**

- (i) It is very easy to understand and calculate the amount of depreciation despite the early variation in the book value after depreciation
- (ii) This method put an equal burden for use of the asset on each subsequent year since the amount of depreciation goes on decreasing for each subsequent year while the charge for repairs goes on increasing for each subsequent year.
- (ii) This method has also been approved by the income tax act applicable in India
  - (iii) (iv) Asset is never reduced to zero because if the rate of depreciation is (say) 20%. Then even when asset is reduced to very small value, there must remain the 80% of that small value as on written off balance.

#### **Demerit**

- (i) It ignores the interest on the capital committed to purchase that asset.
- (ii) It does not provide adequately for replacing the asset at the end of its life.
- (iii) The calculation of rate of depreciation is not so simple.

# Suitability

This method is suitable in those cases where the receipts are expected to decline as the asset gets older and, it is believed that the allocation of depreciation of depreciation ought to be related to the pattern of assets expected receipts. Under this method also the amount of depreciation goes on diministing in the future years similar to that under diministing Balance method.

## **Annuity Method**

So far we have described such methods of charging depreciation which ignore the interest factor. Also, sometimes it becomes inconvenient for a company to follow any of the methods discussed earlier. Under such circumstances the company may use some special depreciation systems. Annuity method is one of these special systems of depreciation. Under this system, the depreciation is charged on the basis that besides losing the acquisition cost of the asset the business also loses interest on the amount used for purchasing the asset. Here, interest refers to that income which the business would have earned otherwise if the money used in buying the asset would have been committed in some other profitable

Notes

investment. Therefore, under the annuity method the amount of total depreciation is determined by adding the cost and interest thereon at an expected rate. The annuity table is used to help in the determination of the amount of depreciation. A specimen of Annuity Table is as follows:

# **Evaluation of Annuity Method**

Merits

- (i) This method keep into account interest on money spent on the purchase of the asset.
- (ii) The value of the asset become zero at the end of life.

#### **Demerits**

- (i) This method is comparatively more difficult than the methods discussed so far.
- (ii) (ii) It makes no arrangement of money to replace the old asset with the new one at the expiry of its life.
- (iii) Under this method the burden on the profit and loss account is no similar in each year because the depreciation remains constant year after year but the interest goes on decreasing.

Business assets become useless at the expiry of their life and therefore, need replacement. However, all the methods of depreciation discussed above do not help in accumulating the amount which can be readily available for the replacement of the asset its useful life comes to an end Depreciation fund method takes care of such a contingency as it incorporates the benefits of depreciating the asset as well

as accumulating the necessary amount for its replacement. Under this method, the amount of depreciation charged from the profit and loss account is invested in certain securities carrying a particular rate of interest. The interest received on the investment in such securities is also invested every year together with the amount of annual depreciation. In the last of the life of asset the depreciation amount is set aside interest is received as usual. But the amount is not invested because the amount is immediately needed for the purchase of new asset. Rather all the investments so far accumulated are sold away. Cash realised on the sale of investments is utilised for the purchase of new asset. The following accounting entries are generally made in order to work out this system of depreciation.

- 1. At the end of the first year
- (i) for setting aside the amount of depreciation: The amount to be charge by way of depreciation is determined on the basis of sinking Fund Table given as an Appendix at the end of every book of accountancy.

Depreciation Account Dr.

To Depreciation Fund Account (or Sinking Fund A/c)

(ii) For investing the amount charged by way of depreciation: Depreciation Fund Investment A/c Dr.

To Bank A/c

Accounting for Depreciation

2. In the second and subsequent years

(i) For receiving interest. The interest on the balance of Depreciation Fund Investment outstanding in the beginning of each year will be received by the end of the year. This entry is:

Notes

Bank Account Dr.

To Depreciation Fund Account

(ii) For setting aside the amount of depreciation

Profit and Loss A/c Dr.

To Depreciation Fund A/c

(iii) For investing the amount

Depreciation Fund Investment A/c Dr.

To Bank A/c

(Annual instalment of depreciation and interest received invested)

- 3. In the last year
- (i) For receiving interest:

Bank A/c Dr.

To Depreciation Fund A/c

(ii) For setting aside the amount of depreciation

Profit and loss A/c Dr.

To depreciation Fund A/c

Note: In the last year no investment will be made, because the amount is immediately required for the purchase of new asset.

(iii) For the sale of investment:

Bank A/c Dr.

To Depreciation Fund Investment A/c

(iv) For the transfer of profit or loss on sale on investments: The profit or loss on the sale of these investments is transferred to the Depreciation Fund Account.

The entry for loss:

Depreciation Fund A/c Dr.

To Depreciation Fund Investment A/c

The entry for profit

Depreciation Fund Investment A/c

To Depreciation Fund A/c

(v) For the sale of old asset:

Bank A/c Dr.

To asset A/c

(vi) The depreciation fund is transferred to asset account and any balance left in the asset account is transferred to profit and loss account.

The entry is:

Depreciation Fund A/c. Dr.

To asset A/c

Notes

(vii) The balance in Asset Account represents profit or loss. Therefore it will be transferred to the profit and loss account.

(viii) The cash realised on the sale of investments and the old asset is utilised for the purchase of new asset.

### **DEPRECIATION FUND ACCOUNT**

Under this method, instead of investing the money in securities an insurance policy for the required amount is taken. The amount of the policy is such that it is adequate to replace the asset when it is worn out. A fixed sum equal to the amount do depreciation is paid as premium every year. Company receiving premium allows a small rate of interest on compound basis. At the maturity of the policy, the insurance company pays the agreed amount with which the new asset can be purchased. Accounting entries will be made as follows.

- 1. First and every subsequent years
- (a) Depreciation Insurance policy A/c Dr.

To Bank

(Entry in the beginning of the year for payment of insurance premium)

(b) Profit and loss Account Dr.

To Depreciation fund A/c

(Entry at the end of the year for providing depreciation)

- 2. Last year
- (a) Bank A/c Dr.

To Depreciation Policy A/c

(Entry for the amount of policy received)

(b) For transfer of profit on insurance policy:

Depreciation Insurance Policy A/c Dr.

To Depreciation Fund A/c

(c) For transfer of accumulated depreciation to the asset account:

Depreciation Fund A/c Dr.

To Asset A/c

(d) On purchase of new asset:

On purchase of new asset:

New Asset A/c Dr.

To Bank

This is also known as productive output method. In this method it is essential to make an estimate of the units of output the asset will produce in its life time. This method is suitable in case of mines, queries, etc., where it is possible to make an estimate of the total output likely to be available. Depreciation is calculated per unit of output. Formula for calculating the depreciation rate is as under:

This method is useful where the output can be measured effectively, and the utility of the asset is directly related to its production use. Thus, the method provides the benefit of correlating the amount of depreciation with the productive use of asset.

#### SALE OF AN ASSET

Notes

An enterprise may sell an asset either because of obsolescence or inadequacy or even for other reasons. In case an asset is sold during the course of the year, the amount realised should be credited to the Asset Account. The amount of depreciation for the period of which the asset has been used should be written off in the usual manner. Any balance in the Asset Account will represent profit or loss on disposal of the asset. This balance in the Asset Account should be transferred to the profit and loss account.

# DEPRECIATION ON AN ASSET PURCHASED IN THE COURSE OF A YEAR

Two alternatives are available regarding charging of depreciation on assets which have been bought during the course of an accounting year. These are as follows:

- 1. Depreciation may be charged only for the part of the year for which the asset could have been made available for use after purchase of it.
- 2. Depreciation may be charged for the full year irrespective of the date of purchase. It will be ascertained at the given rate of depreciation. The Income tax authorities also permit this.

Important Note: If there is no specific instruction in the question about depreciation, the students should give the assumption made by them in this regard. But, in case rate of depreciation has been given as a certain percentage per annum and the purchasing date has been given, it is suggested to calculate depreciation only for the part of the year for which the asset has been made available for its use.

### **CHANGE OF DEPRECIATION METHOD**

To ensure comparability of results from year to year, it is essential that once a method of depreciation is selected by the management it should be followed consistently. However, sometimes a change in the method of depreciation may be required. The change may be required either because of statutory compulsion or required by an accounting standard or change would result in more appropriate presentational the financial statements.

The change in the method of depreciation may be desired from the current year onwards. In such a case, depreciation will be charged according to the new method from the current year.

### **Working Notes**

Depreciation on straight line basis
 Change in the Method of Depreciation from a back date
 Sometimes a change in the method of depreciation is effected

retrospectively. In such a case, the following steps are required:

Notes

- (i) Find out the depreciation which has already been charged according to the old method or at the old rate.
- (ii) Compute the amount of depreciation that is to be charged according to the new method form the back date upto the end of the previous year.
- (iii) Find the difference, if any, under (i) and (ii) mentioned above.
- (iv) In the current year in addition to the depreciation for the current year charge also the difference found under step (iii).

The term depreciation refers to the reduction or loss of quality or value of a fixed asset through wear or tear, in use, effusion of time, obsolescence through technology and market changes or from any other cause. The term depreciation, depletion and amortization are used often interchangeably. However, these different terms have been developed in accounting usage for describing this process for different type of assets. The term depreciation is concerned with charging the cost of man-made fixed assets, depletion applied to the process of removing an available but irreplaceable resource such as coal mines or oil well, amortisation refers to the process of writing off intangible assets. The main objectives of charging depreciation are to ascertain the true profits or losses and to show the assets at its reasonable value. The amount of depreciation to be charged depends upon cost of the asset, estimated life of the asset and scrap value of the asset. There are different methods of charging depreciation, i.e., fixed instalment method, machine hour rate method, diminishing balance method, sum of years digits method, annuity method, depreciation fund method, insurance policy method and depletion method.

# **REVIEW QUESTIONS**

- 1. Why is it necessary to calculate depreciation? Discuss various factors which are considered for calculating depreciation?
- 2. Distinguish between the following:
- (a) Straight line method and diminishing balance method.
- (b) Annuity method and depreciation Fund method.
- (c) Depreciation and depletion
- 3. Explain the circumstances under which different methods of depreciation can be employed.
- 4. Discuss the advantages and disadvantage of Insurance Policy Method and Straight Line Method.
- 5. What is sum of the year-digits method do depreciation? In what way does it differ from sinking fund method or depreciation?
- 6. A firm purchases a plant for a sum of Rs. 10,000 on 1<sup>st</sup> January 1990. Installation charges are Rs. 2,000. Plant is estimated to have a scrap value of Rs. 1,000 at the end of its useful life of five years. You are

required to prepare the plant account for five years charging depreciation according to Straight Line Method

Accounting for Depreciation

Notes

# **FURTHER READINGS**

- 1. Principles of Accounting-Belverd E. Needles, Marian Powers, Susan V. Crosson 2013 Preview More editions
- 2. Principles of Accounting-P. Hosein
- 3. Principles of Accounting-Gaylord N. Smith
- 4. Principles of Accounting-Donatila Agtarap-San Juan
- 5. Principles of Accounting-Harry Anson Finney

# UNIT-13 ACCOUNTING FOR NON-PROFIT MAKING ORGANISATION

# **CONTENTS**

- Introduction
- \* Receipts and Payments Account
- \* Balance Sheet
- Income and Expenditure Account
- Review Questions
- Further Readings

# INTRODUCTION

Non-profit making organisations, also known as non-trading institutions or organisations, include such voluntary associations of persons as are formed for the purpose of providing recreational facilities to its members or to promote art, culture, education, commerce, science, religion and other social and charitable purposes. There is no purchase or manufacture of goods for trading purposes in these non-profit making organisations. The primary object of these institutions is to render a service to their members (or society) or to satisfy members common needs. The examples of such organisations include sport clubs, educational institutions. hospitals, libraries, temples, churches. gurudwaras, masjids. Similarly, the associations of manufacturers or traders and professionals are also non-profit making organisations and include medical councils, banker s association, teachers association, The Institute of Chartered Accountants of India, The Institute of Cost and Works Accountants of India, The Institute of Company Secretaries of India. All these entities are formed for the purpose of promotion and protection of their professional interests. The non-trading organisations too like trading organisations have to prepare the financial statements at the end of the accounting year. The non-trading institutions are different from the trading institutions in several respects. They have not to purchase and sell goods, accept or receive bills of exchange nor do they have too many credit transactions. Most of their transactions are cash transactions and, therefore, they need not maintain as many books of accounts as trading institutions have to maintain. However, they do maintain a cash book and minimum number of such other books which may be required for their purposes. For example, a Register of Members, a Minute Book are maintained in case of a club or a society, a student fee register is maintained in case of a school or a college, a summary record

of outstanding fees may be kept by an Advocate or a Chartered Accounting for Non-Profit Accountant.

Making Organization

Notes

At the end of the accounting period, a non-trading institution also prepares its final accounts, which include the following:

- (i) Receipts and Payments Account,
- (ii) Income and Expenditure Account, and
- Balance Sheet. (iii)

# RECEIPTS AND PAYMENTS ACCOUNT

Receipts and Payments Account is a summary of cash transactions for a given period. All the receipts, by cash or by cheque, are entered on the debit side, whereas all the payments, by cash or by cheque, are shown on the credit side. It begins with an opening balance (Cash or/and Bank) and is debited with all the items of receipts irrespective of whether they are of capital or revenue nature or whether they pertain to the accounting period or not. The payments are recorded on the credit side without making any distinction between items of capital and revenue nature and irrespective of the fact whether they belong to the accounting period or not. Moreover, this account is not used to record outstanding items of receipts and payments since these are non-cash items. At the end of the accounting period, this account is balanced to ascertain the balance of cash in hand or at the bank or the overspent amount or bank overdraft.

#### **Features**

The main features of the Receipts and Payments Account can be summarised as follows:

- It is a real account, i.e., it is a summarised copy of cash receipts (a) and cash payments.
- It s form is similar to Cash Book (without discount and bank (b) columns) with debit and credit sides. Receipts are recorded on the debit side while payments being entered on the credit side.
- (c) It records all receipts and payments irrespective of the distinction between capital and revenue items. In other words, both capital and revenue receipts and payments are included.
- Only actual receipts and payments during the accounting period, (d) whether relating to previous or current or succeeding years are recorded in it.
- The opening and closing balances in it mean cash in hand/bank in (e) the beginning and at the end, respectively. The balance of Receipts and Payments Account must be debit being cash on hand and/or at bank, unless there is a bank overdraft.

# RECEIPTS AND PAYMENTS ACCOUNTFOR THE YEAR ENDED.....

It is a nominal account of non-trading institutions equivalent to the Profit and Loss Account of the business concerns. It shows the classified

Notes

summary of incomes, expenses and losses for current accounting period along with the excess of income over expenditure (i.e. surplus) or excess of expenditure over income (i.e. deficit) which is transferred to Capital Fund in the Balance Sheet. It is generally prepared from a given Receipts and Payments Account after making necessary adjustments. An Income and Expenditure Account being itself a nominal account includes only nominal accounts or revenue items. All items of revenue nature (nominal accounts) pertaining to relevant accounting period and, which appear, on the debit side of the Receipts and Payments Account are entered on the credit side (i.e. income side) of the Income and Expenditure Account with necessary adjustments for prepaid or outstanding figures. Similarly, all the revenue items (nominal accounts) appearing on the credit side of the Receipts and Payments Account will be entered on the debit side (i.e. expenditure side) of the Income and Expenditure Account with necessary adjustments as to prepaid or outstanding items. Thus, items of capital nature, such as purchase of machinery, building, furniture, etc. Shall appear in the Balance Sheet. The end balance of the Income and Expenditure Account, which may be either excess of income over expenditure or excess of expenditure over income would be added to or deducted from, as the case may be, the Capital Fund on the liabilities side of the Balance Sheet. Its essential features can be put as follows:

- (a) It is debited with the expenses and losses.
- (b) It is credited with the incomes.
- (c) It records only those incomes, expenses and losses which are of revenue nature.
- (d) It records only those incomes, expenses and losses which relates to current accounting year.
- (e) It records non-cash items also (e. g. depreciation).
- (f) Its balance at the end which represents either the net surplus (if credit side exceeds debit side) or net deficit (if debit side exceeds credit side) is transferred to the Capital Fund in the Balance Sheet.

# INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT FOR THE YEAR ENDING ON.....and income and expenditure account

- 1. Receipts and Payments Account is a summarised statement of cash receipts and cash payments during a particular period, whereas Income and Expenditure Account is the substitute of Profit and Loss Account for non-trading concerns.
- 2. While Receipts and Payments Account, just like cash book, commences with opening cash balance/bank balance and closes with closing cash balance/bank balance, Income and Expenditure Account has nothing to do with opening or closing cash/bank balances.

Receipts and Payments Account concerns itself with actual cash Accounting for Non-Profit 3. received or paid during the period and ignores outstanding expenses as well as income accrued whereas Income and Expenditure Account includes all income even if not received and all expenses even if not paid.

Making Organization

Notes

- 4. Though Receipts and Payments Account includes both capital and revenue items, Income and Expenditure Account includes revenue items only.
- 5. While Receipts and Payments Account shows receipts on the debit side and payments on the credit side, Income and Expenditure Account shows income on the credit side and expenses on the debit side.
- 6. Receipts and Payments Account includes items relating to preceding as well as succeeding years. Income and Expenditure Account, on the other hand, concerns itself, only with income and expenditure of the period to which it relates.
- 7. In Receipts and Payments Account difference between two sides will represent closing cash/bank balance. In Income and Expenditure Account, the difference will mean either excess of income over expenditure or vice-versa.
- 8. Receipts and Payments Account is generally accompanied by statement of affairs, whereas Income and Expenditure Account is always accompanied by Balance Sheet.
- 9. Receipts and Payments Account belongs to the category of real accounts, but Income and Expenditure Account belongs to the family of nominal accounts.

# **BALANCE SHEET**

Balance Sheet of a non-trading concern is prepared in the usual way and contains particulars of all assets on right-hand side and liabilities on lefthand side of the concern on the date on which it is prepared. The excess of total assets over total outside liabilities is known as Capital Fund. While preparing the Balance Sheet, the excess of income over expenditure is added to the opening Capital Fund and the excess of expenditure over the income is deducted from the opening Capital Fund. Sometimes, two balance sheets may have to be prepared (i) Balance Sheet in the beginning of the accounting year to ascertain the amount of Capital Fund in the beginning of the accounting year, and (ii) Balance Sheet at the end of the accounting year to show the financial position of the concern as on that date.

# Items Peculiar to Non-profit making organisations

The technique of preparing the final accounts of a non-trading concern is similar to that of preparing final accounts of a trading concern. However, there are certain peculiar items in case of non-trading institutions. The

Notes

accounting treatment of these items and their presentation in the final accounts is as follows:

## 1. Legacy

Legacy refers to the amount which one gets on account of a will. The amount received on account of a legacy appears on the receipts side of Receipts and Payments Account. It should not be treated as an income because it is not of recurring in nature but should be treated as capital receipt, i.e., credited to Capital Fund Account.

#### 2. Donations

This is very common receipt for non-trading institutions. It is a sort of gift in cash or property from some person, firm or a company. It appears on the receipts side of the Receipts and Payments Account, if received in cash. Donations can be for specific purposes or for general purposes. The accounting treatment for these is as follows:

- (a) Specific donation: In case a donation has been received for a specific purpose, the donation is termed as a specific donation. For example, an institution may receive donation for construction of building or for giving prizes to best artist. The amount of such donation cannot, therefore, be used for general purpose. It should be taken to the Balance Sheet on the liabilities side and be used only for the purpose which it is meant, irrespective of the amount.
- (b) General donation: A donation not received for a specific purpose is termed as general donation. In case, the general donation is of a big or large amount, it can fairly taken for granted that such donation is of a non-recurring nature and, therefore, should be taken to the Balance Sheet on the liabilities side. However, if the donation is of a small amount and not meant for a specific purpose, it can be taken to credit side of the Income and Expenditure Account. Whether the donation is of big amount or small amount would depend on the facts of each case. For example, in case of an educational institution, a sum of Rs. 11,000 can be taken as a small donation, but for a cricket club, a sum of Rs. 11,000 is quite substantial and, therefore, it will be proper to take the amount of such donation received to the Balance Sheet.

### INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT

This is the major source of revenue income of a non-trading institution. Subscriptions are the amounts paid by the members of such entity to maintain their membership. Subscriptions may be paid periodically (usually on yearly basis) or as a lump sum for life- membership. Periodical subscriptions are treated as revenue receipts, whereas life membership subscriptions are usually treated as capital receipts and, thus, are transferred to the Capital Fund. The Receipts and

Payments Account records the amount of actual subscriptions received while the Income and Expenditure Account recordsonly the subscriptions which relate to the accounting period, whether received or

not. Adjustments may, therefore, be required to be made to find out the actual amount of income from subscription.

Accounting for Non-Profit Making Organization

Notes

## 4. Entrance fee or admission fee

This is the amount of fee usually charged by a club or a society or an educational institution from the new entrants. It is usually taken as an item of income. There are arguments that since it is paid only once for all and of non-recurring nature and, therefore, should be capitalised and taken to the liabilities side of the Balance Sheet. But another argument is that though it is paid by each member only once, the club or institution receives it regularly because of frequent changes in its membership for one reason or the other. Accordingly, it should be treated as revenue income and credited to Income and Expenditure Account. In the absence of any specific instructions about entrance fee in the question, any one of the above treatment may be followed but students should append a note justifying their treatment.

# 5. Sale of old newspapers and periodicals

The sale proceeds of old newspapers and periodicals is of a recurring nature and should, therefore, be taken as income in the Income and Expenditure Account.

#### 6. Sale of old fixed assets

The sale proceeds of old fixed assets are treated as capital receipts and, thus, are credited to the respective fixed assets account. However, the profit or loss on sale of fixed assets is shown in the Income and Expenditure Account.

# 7. Sale of sports material

Sale of sports material is a regular feature of clubs and the amount received is treated as an ordinary or revenue income. It is, therefore, shown in the credit side of the Income and Expenditure Account.

#### 8. Endowment Fund

It is a fund arising from a bequest or gift, the income of which is devoted for a specific purpose. Thus, endowment fund is a capital receipt and is shown in the liabilities side of the Balance Sheet.

#### 9. Payment of Honorarium

This is the payment to a person for his specific services rendered by him not as a regular employee. For example, the payment made to a Professor to deliver lecture on a topic or to a Television artist for his/her specific performance, is termed as honorarium. This is an item of expense and is shown in the debit side of the Income and Expenditure Account.

### 10. Special Funds

An institution may keep special funds for some special purposes. For example, a sports club may keep a special fund for meeting sports expenses or for awarding of sports prizes. In case such special funds, all incomes relating to such funds should be added to these funds in the Balance Sheet on the liabilities side. Similarly, all expenses on account

Notes

of these funds should be deduced from these funds. In case of a deficit, the amount should be met out from the Income and Expenditure Account. In case of surplus, it will be better on account of convention of conservatism, to keep it in the Balance Sheet or merge it with the Capital Fund.

# PREPARATION OF INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT

The practical steps involved in the preparation of an Income and Expenditure Account from the Receipts and Payments Account are as under:

Step I Ignore opening and closing cash/bank balances appearing in the Receipts and Payments Account.

Step II Eliminate all items of capital receipts and payments.

Step III Ascertain the revenue income of the relevant period by excluding from the total receipts, the income received on account of previous and future years.

Then add income accrued in the year but not received.

Step IV Make adjustments as per additional information such as depreciation, bad debts, etc., if any,

Step V Calculate the difference between the total of debit side and the total of credit side. If the total of credit side exceeds the total of debit side, show the excess of income over expenditure (surplus) on the debit side. If the total of debit side exceeds the total of credit side, the excess of expenditure over income (deficit) on the credit side of Income and Expenditure Account.

If surplus add it to the Capital Fund and if deficit deduct from Capital Fund in the Balance Sheet.

# PREPARATION OF RECEIPTS AND PAYMENTS ACCOUNT FROM INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT

The practical steps involved in the preparation of a Receipts and Payments Account from an Income and Expenditure Account are:

Step I Put the opening balances of cash/bank as the first item on the Receipts side and closing balances of cash/bank as the last item on the Payments side of the Receipts and Payments Account.

If one of the two balances are given, the other balance will have to be ascertained.

Step II Ascertain Revenue Receipts received during the current accounting period as under and show it on the receipts side of Receipts and Payments Account:

Revenue Income (account-wise) for the current year as per Income and Expenditure Account. Add Income received in advance at the end of current year. Add Income outstanding in the beginning of current year. Less Income outstanding at the end of current year.

Less Income received in advance in the beginning of the current year.

Ascertain Revenue Payments made during the current Accounting for Non-Profit Step III accounting period as under and show it on the payments side of Receipts and Payments Account: Revenue expenses (account-wise) for the current year as per Income and Expenditure Account Add Expenses outstanding in the beginning of current year. Add Expenses prepaid at the end of current year. Less Expense outstanding at the end of current

year. Less Expense prepaid in the beginning of current year. Step IV Ascertain all capital receipts and capital payments from the additional information or Balance Sheets or by preparing the accounts of capital items and show the capital receipts on the Receipts side and the capital payments on the Payments side of the Receipts and

Payments Account.

### **BALANCE SHEET**

Non-profit makingorganizations include such voluntary associations of persons as are formed for the purpose of providing recreational facilities to its members or to promote art, culture, education, commerce, science, religion and other social and charitable purposes. At the end of accounting period, a non-profit making organisation also prepare its final accounts, which include namely (i) Receipts and Payments Account; (ii) Income and Expenditure Account; (iii) Balance Sheet. Receipts and Payments Account is a summary of cash transactions for a given period. All the receipts are entered on the debit side and all the payments are shown on credit side. At the end of accounting period, this account is balanced to ascertain the balance of cash in hand or at the bank or the overspent amount or bank overdraft. Income and Expenditure account of non-trading institutions equivalent to the Profit & Loss Account of the business concerns. It shows the classified summary of incomes, expenses and losses current accounting period along with the excess of income over expenditure (i.e. Surplus) or excess of expenditure over income (i.e. deficit). The surplus or deficit is being transferred to capital fund in the Balance Sheet. Balance Sheet of a non-profit making organisation is prepared in the usual way and contains all assets on right-hand side and liabilities on left-hand side.

### **KEYWORDS**

Assets: Tangible objects or intangible rights owned by an enterprise. Revenue Expenditure: A cost relating to the operations of an accounting period or benefits of which do not extend beyond that period.

Social Cost: The cost or loss to society resulting from the operations of an enterprise.

Social Benefit: The benefits or income of society resulting from the operations of an enterprise.

Legacy: Refers to the amount which one gets on account of a will.

Making Organization

Notes

Notes

Endowment Fund: The fund arising from a bequest or gift is known as endowment fund. The endowment fund is a capital receipt.

## **REVIEW QUESTIONS**

- 1. What is Receipts and Payments Account? What are its features?
- 2. What is an Income and Expenditure Account? Who prepares it and why?
- 3. Distinguish between Receipts and Payments Account and Income and Expenditure Account. What steps are required for converting (a) Receipts and Payments Account into Income and Expenditure Account and (b) Income and Expenditure Account into Receipts and Payments Account?
- 4. Explain the meaning of the following terms and show how you will deal with them while preparing final accounts of a club. Support your answers with suitable examples.
  - (a) Donations, (b) Entrance fee, (c) Life membership fee, (d) Receipts for a sports fund and (e) Legacy

# **FURTHER READINGS**

- 1. Principles of Accounting-Belverd E. Needles, Marian Powers, Susan V. Crosson 2013 Preview More editions
- 2. Principles of Accounting- P. Hosein
- 3. Principles of Accounting-Gaylord N. Smith
- 4. Principles of Accounting-Donatila Agtarap-San Juan
- 5. Principles of Accounting-Harry Anson Finney

# **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

- 1. Principles of Accounting-Belverd E. Needles, Marian Powers, Susan V. Crosson 2013 Preview More editions
- 2. Principles of Accounting- P. Hosein
- 3. Principles of Accounting-Gaylord N. Smith
- 4. Principles of Accounting-Donatila Agtarap-San Juan
- 5. Principles of Accounting-Harry Anson Finney
- 6. Principles of Accounting- Edward J. Vanderbeck, Maria R. Mitchell
- 7. Principles of Accounting-Joel Lerner, James Cashin